

Investigating the role of HLA class I derived peptide in alloreactivity.

BATTLE, Richard.

Available from Sheffield Hallam University Research Archive (SHURA) at:

http://shura.shu.ac.uk/19329/

This document is the author deposited version. You are advised to consult the publisher's version if you wish to cite from it.

Published version

BATTLE, Richard. (2014). Investigating the role of HLA class I derived peptide in alloreactivity. Doctoral, Sheffield Hallam University (United Kingdom)..

Copyright and re-use policy

See http://shura.shu.ac.uk/information.html

REFERENCE

ProQuest Number: 10694210

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

uest

ProQuest 10694210

Published by ProQuest LLC(2017). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106- 1346

Investigating the role of HLA Class I derived peptide in alloreactivity

Richard Battle

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Sheffield Hallam University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

August 2014

Abstract

The peptide complexed with human leukocyte antigen (HLA) can be said to have a significant role in the generation of alloresponses, both in terms of cellular and humoral alloresponses. Previous researchers have identified minor histocompatibility antigen (mHAG) derived peptides such as HA-1, and their contribution to alloresponses. However, little research has been performed regarding the contribution of peptides, which are themselves derived from HLA molecules. To redress this, this thesis focused upon identifying and assessing the function of endogenous peptides, in particular peptides which are themselves derived from HLA class I molecules, which may have a role in the alloresponses, within the context of clinical transplantation.

This research describes the creation of a database of HLA class I derived peptides predicted to bind to HLA-A*02 molecules, and then utilises this database to identify HLA class I derived peptides which are bound by the HLA-A*02 molecule, present upon the surface of the monocytic THP-1 cell line. This process identified two peptides, which were derived from one HLA class I molecule and presented by another (HLA-A*02). One of the identified peptides (VMAPRTLIL) belongs to a group of peptides, known as leader peptides, which have functions in both innate and adaptive immune responses. A clinical audit was performed to assess the effect of mismatching the HLA class I derived leader peptides within the context of renal transplantation and identified a correlation with a poorer functioning allograft at 12 months post transplant, when the donor and recipient have 3 leader peptide mismatches (p=<0.05).

Further experimental work attempted to determine a functional role of the endogenous peptides. In particular seeking to establish if variation within peptides bound by the same HLA molecule can influence the subsequent binding of HLA specific antibodies, and if so, seek to elucidate the mechanisms involved. Using a T2 cell line peptide binding assay, as a target for a HLA-A*02 specific antibody, a variation between the ability of the antibody to bind when alternative peptides were bound was observed. Through the use of structural modelling it was demonstrated that changes within HLA class I bound peptides can induce conformational changes to epitopes,

which were previously described for HLA class I molecules as being the targets of HLA class I specific antibodies.

These findings suggest an important role for HLA class I derived leader peptides in the outcome of renal transplantation, which requires further study within a validating cohort of patients. While the observation that peptides can induce conformational variation within identified epitopes provides further insight into the complex nature of alloantibody binding, and aides the understanding of this process.

Acknowledgements

I have been fortunate to have the excellent help of many scientists and researchers during the experimental work, data analysis and write up of this thesis. Most notably the supervisors of this project, Professor Nicola Woodroofe and Dr Brendan Clark, without whom this thesis would not have been achievable. The difficulty of conducting a thesis across two sites was aided by the understanding of my colleagues at both St James' University Hospital Transplant Immunology Department who, without fail, accommodated last minute on call swaps, and my friends and fellow researchers at the Biomedical Research Centre at Sheffield Hallam University, who offered a kind word and excellent advice over many cups of tea.

I would also like to thank the National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) for providing the funding for this research.

Publications, posters and prizes

Publications

Battle R, Poole K, Haywood-Small S, Clark B and Woodroofe MN (2012) Molecular characterisation of the monocytic cell line THP-1 demonstrates a discrepancy with the documented HLA type. International Journal of Cancer 132: 246-247.

Battle R, Turner D, Woodroofe N and Clark B (2014) Identified HLA class I epitopes can undergo conformational induced variation due to changes within HLA bound peptides. Immunology Letters 161: 57-58.

Battle R, Woodroofe N, Clench M and Clark B (2013) The relationship of HLA class I derived leader peptide mismatch and renal function within the first 12 months post renal transplant. Tissue Antigens 82: 291-292.

Published abstracts

Battle R, Clench M, Woodroofe MN, Clark B (2012) 131-P Preliminary *in-vitro* data supporting the concept of peptide exchange by cell surface HLA-A*02:01. Human Immunology 73:S132.

Battle R, Woodroofe MN, Clench M and Clark B (2013) HLA class I leader peptide sequence mismatches between renal transplant donors and recipients are associated with a reduction in allograft function within the first 12 months post transplant. International Journal of Immunogenetics 40: 403.

Battle R, Woodroofe MN, Clench M, Bradshaw R, Harrison P and Clark B (2013) A bioinformatics approach for the identification of peptides derived from HLA class I molecules presented by HLA-A*02. International Journal of Immunogenetics 40: 414.

iv

Prizes

Best oral presentation. The British Society of Histocompatibility and Immunogenetics 2013 conference. HLA class I leader peptide sequence mismatches between renal transplant donors and recipients are associated with a reduction in allograft function within the first 12 months post transplant.

Best Poster. The British Society of Histocompatibility and Immunogenetics 2013 conference. A bioinformatics approach for the identification of peptides derived from HLA class I molecules presented by HLA-A*02.

ImmunoTools IT-Box-139 Award 2013 The development of proteomic approaches for the assessment of tissue compatibility for transplantation. Immunotools GmbH, Germany.

Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	iii
Publications, posters and prizes	iv
Contents	vi
List of figures	xii
List of tables	xvi
List of abbreviations	xviii

Chapter 1 – Introduction	01
1.1.1 Organ Transplantation	02
1.1.2 A basic overview of the immune system	05
1.1.3 Histocompatibility and Immunogenetics	06
1.1.4 The Major Histocompatibility Complex	06
1.1.5 The diversity of the Major Histocompatibility Complex	07
1.1.6 The association of transplant outcome and HLA	10
1.1.7 The role of HLA in distinguishing between self and non-self	10
1.1.8 T cell development within the thymus	12
1.1.9 The processes of allorecognition in transplant rejection	12
1.1.10 The categories of transplant rejection	16
1.1.10.1 Hyperacute allograft rejection	17
1.1.10.2 Accelerated acute allograft rejection	17
1.1.10.3 Acute allograft rejection	17
1.1.10.4 Chronic allograft rejection	18
1.1.11 The role of peptides in direct and indirect allorecognition	18
1.1.12 The effect of altering the peptidome through	
transplantation	20
1.1.13 Factors that influence alloreactivity	23

1.1.14 The contribution of peptides to the mechanism of	
TCR-pHLA interaction	23
1.1.15 The mechanisms of obtaining diversity within the TCR	24
1.1.16 The influence of HLA bound peptide on TCR mediated	
alloreactivity	27
1.1.17 Peptide processing and presentation	28
1.1.17.1 The source of peptides in the HLA class I	
processing pathway	28
1.1.17.2 The HLA class I antigen processing pathway	29
1.1.17.3 The HLA Class II antigen processing pathway	30
1.1.18 The characteristics of peptide binding by HLA molecules	33
1.1.19 Predicting peptide binding to HLA	34
1.1.20 The role of endogenous derived peptides in	
allorecognition	36
1.1.21 The importance of peptides in the alloresponse	36
1.2 Thesis aims	38

Chapter 2 - Identifying HLA Class I derived peptides as

potential ligands in inducing alloreactivity	40
2.1.1 Introduction	41
2.1.2 Bioinformatics within transplant immunology and	
HLA peptide binding predictions	41
2.1.3 Confirming HLA peptide binding and sequencing	
of isolated peptides.	42
2.1.4 Mass spectrometry sequencing of HLA eluted peptides	42
2.1.5 Roepstorff-Fholmann-Biemann nomenclature and	
describing peptide fragments	44
2.1.6 Assays to assess the binding of peptide by HLA	45
2.1.7 Aims of chapter 2	48

2.2 Materials and Methods49

2.2.1 Creating a bioinformatic database of peptides derived	
from HLA-A*, B* and C* encoded alleles with theoretical	
HLA-A*02 binding potential.	49
2.2.2 Identification of HLA-A*02 expressing THP-1 cells and recovery	
of their membrane fragment	50
2.2.3 Dynabead isolation of HLA-A*02 encoded molecules from	
the isolated membrane fraction	50
2.2.4 Confirmation of protein capture via Dynabead isolation	51
2.2.5 'In-gel' digestion of excised gel fragments	52
2.2.6 Alternative method of peptide isolation usinmg Superdex	
75 column	53
2.2.7 MALDI MS/MS and bioinformatic database assessment	
of isolated fragments	53
2.2.8 HLA-A*02 peptide binding using the T2 cell line	54
2.2.9 Reproducibility of assays described in section 2	55
2.3 Results	57
2.3.1 Generation of the HLA-A*02 specific HLA class I derived	
peptide database	57
2.3.3 Obtaining peptides from HLA-A*02 molecules	57
2.3.4 MALDI MS for preliminary identification of peptides	60
2.3.5 Determination of HLA type for THP-1 and characterisation	
of HLA derived peptides bound to HLA-A*02	65
2.3.6 MALDI MS/MS sequencing of peptides identified in 2.2.5	67
2.3.7 Assessing peptide binding to HLA-A*02 via the T2 peptide	
binding assay	79
2.4 Discussion	86
Chapter 3 - Endogenous derived class I leader peptides and	
renal transplant outcome	88
3.1.1 Introduction	89
3.1.2 HLA class I leader peptides and HLA-E	89
3.1.3 Allorecognition and HLA class I derived leader sequences	91
3.1.4 Assessing the effect of endogenous HLA-Class I derived	

leader peptides upon transplant outcome	92
3.2 Materials and Methods	93
3.2.1 Renal transplant recipients	93
3.2.2 Data collection	93
3.2.3 Analysis of HLA class I leader sequence matching	93
3.2.4 Post transplant renalfunction analysis	94
3.2.5 HLA matching	94
3.2.6 Summary of data collected	95
3.2.7 Statistics	95
3.3 Results	98
3.3.1 Cohort demographics	98
3.3.2 Identification of HLA class I derived leader peptides	
and their frequencies	98
3.3.3 Number of HLA class I derived leader peptide mm observed	99
3.3.4 HLA matching levels observed within the cohort	99
3.3.5 Relationship between leader peptide mm and creatinine	
level	99
3.3.6 NHSBT ODT matching levels and relationship to creatinine	106
3.3.7 Effect of leader peptide mm within NHSBT ODT	
matched groups	110
3.3.8 The effect of specific HLA class I derived leader peptide mm	113
3.4 Discussion	121
Chapter 4 - Functional analysis of HLA-class I derived peptides	
influence upon the alloresponse	125

A.1.1 Introduction	126
4.1.2 HLA antibodies and transplant outcome	126
4.1.3 HLA antibodies and epitopes	128
4.1.4 The use of HLAmatchmaker to define epitopes	130
4.1.3 HLA antibodies and epitopes 4.1.4 The use of HLAmatchmaker to define epitopes	128 130

4.1.5 Evidence for peptide influence upon HLA antibodies binding	
to their epitopes	133
4.1.6 Structural modelling software	135
4.2 Materials and Methods	136
4.2.1 Purification of a HLA antibody to assess the influence of	
peptide upon antibody binding	136
4.2.2 Assessment of the epitope specificity of the HLA-A2 antibody	137
4.2.2.1 Luminex solid phase immunoassay basic principles	137
4.2.2.2 Luminex solid phase immunoassay protocol	137
4.2.3 Determining the eplet specificity of the HLA-A2 antibody	
using HLAMatchmaker	138
4.2.4 Structural analysis of eplets and modelling of the effect	
of changing the peptide sequence upon eplets structure	139
4.2.5 Peptide influence on the ability of an eplet to bind its	
cognate antibody	139
4.2.6 Reproducibility of the assays described in chapter 4	142
4.3 Results	144
4.3.1 Determining antibody specificity towards HLA-A*02	144
4.3.2 Identifying epitope reactivity of HLA-A*02 specific	
antibody	144
4.3.3 Identifying the proximity of the identified epitopes to the	
HLA bound peptide	147
4.3.4 Assessing the variation in antibody binding due to	
differential peptide bound by HLA-A*02	147
4.3.5 Structural modelling of the effect of changing a single	
amino acid within the HLA bound peptide on an epitope proximal	
to the peptide binding groove	150

List of figures

Chapter 1

Figure 1.1 Twins Cosmos and Damian perform a miraculous leg	
transplantation in the 3 rd century	3
Figure 1.2 An overview of the experiments performed by	
Medawar	4
Figure 1.3 An overview of the MHC on chromosome 6, from the	
centrometic HLA-DPB*01 gene to telomeric HLA-F	8
Figure 1.4. The impact of HLA mismatches (mm) upon renal	
allograft survival over a 20 year period	11
Figure 1.5 The pathways of allorecognition	14
Figure 1.6 The proposed mechanisms by which indirectly	
activated CD4+ T cells can contribute to the	
alloresponse after donor APC have been exhausted	15
Figure 1.7 Central tolerance and transplantation	22
Figure 1.8 The interaction of the TCR with HLA-A*02	25
Figure 1.9 Molecular model of HLA-A*02 showing the	
polymorphic antibody binding regions	26
Figure 1.10 The HLA class I and II antigen processing pathways	31
Figure 1.11 The formation of the peptide loading complex (PLC)	32

Chapter 2

Figure 2.1 Roepstorff-Fohlmann-Biemann nomenclature used	
to describe the fragmentation products of a peptide	46
Figure 2.2 An overview of the work flow for experimental	
methods utilised within in Chapter 2	56
Figure 2.3 Screenshot of the peptide bioinformatic database	58
Figure 2.4 Gel image of co-immunoprecipitation (IP) products	
and cell membrane fractions	59
Figure 2.5 Dynabead immunopurified HLA product separated upon	
superdex 75 column	61

Figure 2.6 Mass spectra obtained from peptides derived	
from 'in gel' trypsin digest of excised MOPS-SDS Dynabead	
product bands.	62
Figure 2.7 Mass spectra obtained from peptides derived	
from 'in gel' trypsin digest of excised MOPS-SDS Dynabead	
product bands.	63
Figure 2.8 Mass spectra obtained from peptides derived	
from 'in gel' trypsin digest of excised MOPS-SDS Dynabead	
product bands.	64
Figure 2.9 MALDI MS/MS of peptide 1013	70
Figure 2.10 MALDI MS/MS of a synthetic peptide with the VMAPRTLIL	
Sequence	72
Figure 2.11 T2 cell line binding assay showing control and VMAPRTLIL	
and VMAPRTLLL peptide binding	73
Figure 2.12 A comparison of HLA class I derived leader peptides binding	
to HLA-A*02 on the T2 cell line	74
Figure 2.13 MALDI MS/MS of peptide with m/z 980 which produced a	
hit within the peptide database	78
Figure 2.14 A comparison of HLA class I derived peptides binding to	
HLA-A*02 on the T2 cell line	80
Figure 2.15 MALDI MS/MS of peptide m/z 1153 which produced a hit	
within the peptide database	83

Chapter 3

Figure 3.1 A flow diagram overview of the collection of HLA class	
I leader sequence data in a cohort of kidney transplant patients	;
and relationship to Δ creatinine	97
Figure 3.2 The relationship between Δ creatinine level and	
leader peptide matching level	104
Figure 3.3 The change in serum creatinine levels between 3, 9	
and 12 months post transplant and relationship to	
number of leader sequence mismatch	107

Figure 3.4 The relationship between Δ creatinine level and	
ODT matching levels	108
Figure 3.5 Individual plots of ODT matching levels 1 and 2	
showing leader peptide mismatch (mm) relationship	
to Δ creatinine	111
Figure 3.6 Individual plots of ODT matching levels 3 and 4	
showing leader peptide mismatch (mm) relationship	
to Δ creatinine	112
Figure 3.7 The relationship of HLA loci specific leader mismatch	
(mm) to Δ creatinine	115
Figure 3.8 The relationship of mismatch (mm) at specific leader	
peptides and Δ creatinine levels	117
Figure 3.9 The relationship of mismatch (mm) at leader peptides	
3 and 9 to Δ creatinine levels	118

Chapter 4

Figure 4.1 Molecular model of HLA-DRB1*01 (DR1) and DRB5*01	
(DRw51)	132
Figure 4.2 Structural model of the interaction between a Fab fragment	
(green and pink) and the HLA-A1 molecule	134
Figure 4.3 Structural molecular model of HLA-A2 complexed with HA-1	
peptide bound	141
Figure 4.4 Flow diagram of the work performed within chapter 4	143
Figure 4.5 Analysis of the purified HLA-A2 antibody on the Luminex	
platform via single antigen beads	145
Figure 4.6 The output file from HLAMatchmaker analysis of the	
HLA-A2 antibody	146
Figure 4.7 Molecular model of the location of 62GE and 107W eplets	
upon the HLA-A2 molecule	148
Figure 4.8 The effect of changing the peptide bound to HLA-A*02	
and the ability of 62GE specific antibody to bind	149
Figure 4.9 The structurally modelled interaction of 62GE and the	
LEU at position 2 of the HA-1 peptide	151

Figure 4.10 The structurally modelled interaction of Met at position		
2 of the mutated HA-1 peptide bound by HLA-A*02 and		
62GE eplet	152	
Figure 4.11 The solvent accessibility of residues upon the HLA-A*02		
molecule	155	

List of tables

Chapter 1	
No tables	xx
Chapter 2	
Table 2.1 Amino acid residues and their molecular masses	47
Table 2.2 Results from searching within the database for peptides	
with matching molecular weights	66
Table 2.3 The calculated fragmentation products of VMAPRTLIL,	
for b, c, y and x ions	68
Table 2.4 Theoretical fragmentation products of peptide	
VMAPRTLIL	69
Table 2.5 The calculated fragmentation products of ALGFYPAEI,	
for b, c, y and x ions	76
Table 2.6 Theoretical fragmentation products of peptide	
ALGFYPAEI	77
Table 2.7 The calculated fragmentation products of SMRYFYTSV,	
for b, c, y and x ions	81
Table 2.8 Theoretical fragmentation products of peptide	
SMRYFYTSV	82
Table 2.9 Summary of MALDI MS/MS sequencing and T2 binding	
assay data upon HLA derived peptides providing a hit within	
the database	84
Chapter 3	
Table 3.1 The NHSBT ODT matching levels used for grouping renal	

Table 3.1	3.1 The NHSBT ODT matching levels used for grouping renal			
	patients according to HLA type in the retrospective			
	clinical audit	96		
Table 3.2	The patient demographics of the kidney transplant recipients			
	and donors included within the clinical audit	100		

Table 3.3 The identified HLA class I leader sequences from the	
HLA/IMGT listed alleles grouped according to the HLA	
alleles encoding them	101
Table 3.4 The total number of different leader peptide sequences	
identified within recipients and donors from their	
HLA type	102
Table 3.5 The number of leader peptide mismatches (mm)	
observed between recipients and donors	103
Table 3.6 The number of NHSBT ODT matching levels observed	
within the cohort	103
Table 3.7 Welch T test statistical interpretation of the relationship	
between Δ creatinine level and leader peptide matching	
level	105
Table 3.8 Welch T test statistical interpretation NHSBT ODT	
matching levels and Δ creatinine	109
Table 3.9 Welch T test statistical interpretation of the data showing	
the effects of leader peptide mismatch (mm) within ODT	
matching levels	114
Table 3.10 Welch T test statistical interpretation the relationship of	
HLA loci specific leader mismatch (mm) to Δ creatinine	116
Table 3.11 Welch T test statistical interpretation of the relationship	
of individual leader peptide mismatches and Δ	
creatinine	120
Chapter 4	
Table 4.1 Cross-reactive epitope groups (CREG)	129
Table 4.2 The predicted change in total energy and electrostatic	
potential upon Gly and Glu, due to changing the amino	
acid within the peptide position 2 (P2) from Leu to Met	153

ACN, Acetonitrile

AI, Artificial intelligence

APC, Antigen presenting cells

AUC ROC, Area under receiver operator curve

 $\beta_2 M$, β_2 -microglobulin

BSA, Bovine serum albumin

BSHI, British Society of Histocompatibility and Immunogenetics

BTS, British Transplant Society

CDC, complement-dependent cytotoxicity

CDR, Complimentary determining regions

CHCA, α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnaminic acid (CHCA)

CLIP, Class II associated invariant chain peptide

Cn3D, See in 3D

CNX, Calnexin

cPRA, Calculated panel reaction frequency

CRF, Calculated reaction frequency

CRT, Calreticulin

CREGs, Cross reacting epitope groups

cTEC, Cortical thymic epithelial cells

D, Diversity gene

dAPC, Donor antigen presenting cell

DBD, Donation after brain stem death

DCD, Donation after cardiac death

DMSO, Dimethyl sulphoxide

DRiPS, Defective ribosomal products

DSA, Donor specific antibodies

- EP, Electrostatic potential
- ER, Endoplasmic reticulum
- ERAD, ER-associated protein degradation system
- ERAP1, ER aminopeptidases
- ESI, Electrospray ionization
- FCS, Fetal calf serum
- GvHD, Graft versus host disease
- HC, Heavy chain
- HFE, Haemachromatosis
- HLA, Human Leukocyte Antigens
- HPLC, High performance liquid chromatography
- HSCT, Haematopoietic stem cell transplantation
- IFN- γ, Interferon-γ
- IHWS, International Histocompatibility Workshops
- li, Invariant chain
- IMGT/HLA, Immunonogenotyping and HLA
- J, Joining gene
- MALDI-TOF, Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time of flight
- MFI, Median channel fluorescence
- MHC, Major Histocompatibility Complex
- mHAGs, Minor histocompatibility antigens
- MICA, Major histocompatibility complex related chain A
- MICB, Major histocompatibility complex related chain B
- MIIC, MHC Class II compartment
- mm, Mismatches
- MOPS, 3-(N-morpholino) propaenesulfonic acid

MS, Mass spectrometry

mTEC, Medulla thymic epithelial cells

M/Z Mass to charge ratio

NHS, NHS Blood and Transplant Organ Donation and Transplantation

ODT, Organ donation and transplantation

PBS, Phosphate buffered saline

PE, Phycoerythin

pHLA, peptide complexed HLA

PLC, Peptide loading complex

PSSM, Position specific scoring matrices

RAG1 Recombination-activating gene 1

RAG2 Recombination-activating gene 2

rAPC, Recipient antigen presenting cell

RT, Room temperature

SD, Standard deviation

SDS, Sodium dodecyl sulphate

SPI, Solid phase immunoassay

SPR, Surface plasmon resonance

T cells, T lymphocytes

TAP, Transporter associated with antigen processing

TFA, Trifluoroacetic acid

TNF Tumour necrosis factor

TRAV, T cell receptor α -variable genes

TRBV, T cell receptor β -variable genes

TRM, Transplant related mortality

T2 cells, TAP deficient cell line

WHO, World Health Organisation

ХΧ

1.1.1 Organ Transplantation

The use of organ transplantation as a clinical therapy in modern medicine is the result of many successive advances within multiple disciplines including: advances in the available pharmacology, improved surgical and intensive care techniques, greater success in tissue preservation and a vital understanding of the immunology of transplantation. These advances have led to the ability to transplant an ever increasing range of complex organs and tissues into patients for their life saving function (for example in the cases of cardiothoracic, renal and liver transplantation) and the quality of life that is associated with successful transplantation (Neipp et al., 2006). Perhaps the first documented attempt at organ transplantation is depicted in the works of renaissance painters, who portrayed the patron saints of surgery, Cosmos and Damian, performing a transplant in the 3rd century (Figure 1.1). However without these saintly powers it would be many centuries before transplantation became a reality; indeed many early attempts at organ transplantation resulted in failure either immediately or shortly after transplantation. Consequently the modern era of transplantation can be argued to have begun in the 1950s with the success of renal allografts, which survived for longer than 6 months (Murray et al., 1962). These were quickly followed by successful heart transplantation (Barnard, 1968) and orthotopic liver transplantation (Starzl et al., 1968).

Understanding the immunology of transplantation was crucial to these successes, and improvements to this understanding have helped lead to the remarkable success of modern transplantation. The father of transplant immunology and founder of the British Transplant Society, Sir Peter Medawar, first demonstrated allograft rejection as having an immune cause using skin grafts in animal models (Figure 1.2) (Medawar, 1945) and created the start of a new field of science, which would ultimately become known as histocompatibility and immunogenetics. Medawar's experiments demonstrated that rejection of skin grafts on animal models were T cell mediated, had immunological memory and could be transferred from one animal to another. Medawar was unaware at the time of his experimentation that the phenomenon he was witnessing was a response primarily directed against mismatched Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) encoded antigens. Further work into histocompatibility and immunogenetics over the decades following Medawar's work

Figure 1.1 Twins Cosmos and Damian perform a miraculous leg transplantation in the 3rd century.

As depicted by an artist in the 1500s. Image reproduced for research purposes courtesy of the Wellcome Image Library.

- A) Syngeneic skin graft, is tolerated
- B) An allogeneic skin graft is rejected within 10-13 days. Medawar termed this a 1st response. A second allograft using the same murine model as B) results in rejection in 6-8 days, the kinetics referred to as a 2rd set response
- C) The T lymphocytes were removed from the murine model displaying 2rd set kinetics D) and then innoculated into a different mouse (E)
- D) T cells transferred from yellow to green mouse
- E) A skin graft from the 1st mouse (Grey), is now rejected with the second set kinetics (6-8 days) in a naive mouse (Green) after its innoculation with the T cells, i.e. the response kinetics were transferred with the T cells

Figure 1.2, An overview of the experiments performed by Medawar

(Adapted from Janeway, CA. Travers, P. Walport, M. (1999) Immunobiology, 4th Edition, Churchill Livingston, Edinburgh, p510)

revealed the complex nature of the genes and proteins which govern rejection reactions and have led to a greater understanding of immunology as a whole.

1.1.2 A basic overview of the immune system

This increased understanding of immunology has led to the current view of the immune system as a complex network of organs, tissues, cells and subsets of cells, which function and cooperate together in the defence of the organism against foreign invasion, most usually in the form of attack from pathogenic bacteria and viruses. The organs of the immune system, referred to as lymphoid organs as they are host to lymphocytes, include the tonsils, adenoids, lymph nodes, thymus, spleen, Peyer's patches, appendix and the bone marrow. Lymphatic and blood vessels facilitate migration of cells around the body and between these lymphoid organs. Lymphoid organs have specialised roles, the bone marrow for example is the ultimate source of all blood cells, including lymphocytes. B lymphocytes mature within the bone marrow and once activated they develop into plasma cells and secrete antibody which provides an effective response against pathogens, while T lymphocytes migrate from the bone marrow to the thymus for further development and can provide a variety of functions from direct cellular cytotoxicity of infected cells and pathogens to aiding B lymphocytes and their responses (Paul, 2013).

Fluid is exchanged between the blood and lymphatic vessels enabling the lymphocytes to encounter any invading pathogens. In addition the lymph nodes, which are located throughout the body (specifically clusters of lymph nodes are present in the neck, armpits, abdomen and groin), enable the lymphocytes to encounter antigen. Containing specialized anatomical structures, the lymph nodes concentrate T cells in the paracortex to facilitate their encounter with antigen, allow the formation of B cell germinal centres and aid the production of humoral responses by the formation of plasma cells within the medulla. The regions within the body which facilitate the encounter of lymphocytes, and indeed other immune cells with antigen, are too numerous to list as they can be said to consist of areas which act as gateways to the body, such as the linings of the gastrointestinal tract (Paul, 2013). However a crucial element of a competent immune system is the ability to differentiate between self and

non self, in order to generate an appropriate response. It is this ability which is most pertinent to the setting of organ transplantation.

1.1.3 Histocompatibility and Immunogenetics

In order to distinguish between self and non-self, immune cells recognise antigens via specialised receptors, such as the pattern recognition receptors of the innate immune system or the B and T cell receptors of the adaptive immune system. In transplantation, in which cells, tissues or organs are transferred from one individual to another, recognition of non-self antigens from the transplanted material can occur, which can lead to damage and/or rejection of the transplant. As Medawar demonstrated this is best avoided by use of a syngeneic transplant (i.e. between a genetically identical donor and recipient), such as in the case of monozygotic twins, thus allowing 'self-recognition' of the transplant due to the expression of the same antigens, and therefore allowing histocompatibility (Afzali *et al.*, 2007). However as most individuals do not have a genetically identical twin this is rarely an option in clinical transplantation, and an allograft is performed (the transplant of genetically different material from an individual of the same species). An immune response against the differing antigens on the allograft can be formed, as a consequence of its lack of histocompatibility (Afzali *et al.*, 2007).

The genes expressing the antigens of the greatest significance in histocompatibility are encoded for on the short arm of chromosome 6, specifically 6p21.3, in a region known as the Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC). In man, within the MHC it is the genes which encode the Human Leukocyte Antigens (HLA) which have the greatest impact in transplantation (Howell *et al.*, 2010).

1.1.4 *The Major Histocompatibility Complex*

Our current understanding of the MHC has been pieced together from observations spanning several decades (Thorsby, 2009). The Nobel prize for Physiology or Medicine in 1980 being awarded to Benacerraf, Dausset and Snell for discovering the MHC. In the 1940s, Snell first discovered components of the MHC through their role in transplant rejection in murine models. This knowledge was added to in the 1950s as Dausset identified the first HLA molecules after observing immune reactions following blood transfusions between ABO compatible individuals and establishing the cause as

being white blood cell agglutination, this agglutination was a result of HLA specific antibodies, while Benacerraf provided the evidence that immune reactions are controlled by genes. Working alongside these three pioneers, were a host of other investigators who also identified HLA molecules. Through international collaborative efforts, facilitated by a series of International Histocompatibility Workshops (IHWS), these researchers exchanged sera and cells and identified that several locally identified HLA were identical (Thorsby, 2009). The sera used by these researchers to identify HLA molecules was obtained from multiparous women, whose immune system was exposed to the HLA molecules of their partners during their pregnancies, consequently their sera contained HLA antibodies, which were formed against the different HLA molecules of the foetus, which were paternally inherited. Through careful population and familial studies these investigators went on to establish different loci encoding the identified HLA. Leaping forward to present day, modern molecular biology techniques have revealed the exquisite polymorphism of HLA molecules and the complexity of the MHC. At the time of writing there are 8,794 HLA alleles identified on the IMGT/HLA sequence database (Robinson et al., 2013), the nomenclature system for which is governed by the World Health Organisation (WHO) nomenclature committee and the MHC itself contains some 224 genes (Figure 1.3).

1.1.5 The diversity of the Major Histocompatibility Complex

The remarkable polymorphism of the MHC has been revealed due to its significance in infection, autoimmunity and transplantation, which has led the MHC to be the most widely studied region of the human genome (Horton *et al.*, 2004). The primary function of the genes within the MHC is to confer protection from pathogens. It incorporates many of the genes which have a role in the processing and presentation of antigen, such as the transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP) genes, which are required for transporting peptides from the cytosol into the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (Cresswell *et al.*, 1999), as well as the HLA genes.

HLA molecules are membrane bound heterodimer glycoproteins which bind, and then present, peptides to T lymphocytes (T cells). HLA Class I molecules, HLA-A, B and C, are expressed on almost all nucleated cells (as well as platelets) and present intracellular

5 /T			HLA-N	
			HCG19P	
X ∕^∎™HLA-DRBS			UBQLN1P	
			MICC	
			TMP0P1	
	HADABY		5UCLA2P	
r			RANPI	
4			HLAE	
Д			GNL1	
-T -	HLA-DRB6			
				HLAF
				RPL23AP1
	HLADRES			
				HCG9P5
			PTMAP1	IFITM4P
	HLADREN		C 6 o r f I 3 6	HCP5P14
			DHX16	HCG4
			KIA1949	HLA-75
			NRM	HCP5P12
			RPL7P4	HLAGO
	HLA-DRA	PPIP9	MDC1	RPL7AP7
		RPL15P4	TUBB	
	HLADRES	BAT1	FLOT1	HCP5P12
	HADRES	ATP6V1G2	IER3	HLA-G
		NFKBIL1	HCG29	
	HLADRB2	LTA	C6orf214	HLA H
	HLA-DRB1	TNF	TIGD1L	HLA 16
		LTB1	DDR1	HCG4P7
		LST1	GTF2H4	HCG4P6
	HIADCI.BI	NCR3	VARS2L	HLA-K
	MITC03P1	UQCRHP1	SFTPG	HLA-21
		AIF1	HCG21	HLA-A
	HADQE3	BAT2	DKK	HCP5P3
	HLA-DQA1	BAT3	HCG21	HLABO
		APOM	C6orf205	MICD
	HLADOB2	C6orf47	C6orfl5	HUS
		BAT5	CDSN	HCP5P2
		LY6G6D	P50R51C2	
		LY6G6E	PS0RS1C2	HCG8
	PSMBS	LY6G6C	POLR2LP	ETF1P1
		C60ff25	C 60 mis	
	PSMBS		P005F1	
	00040004	M5H5	PSURSIC3	
	FFFIRZFI	Chorf27	HLAC	TRIM-10
	HLAZ	VARS2	USPSP	TRIM10
		L5M2	RPL3P2	TRIM20
		HSPA1L	WA5F5P	TRIM15
	HLA DMA	HSPA1A	HLAB	TR M26
		HSPA1B	DHFRP2	PAIPIP'I
		C6orT46	FGFR3P	HCG17
	HLA-DOA	NEU1	HLAS	TRIM20P
	HLA-DPA1	C 6 orfl 5	MICA	HLAL
		BATS	HCP5	HCGIS
	HLAUHBI	ZBTB12	HCG2S	TR M39
		C2	MICB	RPP21

Figure 1.3 An overview of the MHC on chromosome 6, from the centrometic HLA-DPB*01 gene to telomeric HLA-F.

HLA-DRB*3,*4 and *5 chains which are present only on certain haplotypes are also shown. Adapted from Horton *etal.*, (2004) and Defranco *et al.*, (2007).

processed peptides (e.g. of viral origin) to cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells (Long and Jacobson 1989). HLA class II molecules, HLA-DR, DQ and DP, have a more restricted distribution, being expressed on cells of the monocyte/macrophage lineage, B cells and activated T cells. HLA Class II molecules can also be induced by the cytokine interferon- γ (IFN- γ) on some cell types, such as endothelial cells. HLA Class II molecules present extracellular derived peptides (e.g. bacterial peptides) to T helper CD4⁺ cells (Howell *et al.,* 2010).

The peptides bound by HLA molecules possess a set of anchor residues which fit specifically into pockets within the HLA molecule's binding groove (discussed in further detail later), this confers a specific set of characteristics upon the peptides bound by HLA molecules. These characteristics have been suggested as one of the key driving forces behind the extensive polymorphism of HLA molecules. Specifically referred to as the heterozygote advantage theory, which proposes that individuals who are heterozygous for HLA molecules, are able to respond to a greater number of pathogen derived peptides than homozygotes, due to their ability to present a greater range of peptides, as a consequence of the variation in the peptide binding characteristics of their greater range of HLA molecules (Spurgin and Richardson, 2010). Additionally another advantage can be seen in rare HLA alleles, whereby it is argued that the ongoing immune-evasion strategies of pathogens leads them to overcome the peptide presentation of the most common HLA molecules, therefore new HLA alleles which arise are able to provide a greater protection than common alleles, therefore offering a survival advantage (Spurgin and Richardson, 2010). Another interesting feature regarding the nature of MHC diversity can be observed within these common alleles, as some HLA haplotypes are seen with a far greater frequency than others. Indeed linkage disequilibrium, which refers to the characteristic of certain genes to be inherited together due their proximity to each other upon the chromosome, means that certain common haplotypes are observed in far higher frequencies than they would be if haplotypes were the consequence of a random formation. Furthermore the phenomenon of a founder effect can be observed within some HLA haplotypes. Whereby some genetic variation is lost when a sub population is established from a

larger population by a limited number of individuals, this is seen within patients suffering from haemachromatosis (HFE), an iron overload disorder. The carrier of the original mutation on the HFE gene was believed to be of Celtic or Viking origin, and possessed the HLA haplotype HLA-A3; B7 or A3; B14. Although recombination events have led to new haplotypes which include the HLA-A3 molecule, linkage disequilibrium between HLA-A3 and the mutated HFE gene means a strong association between these two genes is still seen today (Olsson *et al.* 2009).

1.1.6 The association of transplant outcome and HLA

The significant effect of HLA upon outcome of transplant can be observed by looking at the survival of allografts in relation to HLA matching between donor and recipient pairs, as shown for kidney transplants (Figure 1.4). Non HLA genes within the MHC have also been linked to transplant outcome, including major histocompatibility complex related chain A (MICA) (Sanchez-Zapardiel *et al.*, 2013) and B (MICB) (Hankey *et al.*, 2002) and tumour necrosis factor (TNF) gene polymorphisms (Sahoo *et al.*, 2000) amongst others.

The significance of HLA matching on transplant outcome is not uniform across all transplanted tissues, the effect of mismatches being profound in haematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT), and less so in liver transplantation. The expression and distribution of the HLA antigens influences this effect, as well as various other factors such as the risk of graft versus host disease (GvHD) in HSCT and type and dose of immunosuppression utilised. To understand the mechanism by which HLA matching influences the outcome of allotransplantation, it is essential to understand how the immune system is able to distinguish between self and non-self and in particular the role which HLA plays within this process.

1.1.7 The role of HLA in distinguishing between self and non-self

The interaction of the T cell receptor (TCR) on CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells with peptide complexed HLA (pHLA), is central to the discrimination of self and non-self antigens in triggering adaptive immune responses (Huang *et al.*, 2010; Zingernagal *et al.*, 1974). The ability of the TCR to recognise a pHLA as foreign or self is achieved via a process of positive and negative T cell selection of appropriately armed T cells in the thymus, as described in detail by





 ${\it CTS}$ Collaborative Transplant Study

K-21103-0213

Figure 1.4. The impact of HLA mismatches (mm) upon renal allograft survival over a

20 year period.

Adapted from the Collaborative Transplant Study.

http://www.ctstransplant.org/servlet/ArchiveServlet?group=K-21101-

0214&archivemode=false&ts=1400939174138

Ziegler *et al.*, (2009). This process, referred to as central tolerance, allows the destruction of self-reactive T cells while retaining those T cells with appropriate peptide complexed HLA (pHLA) discrimination capabilities (Edelmann *et al.*, 2011).

1.1.8 T cell development within the thymus

The presence of pHLA is thought to be crucial in the establishment of this central tolerance. Briefly, T cell education occurs within the thymus, pHLA is expressed upon cortical thymic epithelial cells (cTEC), if the TCR of the developing T cell does not recognise a pHLA on cTEC, or if the TCR reacts with high affinity to these pHLA molecules, then the T cells do not survive positive selection. If the TCR interacts with the pHLA with a low affinity then the T cell survives positive selection as self restricted (i.e. it recognises self pHLA with low affinity), but has the potential for self reactivity. These positively selected cells then migrate within the thymus via the cortico-medullary junction and into the medulla, where they interact with the medulla thymic epithelial cells (mTEC), where negative selection occurs. This mechanism involves the deletion of T cells whose TCR reactivity (Ziegler *et al.,* 2009).

The ability for T cells (and B cells) to distinguish between self and non self is vital for an appropriate immune response to develop. The consequence of a transplanted allograft expressing differing HLA to the recipient can be severe, as recognition of the transplanted antigens can occur in a process known as allorecognition and an immune response generated against the allograft, which can be both cellular and/or humoral in nature (Petra *et al.*, 2013).

1.1.9 The processes of allorecognition in transplant rejection

In order to understand allorecognition a basic understanding of 'normal' immune recognition processes is required. Immunology text books tell us that for recognition of an antigen and an immune response to occur, the response to foreign antigen is initiated by antigen presenting cells (APC), which take up antigen in the periphery and migrate to the secondary lymphoid organs, the spleen, lymph nodes and the gut and mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue. Naïve T cells, which constantly patrol through secondary lymphoid tissues, engage and sample the foreign antigen, displayed by the

APCs as pHLA complexes. A naïve T cell, which recognises an APC displaying a pHLA for which its TCR is specific, engages the APC in an interaction between the TCR and pHLA (as well as co-receptors and co-stimulatory molecules, which are essential for an effective immune response). This interaction leads to the generation of armed effector T cells, which express the necessary receptors for migration to the site of inflammation (Lakis, 2003).

In transplant immunology this process has the added complexity of donor APC and non-self HLA molecules. These complexities are described in the mechanisms of direct and indirect allorecognition and the concept of peripheral sensitisation (Figure 1.5). Peripheral sensitisation describes the process whereby donor endothelial cells, which line vascularised allografts, are capable of directly activating allospecific naïve T cells (Al-Lamki et al., 2008). Direct recognition can be summarised as T cell recognition of intact donor HLA on donor APC, whereas, indirect recognition is the result of T cell recognition of allopeptides bound to self HLA on recipient (self) APC (Benchou and Thomson, 2009). Both the indirect and direct allorecognition pathways play an important role in the response to an allograft. Direct allorecognition is believed to be the driving force behind early acute allograft rejection episodes, due to the high frequency of T cells capable of recognising intact donor HLA on donor APC (Bolton et al., 2008), whereas indirect recognition is thought to be responsible for later allograft damage when the source of donor APC has been exhausted (Afzali et al., 2008). T cells are the principle effector cells of allorecognition and alloreactive T cells are readily detectable in humans, between 0.1% and 10% of T cells have been shown to react with alloantigens (Colf et al., 2007), which is significantly higher than the less than 1/100,000 (0.001%) of T cells which are reactive towards nominal antigens (Heeger, 2003).

The relative simplicity of the direct and indirect pathways is complicated by the theory of semi-direct allorecognition (Afzali *et al.,* 2008). Whereby instead of the traditional immune response 'cross-talk' between T cells, where CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells are stimulated by the same APC. Semi-direct recognition in transplantation requires cross-talk between direct and indirect recognition. Where CD4⁺ T cells with indirect

Donor APC displaym gdonor HLA and pep?ida

Recipient

d splvyetg recpient HLA and donor peptde

AJ Direct recognition Donor HLA completed with donor peptide upon donor APC recognsedby rec.p-ent T celt 8) indirect a orecogn ton Donor peptide completed with fee pientHLA on recipient APC recogn ised by recip cnt T cell

C) Unlinked" cell help indirectailorecogntionby CD4+ T ce Sproviding help for directly alloreactiye CDS- T cells D) L nked T cell help via the direct recognition pathway

Figure 1.5 The pathways of allorecognition.

Direct allorecognition (A), and indirect allorecognition (B), as well as examples of semi direct allorecognition (C) and linked help via the direct recognition pathway (D). dAPC - donor antigen presenting cell, rAPC - recipient antigen presenting cell.
0 0 0 0 responses activated via indirect activation of T helper cells, while the red arrows show cellular responses activated by a proposed semi-**അ്യാറ (9 പ്^ന 6** o ∪ **12**00 o **1**2 O o т<u>З</u> B⊂a ⊓atv on tra ∎O רס גים 10 השפטים 10 מי -a C 19 direct mechanism. TCR - T cell receptor, BM - Bone marrow, adapted from Ali et al., (2013). **ക്കെ ക**്രത്തം പ്രം പുന്നത്ത് നിന്ന് പ്രത്തം അന്തരം അ + ୦୦ **କ**ଳୀଜ vatate co + စ္တ‱ငားဝေးလာက္ကေနာ္စစ္မ်ားႏွာက္ေန႔ နေရာစ္နံန္း **ae**4 °C **e** ªa 3 ° **ြာဂဝ⊥^** ဂိုင် ဂ်**႕ပခု အခုဂ** ကွ×် ႕ဖ ಕ‡ ဆမ် ജ്ഷ്ങ 8 റപ്പ ഉയ**െ**ഞ്ല് ഒപ്പ are on ₀

allospecificity can amplify or regulate directly allospecific CD8⁺ T cells. This appears to require a 'four cell' or 'unlinked model' as the CD4⁺ indirectly allospecific T cells would be activated by self APC, whereas, the CD8⁺ directly allospecific T cells would be activated by donor APC. Such 'unlinked' help may not be required however, as dendritic cells have previously been shown as being able to acquire intact MHC peptide complexes from other dendritic cells (Afzali *et al.*, 2008 and Brown *et al.*, 2011). A potential consequence of the semi-direct pathway could be sustained stimulation of directly alloreactive T cells when donor APC has been exhausted.

In terms of which T cell lineages are responsible for specific graft damage induced via indirect and direct mechanisms, Ali and colleagues (2013) argue that indirectly stimulated CD8⁺ T cells are 'largely clinically irrelevant' due to graft parenchyma remaining completely of donor origin in vascularised allografts, and thereby the cytolytic property of CD8⁺ T cells can only be activated through direct recognition of allogeneic class I HLA (the graft having no recipient HLA presenting donor antigen upon it therefore negating indirect recognition). This can be said to be true to some extent for CD4⁺ T cells as well, in that no recipient class II HLA will be present upon the allograft either. However CD4⁺ T cells indirectly activated via recipient APC can, theoretically at least, help mediate a humoral response (and more controversially, a cellular effector response (Ali *et al.*, 2013) if the semi-direct mechanism of allorecognition is assumed to be correct). In particular, evidence seems to show that memory CD4⁺ T cells derived by indirect recognition can provide help to naïve B cells responding to a new, secondary, target alloantigen. This would explain the observation of late developing *de novo* HLA alloantibody (Ali *et al.*, 2013).

1.1.10 The categories of transplant rejection

Allorecognition then, can generate both cellular and humoral responses to the allograft, and consequently rejection of an allograft can also be made up of both cellular and humoral responses, or indeed may be comprised of one response predominantly over the other (Petra *et al.*, 2013). Transplant rejection episodes are categorised according to the time frame in which they occur post transplant, and are known as, hyperacute, accelerated acute, acute and chronic rejection episodes.

1.1.10.1 Hyperacute allograft rejection

Hyperacute rejection occurs minutes to hours after the vascular clamp to the transplanted organ is removed allowing reperfusion (Nankiville and Alexander, 2010). The cause for hyperacute rejection was established in the 1960s (Patel and Terasaki, 1969) as being due to preformed donor specific antibodies (DSA), specifically towards HLA antibodies (although donor specific ABO group antibodies are also a cause of hyperacute rejection this can be avoided be by ensuring ABO compatibility) which are present in the recipient due to previous exposure to HLA molecules, through previous transplant, pregnancy or transfusion, bind to their specific HLA target upon the allograft vascular endothelium, and mediate allograft damage, via activation of the complement cascade, a feature which can be observed in the biopsies of rejected allografts in the form of C4d deposition (Girnita *et al.*, 2007). This process results in vascular thrombosis and ischaemic necrosis to the allograft, the consequence of which is nearly always removal of the allograft (Nankiville and Alexander, 2010).

1.1.10.2 Accelerated acute allograft rejection

In a similar fashion to hyperacute rejection, accelerated acute rejection is mediated by HLA antibodies, which were either at a low level and not detected by a pre-transplant crossmatch (XM), or due to an anamnestic response (Nankiville and Alexander, 2010). The rejection event occurs within the first few days post transplant and is caused by HLA antibody as with hyperacute rejection. The sudden increase in DSA is caused by activation of memory B cells post transplant. In other aspects, accelerated acute allograft rejection is comparable to hyperacute rejection.

1.1.10.3 Acute allograft rejection

Acute rejection occurs over the first months post transplant and is comprised of both cellular and humoral components (Nankiville and Alexander, 2010). Predominately caused by direct allorecognition (Bolton *et al.*, 2008), acute rejection develops as intraallograft immature donor dendritic cells carry donor antigens to the draining lymph nodes and spleen, in the process of which they mature into APC (Nankiville and Alexander, 2010) and present their antigen to T cells. Activated T cells then migrate to the allograft and mediate allograft damage. In sites of acute rejection within an allograft, interstitial mononuclear cells including CD4+ and CD8+ T cells can be seen to

accumulate upon histological analysis of biopsies, where direct contact with tubular epithelial cells generates cell mediated cytotoxicity, and CD4+ T cells can promote a humoral response (Nankiville and Alexander, 2010).

1.1.10.4 Chronic allograft rejection

Chronic rejection occurs in an ongoing process years post transplant, and is thought to be the result of indirect recognition (Afzali *et al.*, 2008). However the contribution of this ongoing process to eventual allograft loss can be difficult to determine, as allograft damage is also caused by immunosuppressant toxicity as well as the patient's primary disease over the same time period. In the case of kidney transplantation for example, the term chronic rejection is often replaced with chronic allograft nephropathy, to highlight the contribution of these varied factors to damage to the allograft. The features of chronic rejection include: the gradual loss of allograft function over time, with T cell infiltration of the allograft parenchyma and deposition of T cells and macrophages in the interstitium (Nankiville and Alexander, 2010).

1.1.11 The role of peptides in direct and indirect allorecognition

The role of the direct allorecognition pathway in acute rejection seems to contradict the classic self restriction property of T cells, i.e. that T cells can only recognise foreign antigen when complexed with self HLA (Ziegler et al., 2008), as direct recognition involves the recognition by self TCRs of intact donor HLA on donor APC. Self restriction is a consequence of the establishment of central tolerance (previously discussed in section 1.1.7 and 1.1.8), and classically two models have previously been proposed to explain the mechanism by which a T cell is able to 'break' self restriction, and recognise donor HLA directly on donor APC, these are known as the high density determinant model and multiple binary complex theory (Afzali et al., 2007). The 'high density determinant' model proposes that directly alloreactive T cells recognise differences in the amino acids of the HLA molecules of the donor cells, and that the nature of the peptide within the groove is unimportant. This means all donor cells expressing HLA can act as a ligand for directly alloreactive T cells, creating a very high density of ligand. As a result of this high density, the affinity of the directly alloreactive T cell receptor is hypothesised to be lower than that of a self-restricted T cell receptor and can thus overcome self restriction (Bharat and Mohanakumar, 2007).

In the multiple binary complex theory however, the peptide has a key role in direct allorecognition. This model proposes that alloreactive T cells recognise specific peptides within the donor HLA grooves. These peptides are derived from homologous intracellular proteins which are also present within the recipient. However differences in the donor HLA groove due to HLA polymorphism, result in a different set of peptides being presented from the same intracellular proteins, when compared to the peptides presented by the recipient's HLA (Bharat and Mohanakumar, 2007). This model fits with the current understanding of TCR/pHLA interaction, which is discussed later, and assumes that a TCR is able to recognise the donor HLA due to the relative structural similarity of the molecule in TCR binding regions in comparison to the peptide binding HLA groove regions.

The indirect allorecognition pathway is perhaps a closer representation of the way a T cell recognises an antigen in a 'normal' immune response. The donor antigens have been internalised, processed and presented in the context of self HLA on recipient APC. The role of the peptides is central to the recognition by TCR (as is the case with normal antigen recognition) and the generation of an alloimmune response in the indirect recognition pathway.

Most recently, the significance of the peptide within both direct and indirect recognition is becoming clear, and many studies have now demonstrated the existence of peptide specific alloreactive T cells, and the ability in some of these cases, for distinct T cells to respond to multiple allopeptides (Felix *et al.*, 2007). Recent reviews have highlighted the fact that peptides are intrinsic to TCR recognition and that there are many similarities between allorecognition and conventional recognition (Felix and Allen, 2007). Indeed the ability of the TCR receptor to recognise multiple peptides complexed within the same HLA molecule (which emphasizes the importance of the peptide within recognition pathways) was recently reported by Wooldridge and colleagues (2012) in an autoimmune context. They described a single CD8⁺ T cell derived from a patient with type I diabetes, which was specific for a preproinsulin derived peptide, and was identified as pathogenic in this context. The autoimmune TCR of this CD8⁺ T cell was identified as being able to recognise more than 10⁶ different peptides. The authors most significant finding is perhaps not the surprising extent of a

single TCR to identify such a large array of peptides, but that the initial peptide antigen can be improved upon in terms of its stimulation of the TCR, the authors reporting an increase in the functional response of greater than 100 fold in a CD8⁺ T cell already established as pathogenic.

1.1.12 The effect of altering the peptidome through transplantation

Peptides, according to the literature, play a key role in TCR recognition and, according to the multiple binary complex model, are crucial to direct recognition. Furthermore the peptides available to be bound by HLA, the so called peptidome (Milner *et al.,* 2013), are altered through allotransplantation, due to the presence of non-self antigens. This change within the peptidome can therefore allow an alloreactive T cell's TCR to recognise a target pHLA with a higher affinity than self pHLA, otherwise the T cell bearing the TCR would have been deleted during the establishment of central tolerance (if self reactivity was high, the T cell would have been deleted), and this change in affinity leads to a response from the T cell. The change of the peptidome it can be then argued, reduces in amount, degree and intensity, the effects of negative selection, or in more concise terms abates negative selection. A measure of this response can be observed in the high frequency of alloreactive T cells, although other factors influence this high number of alloreactive T cells, and include the number of pHLA complexes upon the surface of APC and the influence of co-stimulatory signals, as well as the number of TCR upon the surface of the T cell (Smith *et al.*, 2012).

As an example of the influence peptides can have upon binding affinities of the TCR, the minor histocompatibility antigen (mHAG), HA-1, demonstrates how the change of a single amino acid within a peptide bound by HLA can significantly affect TCR recognition and affinity. mHAGs result from the presence of different gene polymorphisms between the donor and recipients, and can be encoded for by autosomal genes, or from proteins encoded upon the Y chromosome in sex mismatched grafts. These different polymorphisms result in the presence of different peptides being bound by HLA molecules which then act as alloantigens and induce an alloresponse (Roopeen *et al.,* 2002). The HA-1 mHAG results from the products of a dimorphic gene, *HMHA-1*. HA-1 is an HLA-A*02 restricted peptide, only one of the two

variants is known to cause alloreactivity, this being VL<u>H</u>DDLLEA, the other variant, VL<u>R</u>DDLLEA, differs at position 3 by a His(H)/Arg(R). Although both peptides bind to HLA-A*02, the allogenic H containing peptide allows greater structural stability when complexed with the HLA-A*02 molecule, and is presented at the cell surface in greater numbers than the R variant (Nicholls *et al.*, 2009). However, the R peptide is thought capable of forming complexes with HLA-A*02 and being expressed in the thymus during central tolerance. Consequently HA-1 can serve to highlight a process reducing the effect of negative selection. Whereby, if the immunogenic HA-1 H peptide was presented by HLA-A*02 upon thymocytes during the establishment of central tolerance and a TCR receptor was specific to this target above an appropriate threshold then it would have been deleted. However if HA-1 H was absent during central tolerance, and later introduced to the TCR (e.g. as a consequence of indirect allorecognition) then a response can be formed. In this concept a portion of the alloreactive T cells could be thought to be quasi autoimmune in nature, due to the 'undoing' of central tolerance, Figure 1.7.

The HA-1 R peptide has not been shown to generate an immune response and appears to form a less stable structure with HLA-A*02. Studies using Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR) to measure HA-1 specific TCR and HLA-A*02 complexed with H and R peptide show a decreased affinity for the HA-1 R, with extremely rapid off rates (Nicholls *et al.*, 2009), which most likely accounts for this observation. In a direct allorecognition situation, assuming the binary complex theory is correct; where donor and recipient combinations represent an HLA mismatch, the HLA polymorphism results in a different set of peptides being bound, to which an alloreactive TCR can have an inappropriate affinity for, thus also abating negative selection and allowing the generation of a T cell response.

Comparison of the binding affinities of T cell's TCR, between TCRs of T cells which are specific for viral antigens, cancer antigens, autoimmune antigens and allo antigens, demonstrates that there are similar and 'robust' affinities between allo, viral and cancer antigen specific TCR in measurements carried out by SPR, and greater affinities for alloreactive TCRs than the autoimmune specific TCR affinities (Smith *et al.*, 2012).



1.1.13 Factors that influence alloreactivity

The overall contribution to alloresponses of the TCR upon alloreactive T cells, which are the result of altering the peptidome is uncertain, and must vary greatly between different donor and recipient combinations. Indeed, alloreactivity is influenced by a number of variables such as the number of mismatched alleles (the alloreactivity of certain mismatches also varies, with some being permissive mismatches and others being strongly immunogenic, which is believed to be a function of structural similarities between certain HLA molecules) and gender; females generally exhibit higher alloresponsive T cell frequency. Additionally, in healthy individuals a proportion of viral specific memory T cells exist, which have been shown to be cross-reactive in an alloresponsive HLA class I specific manner. Considering that Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) and cytomegalovirus (CMV) specific CD8⁺ T cell frequencies have been shown to be between 10%-40%, a significant pool of anti-viral memory T cells are available, some of which are capable of cross-reacting with donor antigens (Smith et al., 2012). Although the mechanism by which this cross-reactivity occurs remains to be elucidated, given the orthogonal binding mechanism of TCR to pHLA, the bound peptide is likely to play an integral role, due to its interaction with the TCR (see section 1.1.8), the complementary-determining regions (CDR)3 somatically rearranged variable-(diversity)-joining regions of the $\alpha\beta$ TCR, which are the most polymorphic regions (see section 1.1.15), being positioned at the binding interface with the HLA bound peptide (Garcia et al., 2009).

1.1.14 The contribution of peptide to the mechanism of TCR-pHLA interaction Garcia and colleagues (2009) outlined the molecular bias of the TCR binding to pHLA, where they describe how this binding interface is composed of four structurally distinct components, which form composite surfaces. The portion of the TCR which binds to the pHLA can be divided into the invariant germline variable (V) gene encoded regions, which comprise the CDR1 and CDR2, and the junctions between the somatically rearranged variable-diversity (J) gene encoded- joining regions, which form the CDR3 region. The TCR binding region upon the pHLA is mostly comprised of conserved regions of scaffold upon the α -helix of the groove, within which the diversity of the peptide binding region of the HLA encloses a peptide. The binding of

the TCR to pHLA allows the interaction of the TCR's most variable region, CDR3, to the centre of the pHLA, allowing interaction with diverse peptides (Colf *et al.*, 2007), while the germ-line encoded CDR1 and CDR2 regions interact with HLA around the peptide binding region (Figure 1.8 and 1.9). Binding in this manner allows for 75-80% of the contact of the TCR and pHLA being achieved by CDR1 and CDR2, and this interaction is postulated as being a facilitator of the rapid TCR 'scanning' of pHLA, allowing identification of peptides within the pHLA which stabilize the half-life of TCR-pHLA interaction via CDR3 for a period long enough for signalling to occur (Garcia *et al.*, 2009).

This description highlights the intrinsic nature of the peptide in the activation of T cells via their TCR. In another paper, Corse and colleagues (2011) conclude that the stronger the interaction between TCR-pHLA, the more efficient the T cell response *in vitro*. While they report that in *in vivo* responses, there are likely to be constraints upon high and low levels of T cell stimulation, for example attenuation of strong signals to prevent detrimental inflammation, or, following a time lag, similar levels of T cell reactivity can be seen for low potency pHLA, whereby interrogation of pHLA by TCR may involve multiple encounters prior to activation of T cells. In addition reports state that variability in TCR-pHLA interactions could lead to expansion and differentiation of different T cell clones (Corse *et al.*, 2011 and Mirshahidi *et al.*, 2004), such as memory cells, or regulatory T cells. Indeed low dose of pHLA has been shown to favour transient FoxP3 positive T regulatory cell formation above FoxP3 negative T effector cells (Long *et al.*, 2010).

1.1.15 The mechanisms of obtaining diversity within the TCR

The TCR is unusual in being both highly diverse, consisting of an estimated 10¹⁵ potential sequences, and yet being restricted to recognising its antigen in the context of HLA (Birnbaum *et al.*, 2012). The mechanism of binding to the pHLA, as described in section 1.1.8, reveals a binding interface which consists of both highly diverse (CDR3) and more conserved (CDR1 and 2) regions, which facilitate these properties. The development of diversity within the TCR is achieved by recombination of the Variable (V), Diversity (D) and Joining (J) genes, so called V(D)J recombination, which is achieved

ဒင္လာလာဒေင့္လေဒြင္း ေျမာင္ေရးေရးေၾကာင္းေလးေၾကာင္းေလးေျပားေလးေျပာင္ေျပာင္ေလးေျပာင္ေလးေလးေျပာင္ေလးေလးေလးေလးေလးေျ ace io, v~v[−]k ∜o ∯o 1912 £ 3882 £ a roglochtwig o^l α α_υα μια α 8₃ a ୦⁸⁰1 ୯ ୧୦୦୦୦ ≨ ଛ a > *02 kt ^ တို့ င^{ည်} ငန်က္က ဖူးစေမက်မ်က္က လူတိုင်းဆို ေခြားစား မိုက္စာ မို g > cz U 0, E× B/1, B2, 30, ∃0 a Ha**n** °°^ ► 0 ro O е сой ¦оора **д**те ₿ * < ∞ a cL ω <u> Измте</u> 18 ⊥ле офе дстопо е ¶ся וחנפידסכווים אפליים הוושוים ווויש pep de m km e groove ືອອດ≘<⁄Ω <mark>"</mark>ຜ9*v909090

LO CN

∝ € through a single recombinase enzyme, encoded for by the lymphoid-specific recombination-activating genes 1 and 2 (RAG1 and RAG2) (Hewitt *et al.*, 2010). Specifically the CDR1 and CDR2 regions are encoded for by the germline T cell receptor α -variable (TRAV) and β -variable (TRBV) genes, while the highly diverse CDR3 is encoded for by V and J gene segments in the α -chain of the TCR, and the V(D)J segments in the β -chain (Gras *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore additional variation can be generated within the CDR3 regions by the addition/deletion of non-nucleotide (N) templates at the V-(N)-J, V-(N)-D and D-(N)-J junctions (Gras *et al.*, 2012).

1.1.16 The influence of HLA bound peptide on TCR mediated alloreactivity

In support of the importance of the peptide in the binding mechanism and activation of alloreactive T cells, Morris and colleagues (2010) demonstrated that alloreactive and non-alloreactive T cells differed specifically at the CDR3 region of the TCR, supporting the hypothesis that CDR1 and CDR2 regions provide a germ line affinity for HLA, and offering an explanation for the ability for alloreactive T cells to recognise non-self HLA. In addition, there are at least two cases reported within the literature of the CDR3 region of the TCR providing the majority of the binding energy due to TCR recognition of bulged peptides (Liu *et al.*, 2012; Speir *et al.*, 2001).

The orientation of the TCR in relation to pHLA also appears to have an influence upon the ability of a TCR to recognise pHLA, with the orientation of the most variable region of the TCR positioned such that it engages with the peptide, highlighting the significance of the peptide in its ability to generate TCR mediated immune responses. There is some variation described within the literature between the precise mechanisms, but generally an orthogonal docking angle is seen in reported TCR/pHLA crystal structures (Garcia *et al.*, 1996; Garcia *et al.*, 2009). The α -chain of the TCR alignment falling over the NH₂-terminal end of the peptide, with the β -chain over the COOH-terminal. In the reported structures, the variation that has been observed is seen in the degree of flexibility within the TCR binding of pHLA. Whereby the angle to which TCR engages pHLA can vary from between 22 to 84 degrees. It appears the TCR approaches the binding of HLA with a single binding conformation, it then flexes and readjusts the interaction with pHLA to allow the formation of the single binding conformation (Felix and Allen, 2007).

Considering these findings the nature of the peptide presented by HLA in an alloimmune setting can induce a variety of effects upon the T cells which recognise them. This ranges from the generation of a response targeted to the allograft, resulting in allograft damage and/or rejection, to inducing allograft protection via the formation of FoxP3+ T regulatory cells (Sakaguchi *et al.*, 2001). The significance of the peptide bound by HLA to the triggering of immune responses has led many investigators to study the processes of peptide processing and presentation by HLA, as well as attempting to characterise the properties of peptides bound by specific HLA alleles.

1.1.17 Peptide processing and presentation

Given the extensive impact that HLA bound peptide has been demonstrated to have upon TCR recognition, whether in the context of alloimmune, autoimmune or immune responses against pathogens, the nature of this peptide binding and its orientation within the HLA molecule is likely to be of consequence. As such, the structure of HLA molecules and their mechanism of peptide presentation have been extensively studied. The nature of peptide processing and presentation is dependent upon the peptide source, and the class of HLA molecule to which they are bound for presentation.

1.1.17.1 The source of peptides in the HLA class I processing pathway

Class I HLA molecules present peptides derived from endogenous proteins to cytotoxic (CD8⁺) T lymphocytes. These peptides are generated via proteasome mediated degradation of proteins at the end of their functional lives, as well as newly synthesised proteins in the form of defective ribosomal products (DRiPs) (Schubert *et al.*, 2000), the source of these proteins can be derived from self proteins, or from pathogens, such as viral proteins due to a viral infection. The functional life of different proteins varies considerably and can range from minutes to hours, however a significant proportion of proteins are degraded immediately post synthesis, prior to the formation of functional proteins as a consequence of DRiPs. DRiPs being the result of defective transcription or translation, alternative reading frame usage and failed assembly into functional proteins via other mechanisms (Neefjes *et al.*, 2011). The DRiPS are degraded immediately to prevent aggregation of protein, this process therefore allows peptides to be presented by HLA class I extremely rapidly. Indeed the

influenza virus can be recognised by T cells, 1.5 hours post infection due to DRiPs, instead of 8 hours later when the first stable viral proteins are degraded by the proteasome of infected cells (Neefjes *et al.*, 2011). In addition to peptides being generated from proteins at the end of their functional life and from DRiPs, peptides which have been generated from non-continuous sequences which are a consequence of ligation have been observed (Neefjes *et al.*, 2011). Dalet and colleagues (2011) report the splicing of two protein fragments in the proteasome to form a peptide which is presented to CD8+ T cells by Class I HLA. In the transplant setting, this raises the intriguing theoretical possibility that allo and self protein fragments could be spliced to form a novel peptide.

The repertoire of peptides which can be bound by HLA class I molecules, known as the HLA class I peptidome (Milner *et al.*, 2013), can therefore include peptides from proteins which are non functional, peptides which are not encoded for by the genome due to ligation, and peptides from proteins which have reached the end of their functional life, all of which have been shown to be capable of eliciting an immune response. In addition to this variety of peptide origin, a different degradation pattern has been observed between the constitutive and the immuno proteasomes (Eleftheriadis, 2012), which can also produce variety in the peptides generated. Regardless of this wide source of peptides, loading onto the HLA class I molecule for presentation is essential for effective immunity. In order to facilitate this, a peptide loading complex is formed.

1.1.17.2 The HLA class I antigen processing pathway

As the peptides for class I HLA molecules are generated within the cytosol their transport into the ER, where HLA molecules are assembled, is required. This access to the ER is granted by the transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP), which also forms a part of the peptide loading complex (PLC). TAP is formed from two gene products, TAP1 and TAP2, and transports peptides of 8-16 amino acids in length into the ER. Once inside the ER, the peptides are processed to ensure their suitability for loading onto HLA molecules by the action of ER aminopeptidases, specifically ERAP1 and ERAP2, which trim the N-terminal ends of peptides (Wearsch and Cresswell, 2008),

These ER aminopeptidases are not however part of the PLC, and do not otherwise facilitate loading of peptides and assembly of HLA molecules.

The assembly of HLA and loading of peptides is achieved via a two stage process (Figure 1.10). Initially calnexin (CNX) and ERp57, which is a protein disulfide isomerase (promotes disulphide bond formation), facilitate early folding of the heavy chain (HC) and association with β_2 -microglobulin (β_2 M). After which, a second stage occurs whereby the HC and β_2 M are recruited into the PLC (Figure 1.11). The PLC is comprised of tapasin, which acts as a bridge between TAP and the HC, and is covalently associated with ERp57. ERp57 itself is also bound to calreticulin (CRT) and CRT is bound to a monoglucosylated N-linked glycan attached to the HC at Asn86 (Wearsch and Cresswell, 2008). In terms of PLC function, tapasin stabilizes the HLA molecule while it is empty (Elliot and Williams, 2005) and promotes high affinity peptide loading, in a process known as peptide editing. Interestingly the influence of tapasin upon peptide binding appears to be HLA allele specific, with peptide loading being heavily reliant upon tapasin in some HLA alleles, such as HLA-B*44:02, while others appear to be able to load peptide without the function of tapasin, for example HLA-B*27:05 (Elliot and Williams, 2005). HLA molecules and peptides, which do not form a complex with each other, are transported back into the cytosol for further trimming or destruction via peptidases and the proteasome. This transport out of the ER is achieved via the ER-associated protein degradation (ERAD) system (Neefjes et al., 2011). Successfully complexed HLA class I and peptide is transported to the Golgi body and then transported from the Golgi to the cell surface with the aid of CD99, a leukocyte adhesion molecule. The absence of CD99 has been shown to result in a build up of MHC Class I within the Golgi (Bremond *et al.,* 2008).

1.1.17.3 The HLA Class II antigen processing pathway

HLA class II molecules are also assembled in the ER, where an α and β chain associate with an invariant chain (li), the resulting heterodimer-li complex is then transported to the late endosomal compartment known as the MHC Class II compartment (MIIC), again via the Golgi. The li blocks the peptide binding groove thus preventing endogenous peptide binding (Wolters and Chapman, 2000), the class II associated invariant chain peptide (CLIP) region of the li chain occupies the binding groove

(S) с: 0) Д. у̀ с re 13 а13 о ц с а ц х אַכני 1928 שיט ניסן געשיי בעשיי בערייק אַנייט אַ exogenous peptides (rather than the typical endogenous / intracellular peptides) and dass II, endogenous rather than exogenous. The ᇦᇴᆤᇾᅋᇥᆘᅘᇥᇥᆆᅆᆇᇗᆇᅆᇗᆇᅆᇥᇔᅆᇥᇏᇥᅆᇥᇏᇥᅆᇥᇥᅆᇥᇥᅆᇥᇥᅆᇥ cross presentation of exogenous peptides by the MHC class I pathway is also shown above. **8**≜**∩ O^cΩ≊ອີຟີຮ</mark>⊮ສ** Q X ≮u

u°0 °265 67}8,18

IO ≮U ciua M m

4

.

ER LUMEN

cu tO to 2 t_j 02 -•і 8 c 200 ⊡ Ω קפליק5 אלקסליל adu a Ogetu de la au <u>Ē</u> ω cu OtoO4⇒>u cu o re**E** or go'r са. Ос**о**_Во یم 00 00 **G**

rsi **ro** (Neefjes *et al.*, 2011) and the li undergoes stepwise proteolytic degradation so that only the CLIP region remains. This CLIP/HLA class II complex can now load peptide for presentation at the cell surface, as CLIP, unlike the larger li, rapidly dissociates from the HLA class II molecule and is replaced by an exogenous peptide from a protein degraded in the endosomal pathway (potentially an exogenous pathogen, or donor protein). This replacement of CLIP with exogenous peptide requires the presence of another HLA class II molecule, the HLA-DM protein (Neefjes *et al.*, 2011). The successfully loaded class II HLA molecule is then displayed upon the cell surface. Crucially the polymorphism of both class I and class II HLA molecules provides a range of peptide binding characteristics upon different HLA molecules. To some degree this allows then, an ability to determine the likelihood of a specific peptide to be bound by particular HLA molecules using bioinformatic approaches (Helmberg, 2012), discussed in section 1.9.

1.1.18 The characteristics of peptide binding by HLA molecules

The genes within the MHC are highly polymorphic; indeed the HLA-B gene is believed to be the most polymorphic gene within the human genome (Yanover and Bradley, 2011). The polymorphism within HLA molecules is at its greatest in the sequences lining the peptide binding grooves, specifically the greatest polymorphism is encoded for by exons 2 and 3 of the Class I α -chain (HLA-A, B and C) and exon 2 for the class II β chain of HLA-DR, DQ and DP molecules, in addition polymorphism is also seen within the alpha chain of DQ and DP molecules. This polymorphism produces a selective peptide binding motif for each HLA molecule, which results in the ability to bind a specific set of peptides, referred to as the peptide repertoire or peptidome (Rao et al., 2011). The peptide repertoire of different HLA molecules can overlap, as a consequence the same peptide can be presented by numerous HLA molecules. Indeed this promiscuous binding of peptide maybe as high as 60% (Rao et al., 2011). This promiscuity of binding may be a disadvantage in terms of the immune response, due to the principles of the heterozygous advantage theory. Whereby, individuals who are heterozygote are able to present a wider range of peptides than homozygotes, due to the potential ability to display a wider peptide repertoire. The promiscuous binding of peptide by some HLA molecules will obviously reduce this effect for those peptides.

Indeed, individuals with HLA molecules which have unique peptide binding motifs have a lower chance of transmission of a pre-adapted virus (Rao *et al.,* 2011).

In the transplant setting these properties could have various effects, which are dependent upon the uniqueness of the peptide binding motifs of HLA mismatches, and the promiscuity of donor and recipient peptides. A promiscuous peptide could be bound by a donor or recipient HLA molecule and may or may not initiate an alloimmune response, depending upon the state of tolerance to the epitopes generated. Use of structural simulations to investigate peptide binding landscapes for HLA-A* and B* alleles have revealed that the HLA-B locus encoded antigens are, on average, able to bind a greater range of peptides, although this is not uniform for all alleles, some HLA-A* alleles being able to present a greater range of peptides than some HLA-B* alleles (Yanover and Bradley, 2011).

HLA alleles which share similar peptide binding characteristics are grouped into HLA supertypes, which has allowed the development of 'immunological hotspots' whereby regions of some antigens (such as the SARS coronovirus nucelocapsid) have regions of promiscuous T cell epitopes (Zhang *et al.*, 2011) i.e. they contain peptides which bind to multiple HLA molecules, these have therefore been used as potential targets for vaccine development. For HLA-Class I, nine supertypes have been identified, based upon overlapping peptide binding repertoires and groove structures, these being HLA class I supertype A1, A2, A3, A24, B7, B27, B44, B58 and B62 (Zhang *et al.*, 2011).

1.1.19 Predicting peptide binding to HLA

In order to allow a greater understanding of the relationship between peptide and HLA encoded molecules, several bioinformatic tools have been generated to provide an *in silico* assessment of peptide binding, such tools include the SYFPEITHI and the immune epitope databases (Helmberg, 2012). These tools utilise the described properties of peptide binding to the groove of HLA encoded molecules, and include bioinformatic systems for prediction of peptide binding to the HLA class I and class II molecules.

In the peptide binding groove of the HLA class I molecules, six binding pockets have been identified, A-F, which have allele specific characteristics, towards specific peptide

side chains, known as anchor residues (Fagerberg *et al.*, 2006). The six binding pockets allow amino acids, which have similar physicochemical properties, to be bound in a specific maner. The contribution to peptide binding is not uniform across all binding pockets, and peptide residues can be bound in pockets which are highly specific for that residue, these residues are termed primary or main anchor residues, the less specific residues are termed secondary anchor residues. The greatest contribution to peptide binding within HLA class I molecules comes from the N and C terminals of the peptide which are usually bound firmly by the ends of the binding groove, by pockets A and F respectively (Fagerberg *et al.*, 2006). Further binding energy is produced by hydrogen bonds between the HLA and backbone of the peptide. This concept of binding pockets has been broadened more recently, with some evidence suggesting the ability to predict peptides, which will bind to less well structurally documented alleles, such as the HLA-B*41 variants, requires a fine understanding of the amino acids present within the groove and each pocket (Bade-Doeding *et al.*, 2007).

Assessing peptide binding within HLA class II is more complex than that of HLA class I. Indeed state-of-the-art performance in peptide prediction reaches an AUC ROC (area under receiver operator curve) of 0.85-0.95 for HLA class I but only 0.70 to 0.85 for HLA class II (Zhang *et al.*, 2012), indicating a higher accuracy for HLA class I binding prediction than class II. The increased complexity of predicting HLA class II peptide binding is due to various differences to the class I binding. The binding groove in HLA class II molecules which accommodates peptide is open at the terminal ends, allowing longer peptides to bind, and also allowing peptide to bind at multiple sites. In addition, peptide residues which fall outside the peptide binding groove can interact with the HLA molecule and enhance its structural stability (Liao and Arthur, 2011).

An interesting feature of peptides eluted from HLA class II molecules and subsequently sequenced, is that a significant fraction of them are derived from intracellularly synthesised proteins, between 70-90%, depending upon the HLA allele from which the peptides were eluted (Leddon and Sant, 2010). This observation demonstrates that in the absence of a pathogenic challenge, HLA class II molecules present peptides which are most likely sourced from APC derived intracelluar proteins, and not, in the main, extracellular derived proteins. Furthermore, it has been reported that 10-60% of these

peptides are themselves derived from HLA molecules themselves (Leddon and Sant, 2010). This is an interesting finding, considering the higher risk of mismatching HLA-DR over HLA-A and B in renal transplantation (Opelz 1997), and the role of endogenous peptides in allorecognition, described in section 1.1.20.

1.1.20 The role of endogenous derived peptides in allorecognition

The evidence for peptide dependent alloreactivity is increasing within both solid organ transplantation and HSCT. Within the limited number of structural models of this phenomena it is interesting to note that, where the peptide has been identified, the evidence suggests that alloreactive T cells recognise endogenous peptide (D'Orsogna *et al.*, 2013). Indeed in an investigation into 50 different alloreactive T cell clones, which were generated in a GvHD response *in vivo*, they were not only peptide specific, but led the authors to conclude, 'that the alloreactive T cells exert a high-avidity recognition for a single endogenously processed and presented peptide' (Amir *et al.*, 2011).

1.1.21 The importance of peptides in the alloresponse

The evidence then that peptides bound within HLA molecules have a significant influence upon allorecognition is incontrovertible. These peptides can be of MHC origin, or minor histocompatibility antigen (mHAG) derived, and can be from both the donor and the recipient depending upon the context in which they are presented. The alloresponse can be generated by a change in the peptidome, or the HLA molecules expressed, to which the recipient has not previously been exposed to during the establishment of central tolerance, which results in a change in the affinity to which T cell's TCR recognise pHLA, and results in a response from the T cell.

Given the effects of pHLA upon T cell clone formation by differential engagement of the TCR, it is not surprising that carefully selected peptides have been investigated as potential therapies for use in vaccination (Lovgren *et al.*, 2012), cancer therapy (Goulmy, 2004), preventing autoimmunity and tolerance induction (Mirshahidi *et al.*, 2004). In one such paper which examines the impact of peptide dose upon CD8⁺ T cell responses (Lövgren *et al.*, 2012), the authors conclude that low dose peptide vaccination generated stronger CD8⁺ T cell responses than high dose peptide, and

showed a lower dependence upon CD8 co-receptor. This is an intriguing finding considering the observation that alloreactive T cells have shown TCR cross-reactivity for MHC class I and II molecules (Smith *et al.*, 2012), and offers the potential explanation that this cross-reactivity is as a result of low frequency peptides. In the transplant setting, intrathymic injection of allopeptide has been shown to induce acquired systemic tolerance (Oluwole *et al.*, 2001), a process which re-establishes the central tolerance lost due to transplantation.

Recently the generation of a chimeric state in renal transplant recipients by simultaneous HSCT has been shown to be capable of providing an environment suitable for renal allograft survival, without maintenance immunosuppression (Kawai *et al.*, 2008). This work was carried out following the hypothesis of the interrelationship of chimerism and transplant tolerance outlined by Starzl and Demetris (1998). The proposed mechanism of achieving tolerance following chimerism has been postulated to be the elimination of 'reactive cells within the thymus which are reactive to donor antigen' (Kawai *et al.*, 2008), this would again restore central tolerance. Intrathymic deletion was found to be the 'dominant tolerance induction mechanism' through mixed chimerism, reviewed by Pilat and Wekerle (2010).

However central tolerance is certainly not the only player in such events (Pilat and Wekerle, 2010). Indeed administration of allopeptides, or cells which express single donor class I HLA, has been reported to result in down regulation of alloantigen specific cell-mediated responses by Tregs (Wood and Sakaguchi, 2003), the authors called for further characterisation of the allopeptides involved. The phenomena of Treg cells being critical for the maintenance of central tolerance is well reported, and can be seen in the development of severe autoimmune disease in regulatory T cell transcription factor Foxp3 deficient individuals (Kim *et al.*, 2011). Given the ability of changes within pHLA to alter the affinity of TCR-pHLA interactions, and that the affinity of the TCR for pHLA can influence T cell clone formation, the pHLA environment will have an impact upon this event. The differentiation of specific T cell clones will also be dependent upon the environment within which the pHLA is displayed, with a significant role for costimulation (Kim *et al.*, 2011). Therefore the pHLA can be said to have a significant role in both the generation of the alloresponse, due to the

phenomena of reducing or abating negative selection, and to achieve transplant tolerance through re-establishing central tolerance, via appropriate introduction of donor peptide antigens. Of particular interest is the role of endogenously sourced peptides within these phenomena.

1.2 Thesis aims

This thesis will seek to increase the understanding of the role of the peptide bound by HLA molecules in the context of alloreactivity in transplant recipients. This will be achieved by identifying and assessing the function of endogenous peptides, which may have a role in the alloresponse within the context of clinical transplantation.

The key research approaches include:

In chapter 2 the research attempts to identify potential endogenously derived peptides, which may provide targets for allorecognition. Given that HLA class II molecules have been shown to present peptides derived from HLA class II molecules. A method for assessing this phenomena in HLA class I molecules will be investigated, specifically:

• A bioinformatic database of potential HLA class I derived peptides, which may bind to HLA-A*02, will be generated using peptide binding software

• Peptides bound by HLA-A*02 will be isolated from the HLA-A*02 molecule and characterised by mass spectrometry

• The characterised peptides will be searched within the bioinformatic database to determine whether they are derived from HLA class I molecules.

Research described in chapter 3 will seek to assess the role of peptides, identified from the research undertaken within chapter 2, in the context of clinical transplantation in relation to outcomes, specifically:

• HLA class I derived peptides, which are of particular interest in the alloresponse setting, will be identified and a 'key' showing the HLA alleles which encode these peptides will be generated

• This key will be utilised in a cohort of renal transplant recipients, which will be assessed for the effect of matching/mismatching these peptides, in relation to the performance of the allograft within the first 12 months post transplant.

In chapter 4, the experimental work will attempt to determine a functional role of the endogenous peptides identified in chapter 2, and seek to establish if variation within peptides bound by the same HLA molecule can influence the subsequent binding of HLA specific antibodies, and if so, seek to elucidate the mechanisms involved.

• A cell line which expresses HLA-A*02 will be loaded with peptides identified in chapter 2

• An HLA-A*02 specific antibody will be used to assess the influence of these peptides on the ability of an antibody to bind to its target

• Structural modelling with be utilized to examine the influence of peptide upon antibody binding, using the current understanding of electrostatic potential energy upon an antibody target and the antibody binding characteristics.

Chapter 2 - Identifying HLA Class I derived peptides as potential ligands in inducing alloreactivity

2.1.1 Introduction

This chapter will seek to create a database of peptides which can theoretically be derived from HLA-Class I molecules and then presented by another HLA-class I molecule. The database will then be utilised to identify any HLA derived peptides eluted from an HLA molecule.

2.1.2 Bioinformatics within transplant immunology and HLA peptide binding predictions

Within the field of transplant immunology there are a wide range of frequently used bioinformatic tools (Helmberg, 2012), which provide both a collection of experimental data, such as the HLA/IGMT database (Robinson *et al.*, 2013) or allele frequency database (Gonzalez-Galarza *et al.*, 2010). These allow access to information contributed to by the entire transplant immunology community. There are also bioinformatic tools which allow analysis of an investigator's own data, using the described properties of the bioinformatics tool in question, such as the use of HLAmatchmaker (Duquesnoy *et al.*, 2011), to ascertain permissible epitope mismatches between donor and recipient pairs.

The use of bioinformatics to predict peptide binding to HLA molecules dates back to the late 1980s, and essentially three approaches to determining the probability of binding are used, these being: (1) position specific scoring matrices (PSSM), (2) artificial intelligence (AI) systems and (3) structural based methods (Liao and Arthur, 2011). Some systems utilise a combination of these techniques. Both PSSM and AI use the sequences of previously eluted peptides from specific HLA molecules to predict the ability of peptides to bind to a given HLA molecule. As the particular binding pockets of an HLA allele will favour certain amino acid characteristics (acidic, basic, polar, nonpolar, etc.) a likelihood of favourable binding can be established. The AI component allows for subtle relationships between amino acids within the peptide to be considered, most commonly PSSM and AI systems are used in parallel (Liao and Arthur, 2011). Structural based systems use the ever increasing number of crystal structures (Bjorkman *et al.*, 1987) to estimate the stability and strength of binding of a peptide to a particular HLA molecule, determining the free energy. A review of the peptide predicting bioinformatics tools available conclude that PSSM and AI combined systems

currently provide the best predictions (Liao and Arthur, 2011). Of these systems, perhaps the most widely reported within the literature is that of the SYFPEITHI database, first reported by Rammensee and colleagues (1999). The SYFPEITHI database was named after the sequence of the first peptide eluted from an MHC molecule, and contains a repository of such sequences combined with PSSM and AI peptide prediction. SYFPEITHI peptide binding prediction is based upon published peptide sequences, and only includes sequence prediction for HLA molecules for which a large amount of data is available. In line with all such bioinformatics tools, careful judgement regarding appropriate use of the data generated is required and, in the case of peptide prediction, certainty regarding actual binding of a peptide requires confirmation within the laboratory, either by eluting peptides from selected HLA molecules, or by assessing the binding of HLA molecules, by particular peptides, experimentally.

2.1.3 Confirmation of HLA peptide binding and sequencing of isolated peptides. Various approaches within the literature are reported for isolating peptides from HLA molecules and their subsequent characterisation (Castellanos et al., 2001; den Haan et al., 1998; Bade-Döding et al., 2011; Heinhold et al., 2010; Harndhal et al., 2009). Typically peptides are eluted from HLA by acid elution following the isolation of the HLA molecule itself (if not produced in a pure soluble form). Often High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) is used to separate the peptides prior to their sequence characterisation. Recently, sequence characterisation by mass spectrometry (MS) has been favoured within the literature, whereas previously Edman end terminal sequencing was the methodology of choice (Hoppes *et al.,* 2010). The combination of separation of HLA from a target cell (if not in a soluble form), isolation of peptide from the HLA itself, and then sequencing of the peptide makes this a time consuming process. However new approaches such as those reported by Heinhold and colleagues (2010), have demonstrated the utility of a two-step sequential immunoprecipitation and Matrix-Assisted laser desorption/ionization Time of Flight (MALDI-TOF) method to identify HLA-B bound peptides. The increasing use of MS for peptide characterisation is largely due to the increased sensitivity of mass spectrometers, and has led to the identity of the characteristics of large pools of peptides derived from different HLA grooves to be determined, this has aided the development of the previously described

PSSM (Falk *et al.*, 1991). However, it is often difficult to determine between selfpeptides and non-self-peptides (either of pathogen or donor origin) when eluted from HLA, and consequently further characterisation of the identified peptides are often performed by measuring functional responses, meaning the overall process of identifying allogenic peptides can be time consuming (Hoppes *et al.*, 2010).

2.1.4 Mass spectrometry sequencing of HLA eluted peptides

Mass spectrometers ionise compounds (i.e. generate a positive (cation) or negative (anion) electrical charge), this generally causes fragmentation of the compound, some of these fragments can in-turn fragment further (Hoffmann and Stroobant, 2007). The ions, which are thus generated, are separated within a mass spectrometer according to their mass-to-charge ratio and detected in accordance with their relative abundances.

The visual representation of the data generated is a plot of the mass-to-charge ratios of the detected fragments and their abundances, and can be displayed as a table showing mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) vs relative abundance (%) or most commonly the data is plotted as a mass spectrum, with m/z plotted upon the x axis and relative abundance upon the y axis. The ions generated and displayed within the mass spectrum provide information regarding the nature and structure of the precursor compound. Where a pure compound has been ionised and is still present in an unfragmented form, it is referred to as the molecular ion. The molecular ion is present at the highest m/z value, giving the molecular mass of the compound, while fragments from the molecular ion will be of a lower m/z ratio. For example, if methanol is analysed the molecular ion appears at m/z 32 of the spectrum (methanol's molecular mass is 32), while there is also a peak on the spectrum at 15 m/z. Therefore there has been a loss from the methanol molecular ion of 17 (32-15=17). This equates to the loss of a hydroxyl group and is the m/z of methanol minus a hydroxyl group (Hoffmann and Stroobant, 2007). These principles are also used to study proteins and peptides, not only with the capability to detect complexes of linked amino acids, but also posttranslational modifications (Hoffmann and Stroobant, 2007). In terms of peptide sequencing, as is appropriate here, the peptide must undergo fragmentation in the same manner as a chemical compound. In simplistic terms, fragmentation causes the bonds between adjoining amino acids to break, this allows the amino acids, and

fragments of amino acids which remain joined together, to have their molecular mass determined by the m/z ratios produced. In cases where a residual amount of the unfragmented peptide still remains, the molecular mass of the peptide itself can be determined. Two mass spectrometry techniques which are most often used in the study of peptides and proteins are electrospray ionization (ESI) and the previously mentioned MALDI. These two techniques are particularly suitable to the study of peptides and proteins as they do not require the analyte to be in a volatile state, a requirement which limited the study of non-volatile biological molecules prior to the introduction of ESI and MALDI (Hoffmann and Stroobant, 2007).

In previous reports of HLA derived peptide sequencing, MALDI has been used to great effect (Heinhold et al., 2010). MALDI tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) peptide sequencing relies upon the peptide being dissolved in a matrix of small organic molecules, which is then dried and placed under vacuum conditions within the MALDI MS and pulsed with a laser. The organic compounds within the matrix have a strong absorbance at the wavelength of the laser, causing ablation of the matrix and also the peptide, generating an ionised gas phase (Hoffmann and Stroobant, 2007) which can then be separated within the MS, based upon the m/z of the peptide. In addition, through the use of tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) it is possible to isolate a particular peptide by identifying it through its m/z ratio in the first MS, then the peptide either undergoes spontaneous or induced fragmentation to yield peptide fragments for analysis within the second MS. In this way it is possible to select a peptide of a particular molecular weight from a mixture of peptides and then fragment and sequence that peptide (Hoffmann and Stroobant, 2007). MS/MS has been used in this way specifically for the purpose of characterising MHC class I peptides (Escobar et al., 2011), the data produced however, is complex. Fortunately various 'free to use' bioinformatic data analysis tools are available, which can provide likely peptide fragmentation products given a known sequence (Steen and Mann, 2004), or allow comparison to previously characterised sequences.

2.1.5 *Roepstorff-Fholmann-Biemann nomenclature and describing peptide fragments* When fragmentation of a peptide is induced, the fragments generated are comprised of different components of the peptide. In order to allow an accurate description of

these peptide fragments, a system known as Roepstorff-Fohlmann-Biemann nomenclature (Figure 2.1) is used to describe the fragmentation products (Steen and Mann, 2004). Essentially the fragmented peptide ions are referred to as a_n, b_n and c_n ions, when the amino terminus group remains, and z_n , y_n and x_n ions, when the carboxyl group remains (n equals the number of amino acid residues). The assigned a, b or c (or z, y and x) is dependent upon the position within the peptide to which the peptide is fragmented. As the 20 common amino acid residues have known masses, the mass difference between consecutive ions produced allows deduction of the peptide sequence (Table 2.1). The fragmentation of the peptide can produce a complex array of ions derived from the peptide, as stated earlier, various bioinformatic tools are available to help decipher this data and allow the sequence to be derived. Those bioinformatic tools most pertinent to this thesis, calculate the likely fragment ions of a given peptide, allowing the interrogation of a mass spectrum for those fragments. Such bioinformatic tools include the MS Product resource from the University of California mass spectrometry bioinformatics suite (www.prospector.ucsf.edu).

2.1.6 Assays to assess the binding of peptide by HLA

The ability of HLA to bind particular peptides can be investigated experimentally. Investigations of peptide binding are often used in conjunction with the bioinformatic tools discussed in section 2.1.1, or as a measure of the strength of binding peptides identified through those techniques discussed in section 2.1.3. Techniques assessing the binding of peptides to HLA and currently reported within the literature include: binding measurements assessed by the ability to inhibit binding of a fluorescently labelled reference peptide to HLA (Baxter *et al.*, 2004; Haan *et al.*, 1998), refolding of HLA molecules with test peptides (Harndahl *et al.*, 2009), surface plasmon resonance (Chen *et al.*, 1994) and TAP deficient cell line binding of specific peptides (Gatfield *et al.*, 1998; Wang *et al.*, 1998; Gricks *et al.*, 2001; Stuber *et al.*, 1995; Castellanos *et al.*, 2001). One advantage of the TAP deficient cell line approach to assessing peptide binding is that subsequent to successful binding, the cell line loaded with the bound peptide can be utilised in various functional assays (Castellanos *et al.*, 2001) or as targets for HLA antibody binding.

e the fragmentation
describe
used to
nomenclature
1 Roepstorff-Fohlmann-Biemann
re 21
Figur

Ν

x

x

0M -Q

in

Residue	

Three-letter code

le One-letter code

Average Mass

Properties

Definition of Fragments

here for completeness. Adapted from Hoffmann & Stroobant (2007).

The T2 cell line is one such cell line. T2 is a hybrid of T and B lymphoblasts and was first described by Salter and colleagues in 1985. As described in chapter 1 (section 1.1.17.2), TAP forms an essential component of the antigen processing and peptide loading pathway. Consequently cell lines deficient in TAP have reduced (Salter *et al.*, 1985) or absent (Gatfield *et al.*, 1998) expression of HLA at the cell surface. It should be noted that where encoded, HLA synthesis continues within TAP deficient cell lines, but when presented at the cell surface, without the stabilizing effect of bound peptide, the HLA dissociates rapidly. This has led to the discovery that incubating these cell lines with a peptide fitting the binding characteristics of the HLA molecule, allows stabilization of the HLA molecule at the cell surface (i.e. peptide binding is not achieved via traditional routes and is taken up at the surface). This can be measured as an increase in surface expression levels of HLA by the use of an HLA specific antibody, commonly the antibody used is specific to a conformational dependent epitope, to ensure correct structural orientation of the HLA detected (Gatfield *et al.*, 1998).

2.1.7 Aims of chapter 2

The work undertaken within chapter 2 will seek to establish a database of peptides derived from HLA-A*, B* and C* encoded alleles, which are theoretically capable of binding to HLA-A*02 encoded molecules. This database will then be assessed by obtaining peptides from an HLA-A*02 molecule and searching for matching peptide ligands within the database. This will provide information which will give an insight into the nature of HLA molecules binding HLA derived peptides, and allow the identification of specific combinations of HLA molecules and HLA derived peptide complexes. This insight will further the understanding of the allorecognition process.

2.2 Materials and Methods

A flowchart overview of all the methods described here is given at the end of this section on page 56, to provide an overview of the work flow.

2.2.1 Creating a bioinformatic database of peptides derived from HLA-A*, B* and C* encoded alleles with theoretical HLA-A*02 binding potential.

The SYFPEITHI database was used to generate peptides which have a high probability of binding to HLA-A*02 (Rammensee et al., 1999; Liao and Arthur, 2011). Amino acid sequences of HLA Class I encoded alleles were obtained from the HLA/IGMT database (Robinson et al., 2013) and entered into the SYFPEITHI database, to generate potential peptides theoretically capable of binding to HLA-A*02, which were derived from HLA-Class I encoded alleles. SYFPEITHI has a reported minimum reliability of retrieving the most 'apt' peptide in 80% of all predictions, identifying a naturally presented peptide within the top 2% of all peptides predicted in 80% of cases (Rammensee et al., 1999). Thus for a protein sequence of 400 amino acids in length, the correct peptide will be in the top 8 scoring peptides in 80% of cases. The HLA-Class I α -chain is less than 400 amino acids in length, but to ensure the utility of the bioinformatic database generated, the top 10 scoring peptides were recorded in the order of their binding score. Briefly the SYFPETHI binding score system examines every amino acid within a peptide, giving a value of 1 for an amino acid only slightly preferred at its respective position, while amino acids which are optimal anchor residues are given the value of 15. Amino acids are then scored depending upon their frequency within natural peptides previously eluted and characterised from the HLA molecule of interest. The scoring ranges from 1-15 based upon these frequencies, while negative values are also assigned when an amino acid has been shown as being disadvantageous in a particular position (Rammensee et al., 1999).

The molecular weight was calculated for each peptide generated, and the position of the peptide within the HLA class I α -chain was also recorded. This process generated a database containing peptides derived from the amino acid sequences of all HLA-A*, B* and C* encoded alleles (>6000) listed upon the HLA/IGMT database, which were predicted to match the binding characteristics of HLA-A*02.

2.2.2 Identification of HLA-A*02 expressing THP-1 cells and recovery of their membrane fragment

The monocytic cell line THP-1 (ATCC TIB-202) was used as a source of HLA-A*02, as the previously reported HLA expression included HLA-A*02 (Tsuchiya et al., 1980). THP-1 cell line authentication was performed by HLA typing according to the PCR sequencespecific primers (SSP) phototyping method (Bunce et al., 1995), and through commercially available short tandem repeat (STR) cell line authentication (LGC standards, UK). THP-1 cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium (5% Fetal Calf Serum (FCS), 200mM L-Glutamine, 100 µg/ml penicillin/streptomycin (Life Technologies, Fulton, UK), until confluent. Cells were washed twice in 0.85 % phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (Life Technologies, Fulton, UK) (pH 6.8-7.2,) with 5% FCS and then resuspended in PBS. A confluent flask of THP-1 cells provided approximately 1g of cells post washing. A 3ml glass homogeniser was used to lyse the resuspended THP-1 cells, (5 plunges on ice), the resultant lysed cells were centrifuged at 5000g at 4°C for 10 minutes, to remove the nuclear and mitochondrial components from the lysed cells. The pellet containing the nuclear and mitochondrial components was discarded, while the supernatant was retained and centrifuged at 100,000g at 4°C for 1 hour to isolate the membrane fraction. The supernatant was discarded and the pelleted membrane fraction was resuspended in 0.5M TRIS-HCl (pH 7.2).

2.2.3 Dynabead isolation of HLA-A*02 encoded molecules from the isolated membrane fraction

HLA-A*02 molecules were isolated from the membrane fraction using a Dynabeads coimmunoprecipitation kit (Life Technologies, Fulton, UK), this kit allows a pure protein isolate, without contamination from the isolating antibody. To obtain HLA-A*02 molecules from the cell membrane fraction, monoclonal mouse anti-HLA-A*02, BB7.2 (Abcam, Cambridge, UK), was coupled to M-270 magnetic dynabeads according to the kit protocol. Briefly, 10mg of M-270 magnetic dynabeads were washed in 1ml of kit C1 wash buffer by pipetting, the magnetic beads were placed upon a Dynamag (Life Technologies, Fulton, UK) for 1 minute. This allowed attraction of magnetic beads to the Dynamag and therefore to move to the side of the separation tube, the C1 wash was then aspirated and discarded. 14µg of BB7.2 antibody was transferred to the separation tube with the addition of C1 wash buffer to give a total volume of 500µl. An
equal volume of C2 kit coupling reagent was added to this solution and gently mixed by pipetting, and placed on a rotating mixer for 24hrs at room temperature (RT). Post incubation, the separation tube was placed upon the Dynamag for 1 minute and the supernatant was aspirated. 800µl of HB kit wash reagent was added, and the beads were mixed by gentle vortexing and place upon the Dynamag for 1 minute, the supernatant was then removed. Subsequent washes using LB and then SB kit reagents repeated this process, the final SB wash buffer included a 15 minute incubation period on a rotating mixer at RT, prior to placing on the Dynamag and subsequent removal of the supernatant. The BB7.2 coupled M-270 dynabeads were then resuspended in 1ml of kit SB wash, giving a final concentration of 10mg/ml BB7.2 conjugated M-270 dynabeads.

1ml of BB7.2 coupled dynabeads at 10mg/ml concentration was added to a tube containing the separated cell membrane fraction and placed upon a rotating mixer, ensuring the dynabeads remained in suspension for 40 minutes at 4°C. After this time the tube was placed upon the Dynamag, drawing the dynabeads to the side of the tube and the remaining liquid removed. The dynabeads were then washed using 200µl of kit extraction buffer by gentle pipetting, before placing upon the Dynamag and aspirating the supernatant as before, this was repeated three times. A final wash using kit LWB buffer consisted of the addition of 200µl of LWB buffer and a 5 minute incubation on a rotating mixer at RT, before aspiration post Dynamag incubation as before. After these washing stages, the BB7.2 captured protein was eluted by means of a glycine elution buffer, via a 5 minute incubation at RT on a rotating mixer and then placing on the Dynamag for 1 minute, the aspirated supernatant, containing the isolated HLA-A2, was transferred to a clean 1.5ml Eppendorf tube. Protein concentration of the eluted product was measured using the NanoDrop (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, USA) spectrophotometer by measuring absorbance at 280nm, with the elution buffer being used to correct for background.

2.2.4 Confirmation of protein capture via Dynabead isolation

Following precipitation of HLA by BB7.2 anti-HLA coupled Dynabeads as described above, the HLA protein was obtained while the capture antibody remained bound to the Dynabeads. To confirm the presence of the protein purified by BB7.2 anti-HLA

antibody, the elutant containing the protein was separated on a 12% Bis-Tris 1.6mm gel (Life Technologies, Fulton UK), in conjunction with a Novex sharp protein standard (Life Technologies, Fulton UK) protein size marker, via MOPS SDS (3-(N-

morpholino)propanesulfonic acid, sodium dodecyl sulfate) (Life Technologies, Fulton UK) electrophoresis and then stained using silver staining (ProteoSilver Plus Pro Silver stain, Sigma-Aldrich, Dorset, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions, with the single exception being within the stage of the silver staining assay termed sensitisation (whereby pores within the gel are generated to allow silver staining of the protein within the gel to occur). Briefly, the protocol fixes the gel, post electrophoresis, using a 50% ethanol, 40% acetic acid with 10% H_20 solution, followed by washing, firstly with a 30% ethanol solution and then with distilled H₂0. The sensitisation stage was then performed using the kit sensitisation solution. As the 12% Bis-Tris gels used were of a greater thickness (1.6mm) than those recommended by the manufacturer (1.0mm) of the silver staining kit, optimum staining was obtained when the incubation time for the sensitising stage was increased to 20 minutes as opposed to the manufacturers' recommended 10 minutes. Further washing was performed using distilled H₂0, post sensitisation, before the kit silver stain solution was added for 10 minutes, and then decanted. The gel was then washed briefly (90 seconds) with distilled H_20 , the H_20 was decanted and a kit developer solution was added. A constant visual inspection was maintained during gel development, when bands became visible upon the gel, a kit stop solution was added for 5 minutes to stop the reaction, before a final wash and storage in H_2O . The stained bands on the gel were excised using a scalpel and destained according to the silver staining kit protocol, by addition of gel destaining solution until the band disappeared and then washing with H₂0. An 'in-gel' digest was performed upon the excised destained fragments to release the peptides bound by HLA captured by BB7.2 for analysis via MALDI MS/MS.

2.2.5 'In-gel' digestion of excised gel fragments

Each excised and destained gel fragment was placed in a 1.5ml Eppendorf tube with 75µl of 100mM ammonium bicarbonate : acetonitrile (ACN) (1:1), vortexed and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature, the solution was then aspirated and the process repeated once. 75µl of 100% ACN was then added for 30-60 seconds until the gel fragments had shrunk and turned white, the ACN was then aspirated and

discarded. The gel fragments were then rehydrated in digestion buffer, containing 50mM NH₄HCO₃, 5mM CaCl₂, 12.5ng/ml proteomic grade trypsin (Sigma-Aldrich, Dorset, UK), ensuring the gel fragments were covered and then incubated on ice for 15 minutes. The supernatant was then removed and replaced with 70µl 50mM NH₄HCO₃, 5mM CaCl₂ solution and incubated at 37°C overnight. The gel fragments were briefly centrifuged for 60 seconds at 500g to pellet the fragment and allow aspiration and transfer of the supernatant into a new 1.5ml Eppendorf tube. The resultant supernatant was concentrated and desalted using an Amicon Pro 3kDa filtration device (Millipore, Maine, USA) and then analysed via MALDI MS immediately.

2.2.6 Alternative method of peptide isolation using Superdex 75 column

An alternative protocol to obtain peptides from the HLA-A2 molecules isolated in section 2.2.3 utilized an Akta purifier (Amersham Biosciences, UK) coupled with a Superdex 75 column (GE Healthcare Lifesciences, Buckinghamshire, UK), to achieve liquid chromatographic separation based upon size in a 0.05M PBS (Life Technologies, Fulton, UK) 0.15M NaCl pH7.0 buffer run at 0.5ml/min. Protein isolated with an approximate size of 500-1500 Da was predicted to contain peptide which was derived from the protein bound by the BB7.2 isolated HLA and was utilized for MALDI MS/MS. The protein separation characteristics of the column are determined for known RMM standards separated upon the column. Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) (67,000 kDa) 8mg/ml, Ovalbumin (43,000 kDa) 25mg/ml, Ribonuclease (13,700 kDa) 5.0mg/ml, Aprotinin (6,512 kDa) 0.5mg/ml and Vitamin B12 (1,355 kDa) 0.1 mg/ml were used for this purpose, protein standards were filtered through a 0.45µm filter to remove aggregates. As fractions were eluted from the column, protein was detected by absorbance at 280nm. All fractions from the column were collected in 1ml aliquots directly from the column and were retained. Fractions predicted to contain the isolated peptide based on size were concentrated and desalted using an Amicon Pro 3kDa filtration device (Millipore, Maine, USA) before MALDI MS analysis to remove any aggregates.

2.2.7 MALDI MS/MS and bioinformatic database assessment of isolated fragments As recommended for protein and peptide analysis of targets <10kDa, a MALDI matrix constituting 10mg/ml α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnaminic acid (CHCA) in 50% ACN, 50% H₂0

and 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) (Hoffmann and Stroobant, 2007) was pipetted (0.5µl) onto a MALDI OPTI TOF 192 target plate (Applied Biosystems, CA, USA) and left to dry for 20 minutes. The proteins isolated as described in 2.2.5 and 2.2.6 were pipetted (0.5µl) directly onto the dried MALDI matrix and left to dry for 10 minutes. After drying, the MALDI plate was loaded onto a QSTAR mass spectrometer for protein analysis. Any resultant peaks upon the mass spectra were searched within the bioinformatic database generated within 2.2.1 of this section for corresponding molecular weights of the predicted peptide ligands. For example if an m/z ratio of 1115 was observed within the mass spectra, then a search for a peptide within the database corresponding to this molecular weight was performed. If any hits within the database were observed, MALDI MS/MS was performed upon the specific identified peptide to derive its sequence. The sequence described within the database was entered into the MS product peptide fragment calculator (www.prospector.ucsf.edu) to aide this process. In addition, the potential sequence as described within the database were commercially synthesized (ThinkPeptides, Oxford, UK and Pepceuticals, Enderby, UK) and reconstituted from lyophilised powder via a step wise addition of dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO) (Sigma-Aldrich, Dorset, UK). These commercially synthesized peptides were analyzed by MALDI MS/MS therefore allowing direct comparison with the peptides generated from the HLA-A*02 molecules isolated from THP-1 cells. Thus, if a peptide was identified within the isolated HLA-A*02 elutant, which corresponded to the molecular weight and sequence of a peptide within the database then it could confidently be stated to be identified as an HLA-class I derived peptide, which is presented by HLA-A*02. In a final step however a binding assay was performed to assess the ability of the identified peptide to be bound by HLA-A*02.

2.2.8 HLA-A*02 peptide binding assay using the T2 cell line.

Previously described minor histocompatibility antigens (mHAG), shown to bind to HLA-A*02 (Spencer *et al.*, 2010) were used as positive controls. These were HA-1, HA-2 and SMCY mHAG, with the following sequences VLHDDLLEA, YIGSVLISV and FIDSYICQV respectively. The positive controls were synthesized as outlined for the test peptides in section 2.2.7. Optimal concentration of peptide (25µg/ml) for the binding assay was established via titration with the HA-1, HA-2 and SMCY peptides at 5µg/ml – 200µg/ml concentrations.

The binding assay was performed as previously described (Pinilla-Ibraz et al., 2006). Briefly 1 x 10⁶ T2 cells were washed in serum free RPMI 1640, and incubated overnight at 37°C 5% CO_2/95% air with 10 μ g/ml β_2 -microglobulin (Sigma-Aldrich, Dorset, UK) and optimal test peptide concentration (25µg/ml). T2 cells were then washed to remove peptide not bound to HLA-A*02, in serum free RPMI 1640 (Life Technologies, Fulton, UK) media and stained with mouse monoclonal anti-w6/32 (w6/32 is the name of the cell line first used to produce the antibody) IgG2a conjugated to Phycoerythin (PE) (Abcam, Cambridge, UK) for 30 minutes, followed by washing (x3 in RPMI 1640 at 500g) to remove unbound antibody and fixing with 0.5% paraformaldehyde (Sigma-Aldrich, Dorset, UK)/0.05M PBS (Life Technologies, Fulton, UK). Analysis was performed using a FACSCalibur (BD biosciences, Oxford, UK) flow cytometer and fluorescence measured upon the FL-2 channel. Negative controls of DMSO alone and Class II derived peptides in DMSO, previously described as being able to be bound by HLA class II molecules (Costantino et al., 2012) which were a kind gift from Dr Aravind Chekuri (St James University Hospital, Leeds, UK) were also used. Gates were set using a monoclonal isotype IgG2a PE conjugate control (Abcam, Cambridge, UK). Positivity was calculated by means of a fluorescence Index (FI), this being:

FI test peptide – FI negative control

FI negative control

A FI >0.5 was considered positive, which corresponds with the previously reported methods of determining positive reactions within this assay (Zhu *et al.*, 2003; Stuber *et al.*, 1994)

2.2.9 Reproducibility of assays described in section 2

All experiments described within this chapter were set up in triplicate, and repeated on at least three occasions unless otherwise stated.

Create a bioinformatic database of potential HLA-A*02 binding peptides derived from HLA class I a-chain sequences	 Obtain amino acid sequences from the HLA/IM GT database for all HLA class I a-chains listed Enter sequences into the SYFPEITHI peptide prediction software and calculate probability of binding to HLA -A *02 For the top 10 ranked peptides for each HLA class I a-chains entered, record the sequence in the bioinformatic database along with the calculated molecular weight, sequence position and SYFPEITHI score
Obtain HLA-A*02 bound peptides from the THP-1 cell line	 •Lyse THP-1 cells with a glass homogeniser and isolate membrane fraction by ultracentrifugation • Perform dynabead isolation of membrane fraction to obtain HLA-A*02 molecules • Separate isolated HLA-A*02 molecules via SDS MOPS, or using AKTA purification
Perform MALDI MS and MS/MS to identify peptides bound by HLA- A*02 molecules	 Compare m/z ratio of peptides obtained to those predicted in the peptide database Investigate any peptide 'hits' within the database and perform MS/MS peptide sequencing upon the isolated peptide, and a synthetic peptide which possesses the same sequence as that identified in the database for comparision
М С'	
Confirm binding to HLA- A*02 via peptide binding assay using the T2 cell line	 Confirm any peptide for which the same mass spectra is observed for the synthesized peptide as that obtained from THP-1 cells can bind to the T2 cell line
v; .	

Figure 2.2 An overview of the work flow for experimental methods utilised within Chapter 2.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Generation of the HLA-A*02 specific HLA class I derived peptide database The peptide database currently contains nearly 3000 peptides, with sequences derived from HLA class I molecules, which are predicted to bind to HLA-A*02 encoded antigens with a high affinity, according to the algorithm utilized within the SYFPEITHI program. A screenshot of the database is shown in Figure 2.3. The database groups peptides into the 10 top scoring peptides for each HLA allele, these alleles in turn are grouped into P groups (i.e. they contain the same protein sequence within their peptide binding region). The database was structured in this way to keep the data as concise as possible to aide in searching. For each peptide sequence recorded, the HLA alleles encoding the peptide are shown, along with the position of the peptide sequence within the HLA allele encoding it, followed by the score assigned by the SYFPEITHI program and then the calculated molecular weight. This allows the database to be searched for peptide sequences which match a particular molecular weight, or to search for peptides derived from particular regions within the amino acid sequences of the HLA-class I α -chain. This is achieved by using the 'find' function within the Microsoft excel program. For searching for a peptide of a molecular weight of 999 Da, for example the user would enter 999 in the 'find' function, and any peptide with this molecular weight can be viewed and searched through, recording the alleles encoding the peptide, the peptide sequence and position of the peptide as the user progresses through the search.

2.3.3 Obtaining peptides from HLA-A*02 molecules

In order to validate the database, peptides were obtained from HLA-A*02 molecules expressed by the THP-1 cell line. Figure 2.4 shows the eluted products of the Dynabead isolation of HLA-A*02 by the HLA-A*02 specific BB7.2 monoclonal antibody, from the membrane fraction of THP-1 cells. The gel was stained via the sensitive silver staining method, and the images reveal three distinct bands obtained by the immunoprecipitation, this corresponds to previously described properties of BB7.2 (Peace-Brewer *et al.,* 1996; Brady *et al.,* 2000). The three bands visible have been described as a result of different sialic acid / glycosylation states by these authors. 'In gel' digests were performed upon all three excised bands and multiple common

00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	* N 0 N N N 0 N 0 N 0 * N 0 N 0 % 8 0 (N 0 N 0 N 0 N 0	"CCFFW~ DÒ mo N®86 3 " * 7 S2:0 € So
∎000AP 3?	* s ON ID • ID o 9 ON ID 0 0 0 H 00 0 0	200H" CO ^{ε Β} 3· DB D
g o H H	(N 0 0 * 00 0 N 00 0 N 00 * N 00	₽ bimSo Son Son Son Son Son Son Son Son Son S
* K ?s s *	in" CD N CN H CO O ON H CD ~ O H CD ~ (N H *	а.«вr!3;СС 238∘gS
o10 (64)⊖ O−t	0 0 0N * S N t ID 0 Q !N	S° So Dec Do
		n o o

each Pgroup are shown here due to the large size of the database.

00 H N H B 00 00 H H (N ON H H (7) B

CÔ

peptides were identified within the bands as would be expected from a single HLA-A*02 encoded antigen.

Separation of the BB7.2 purified product from the Superdex 75 column reveals several protein peaks, as determined by measurement of absorbance at 280nm, as fractions were eluted from the column (Figure 2.5). The reported optimum separation capacity of the Superdex 75 column is between 70,000-3,000Da, as a consequence the fractions most likely to contain the peptide, which were obtained from bound HLA-A*02 (approximately 500-1,500Da), would be expected to be eluted off within the last fractions from the column. The last fractions collected showed a corresponding estimated size of approximately 1000Da, according to the characteristics of the column in terms of the elution time for the protein standards.

2.3.4 MALDI MS for preliminary identification of peptides

The MALDI MS of the peptides produced by both methods, produced MS spectra containing peptides, which were within the size range of peptides which expected to be bound by HLA class I molecules (approximately 500-1500Da) (Figures 2.6, 2.7 and 2.8). MALDI MS analysis of the matrix only, aided determination of the m/z peaks which were associated with the matrix, allowing analysis of true peptide m/z data only. The m/z ratios of the peptides were entered into the peptide database, as described in section 2.2.7. Hits within the database are marked on the MS spectra. Figure 2.6 shows 8 peptides with m/z ratios ranging from 1013.66 to 1098.01. When these were entered into the peptide database, 1013.66, 1050.12, 1066.08 and 1098.01 produced a hit with potential sequences of VMAPRTLIL and/or VMAPRTLLL (1013.66), QLRALEGT (1050.12), YLENGKETL (1066.08) and YWDGETRKV (1098.01) being given, these were shown to be encoded for by various HLA molecules by the peptide database.

In terms of the size of the peptides within the final fractions eluted from the Superdex 75 column, the MALDI MS analysis determined their size to be within 900 and 1200Da as expected by the determined characteristics of the column (Figure 2.5[B]). Furthermore, MALDI MS/MS established the sequences corresponded with those peptides obtained from the excised gel fragments and 'in gel' digests, and those from the column separation.

superdex 75rich001::1_Fractions superdex 75rich001:1_Logbor							
iex 75rich001:1_UV1_280m							uªH o₋C CC 1∎▼
uedns 3	Q	8	o	o	o	o	

Β ¢[°] θ[™] τ Ωτα Ο ἐ ΕΙ ao



ro Е е тр а.е с⊥ С С С С С LD c cud c $a^{\frac{1}{2}}a^{\frac{1}{2}}b^{\frac{1}{2}}a^{\frac{1}{2}}a$ <u>ຍຼ</u>ີດ"ເຄີຍ ເຄີຍ ເລີຍ **B**

aj

CM to



ĽD



to 10 0) a. 0 ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ с 0) t≯O c ⊍ -**x D a a** . O) **h** f ∎ Zage စမ္းစု ကိုင္ေနာင္ စက္ေနာင္ေန ດ√ z ອ¥້ວເ≖ ຂເາຊ ຂຸດ ∜ຂເາະ ຳ ຢູ່ດ ∜ດ ຊ່າຊະ

to

2.3.5 Determination of HLA type for THP-1 cells and characterisation of HLA derived peptides bound to HLA-A*02

The cell line validation of THP-1 included the determination of the HLA type, this identified a discrepancy with the previously reported HLA type for THP-1 (Tsuchiya *et al.*, 1980), allowing a higher resolution revised THP-1 HLA type, HLA-A*02; B*15; C*03; DRB1*01, DRB1*15; DRB5*01/02; DQB1*05, DQB1*06, to be determined (Battle *et al.*, 2012). The previous type being reported as HLA-A2, A9, B5, DRw1 and DRw2 (Tsuchiya *et al.*, 1980) (the nomenclature used here corresponds to the contemporary system at the time of THP-1 cell line establishment), specifically the reported higher resolution type now includes alleles at the additional HLA-C*, DRB5*, and DQB1* loci, and identifies HLA-A as being homozygote for HLA-A*02 rather than co-expressing HLA-A9. The HLA-B* alleles were shown to be B*15 rather than those encoding for the B5 antigen, and finally the reported DRw2 serological antigen is split into the DRB1*15 alleles which encode for the DRw2 antigen.

The HLA type of THP-1 included those antigens which encoded the peptides identified as hits within the database from the MALDI MS data in Figure 2.6 VMAPRTLIL (1013.66) being encoded for by HLA-C*03, QLRALEGT (1050.12) by HLA-A*02, YLENGKETL (1066.08) by HLA-A*02 and B*15, and YWDGETRKV (1098.01) encoded for by HLA-A*02.

VMAPRTLLL (1013.66) was not encoded for by HLA molecules expressed upon THP-1. The peptide database identified VMAPRTLLL as being encoded for by HLA-A*01, A*03, A*11, A*29, A*30, A*31, A*32, A*33, A*36, A*74; C*02, C*15 molecules. All the HLA alleles which are capable of encoding the peptides identified in Figure 2.6 and producing hits within the peptide database are shown in table 2.2. In addition the table catalogues all peptides identified as hits within the database within figures 2.7 and 2.8. Showing a total of thirteen peptides, seven of which produced hits within the database. The MALDI MS spectrum in Figure 2.7 reveals a single peptide hit, ALGFYPAEI (MW 980 Da) which is encoded by HLA molecules which include HLA-B*15 antigen on THP-1. Two other peptides did not produce a hit within the database. In Figure 2.8 two further hits were observed, with peptides SMRYFTTSV (MW 1137 Da) and SMRYFYTSV (MW 1153 Da), both of which are encoded by THP-1 cells.

H L x 0 D 0 <td< th=""><th></th><th></th><th>* * *</th><th>3 1.0 \mathbb{R}^{-1} .0 \mathbb{R}^{-1}</th><th>Πြင္း ေရႊလီ အေနြာ္လဲ လူ ေဒာ စာက ကို ကေတ်ဥာ္ ေရာက္ စီ က တဲြ က တဲြ ေ ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေရာက္ စီး ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေစာက္ ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေစာက္ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေစာက္ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေစာက္ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေစာက္ ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေစာက္ ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေစာက္ ေရာက္ ေ စာက ေရာက္ ေ စာက ေရာက္ ေ</th></td<>			* * *	3 1.0 \mathbb{R}^{-1} .0 \mathbb{R}^{-1}	Πြ င္း ေရႊလီ အေနြာ္လဲ လူ ေဒာ စာက ကို ကေတ်ဥ ာ္ ေရာက္ စီ က တဲြ က တဲြ ေ ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေရာက္ စီး ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေစာက္ ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေစာက္ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေစာက္ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေစာက္ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေစာက္ ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေစာက္ ေရာက္ ေရာက္ ေစာက္ ေရာက္ ေ စာက ေရာက္ ေ စာက ေရာက္ ေ
⊗	8 4 0	00	OF No	ID ID O	LO T3 3 4 2 3 1 0 3 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

ID ID

Х Ю

v_ FYβ∧

ନ୍ମର

Those peptides which did not produce a hit within the peptide database are also shown within table 2.2 which include masses of 1002, 1018, 1029, 1031, 1060 and 1082 Da. Other peaks within the MS spectra shown within figures 2.6, 2.7 and 2.8 represent those associated with the MALDI matrix used within the method to aid the ionisation of the proteins. The m/z ratio of 1013.66 was the only result which provided two hits within the database, all other peaks resulted in a single, or no hit within the database. In addition the 1013.66 m/z ratio was the only peak which resulted from a HLA molecule which was not encoded for by THP-1 cells. Albeit this was in conjunction with a peptide hit which did have a HLA molecule encoding it, which was demonstrated as being expressed upon THP-1 cells, VMAPRTLIL (1013.66), being encoded for by HLA-C*03 on THP-1 cells. The identification of peptides in this manner produced a tentative identification, which required further analysis to confirm that the sequences of the peptides identified by their MW, have the same amino acid sequences as those within the peptide database.

2.3.6 MALDI MS/MS sequencing of peptides identified in 2.3.4

In order to confirm the identity of the peptide sequences MALDI MS/MS was performed. Table 2.3 and 2.4 shows the predicted fragmentation products of the peptides identified with a MW of 1013Da. These being VMAPRTLIL and VMAPRTLLL, which were obtained using the MS product peptide fragment calculator (www.prospector.ucsf.edu). Tables 2.3 provides the MW of the b, c, y and z ions (as per Roepstorff-Fohlmann-Biemann nomenclature described in section 2.1.5) which would be expected to be produced if the peptide was in fact VMAPRTLIL, while table 2.4 contains a more comprehensive list of potential peptide fragmentation products, which includes fragmentation products which have lost H₂O, NH₂ and COOH groups (amongst others) during the MS/MS analysis. Unfortunately, as VMAPRTLIL and VMAPRTLLL differ only by the presence of amino acids leucine and isoleucine, at the same positions within the peptide, and both of these amino acids have the same molecular weight (131.18 Da), their fragmentation patterns are identical. This confounds the ability to determine between them in this manner and only the presence of both of these peptides should be considered. The fragmentation pattern observed during MALDI MS/MS does however match the expected patterns of these two peptides (Figure 2.9).

1	1	a	хı	rH	132 1019	116.0832		
882 523	809.5495	00	-	Ъ	245.186	229.1672		
769.4389	7864665		L-	cn	368.27	342 2513		
6663548	673.3814	LO	н		459.3177	443.299		LO £ O X
5053072	572 3337	un		un	881VS19	599.4001		тз С Ю > ЈЗ
309.2061	416.2326		8	LO	91LVZIL	i i		0 I - CL <
302 1533	i	cn	- < -		783,5087	767.49		ہ <mark>کام</mark> م
231.1162	248.1427	۵۷	S	00	914.5492	898,5305		m— 0 L0 t; 3 T3 0 ^
	zzorai	rH	>	aL	1			£.2 P £ a E
X!	u		Peptide Sequence		>0	И		50 <u>№</u> 130 10 3 U 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10

LD ۰ ۲۹۰ **کابة ۵۵۵** ۱

 Ο
 51
 H
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G
 G င္းေရးက အေန႔တာကာ ဗ ေၾကာင္ရာ ရွာရော အားစားေဒ ေအျ⊲ယ ေဆြးေရွာ 8 ျ⇔ုလ ဦယ ေတြေ့ေနာ с а Ш ²² a **F** 200, 20 -a cu TJ cu Q. (U م <mark>ہم ∳2</mark> O ں **ں**2

0 LD



^ª ¶¶

The predicted m/z ratios are shown in bold. Calculated using MS Product (prospector.ucsf.edu) and checked using Hoffmann and Stroobant (2007).



0

см св в оц оц об об об об об об об об об об

o CO

siunoo 'Aiisuaiui

In an additional confirmation step, a synthetic peptide commercially synthesized to have the same sequence as VMAPRTLIL was also subjected to MALDI MS/MS. This also shows the same peptide fragmentation products induced through collision induced dissociation (CID) during MS/MS (Figure 2.10). This reveals a MS/MS spectrum that matches the predicted peptide fragmentation patterns of VMAPRTLIL given in tables 2.2 and 2.3, and the peptide fragmentation pattern seen within the MS/MS spectrum of the peptide identified by the MW of 1013 Da. Confirming that this is most likely either peptide VMAPRTLIL or VMAPRTLLL. As the MALDI MS/MS was able to confirm the presence of either VMAPRTLIL or VMAPRTLLL, but not determine between them, the flow cytometry T2 peptide binding assay was used to establish if both of these peptides could in fact be bound by HLA-A*02, the source of the initial bound peptides. Figure 2.11 presents this data as overlaid flow cytometry histograms, demonstrating assay validity via the positive and negative controls and then showing the overlaid VMAPRTLIL peptide result over the negative control. This demonstrates this peptide binds to HLA-A*02 on the T2 cells. However, the VMAPRTLLL peptide does not appear to stabilize the HLA-A*02 molecules present on T2 cells. This can be seen in the histogram showing the VMAPRTLLL peptide laid over the negative control. Comparison of the histograms shows VMAPRTLIL strongly stabilizes the HLA-A*02 molecules, while VMAPRTLLL closely resembles the negative control.

Interestingly the peptide database reveals that both the VMAPRTLLL and VMAPRTLIL peptides are found at a common site of their respective HLA antigens, both being present at position 3 of the HLA-class I α -chain. This region contains the leader peptide sequences of HLA class I molecules, and was investigated further in chapter 3. However, since the leader peptides appear to have common characteristics, an analysis was performed to determine if any other leader sequences could be bound by HLA-A*02. Commercially synthesized leader peptides were subjected to the same T2 binding assay as the VMAPRTLLL and VMAPRTLIL peptides.

This reveals that VMAPRTLIL (identified as leader peptide 7 and highlighted yellow) is the only leader peptide which is capable of binding to HLA-A*02 as this is the only peptide stabilizing HLA-A*02 at the surface, all the other leader peptides, shown in Figure 2.12 as leaders 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9 and 10 (with their sequences also given), have a FI of less than 0.5.

О 8 0 8Ш8Ш а ⁸ 85	8 + 8
i 비영법 이 있 다. 이 시 않아졌지요 이 입경제 20	592 ♦83°44°°4°, Os_oo49°, of 3330550588
0 I- +	h- ℃ ■ ™

000000 €2 × 10

QD-Q

см **ј**-б

sjunoo 'Ajjsuaiui

Т3 СО တင်္သင္က အက်န္က အက္က အမာရာ ၀၀ အမ်ိဳးရမ္က ဆိုလ္လဲ လုတ္လဲ လုတ လုတ္လဲ လုတ္လဲ လုတ္လဲ လုတ္လဲ လုတ္လဲ လုတ္လဲ လုတ္လဲ လုတ္လဲ လုတ္ရဲ့ လုတ္လဲ လုတ္လဲ လုတ္လဲ လုတ္လဲ လုတ္လဲ လုတ္လဲ လုတ္လ 300000 CA2 Bai≺ xs CD CUD œ CUD ദ്പാ ലംപം ലംപം ലംപം œ ÌQ. BQ. 03 _ , to (0, 10 40 to <u>.</u>0. . 03 E со -Q **<** CO ၞ₀ೞ ಱಕಿ_{ಡಿ_4} ೞ. ∝ ₀₃ 30

٢N

								∎a 0) •- 3 m E g c u c M	a> iaj 15 ∪;a j 2_i⊔ α	
	09	stro º8				ਸ਼ਿਲੀਡੋਡੋਸ਼ ੦ੱਤਰਿਰੁਕੰਪਰ ਹੋ ਅਖ਼ੇ, ਰਾਮੇਡੋਰਾ ਸ਼ੁਤਾਰੁਕ ਤਿਆਂ ਇਹਾਰ ਦਾ ਜੋ ਨਿਸ਼ਾਰ ਨੇ ਗੁਣਾਂ ਪਿੰਧਾ ਹੋ ਤਾ ਹੋ ਤੋ ਸ਼ੁਤਾਰ ਰਾਮੇਕ ਦਿਹਾ ਪਿੰਧਾ ਗੁਣਾਰਾ ਦਾ ਨਾ ਗੁਣਾਰਾ ਹੈ ਕਰ	× ×∗ R عادة ×₽,00 كوفية ב∎يتق Main 8	سعے چ ⊴ پہ تھے ¢ں میں میں ہے ہے ہے ہے کہ کھند سطح کامہ کے علاقہ کا میں	ိဒာ° 6 ဒံရ အ∹ိုတိုင်း∿ဋ္ဌသဂ ် ဦး ဥ	usly shown as unable to bind to the class I HLA-A*02
09	09	30000 08	OZ	01	0	o la a c la a α c la boo a a of control a con	8ء. 1923 کے ≊ دع اا ں⊽ 12¦ہ ⊰ ں8 12 دوں 10 ہوں 10 ہوں 90 کوں	ی <mark>بک</mark> وک¶مة عدم معدمین و 89⊈پ ₅ ع	0 ہے۔ جو م¦ہ ہے تی ہے ہو 12 عاص	igative control was an HA dass Il binding peptide previ

08 0*L*

		ro ro ≩ ro IJ	ري م م -3 ro	○ r I ", IJ				
α							"∞cd corte or C^ ≊oo	∨∃ <u></u> a o x i ∧
D							rH 0) 73 ⁵5 aa)a 73 °CU-	√ ≻ ₽8†⊔ <u>1</u>
^{LO} rsi Ajjs							rv د ۹ مرفΩ م ما∯ع دوم. ممالي ممالي من مالي من	ν ^ ₽ <u>8</u> Τ'_Υ _
r∖i suaj								<u> 8 _ `</u>
, vi O							ro ■S P Q. ID Q. <i>i</i> - ro 73 ro ro _1	<u> </u>
.0 i DU()I							m_LO 11073 Praroa roaroro⊔_	<u>,</u> ⊥, ΔΩ, μ,
Dsaj							VO vo p a ro Q ro - a ro ro	v + ^ P& † v <u> _</u>
o o jon j							rs Pairoa rozzoro-	 ^ P&T _ _
							00 00 ro300 or a Li ro3 ro ro-	<u>, ∧ ₽8^ 'L'</u>
0	,						o t to	∧ g × _
	Q -	ω	LO Q. OJ CL		o CD		orH orH ro ₽ 0.200 Lie 73 e re-	× × ₽8TĽTL_
< rvi ⊞ ¢	Ро а. Е о		73 73 73 73 (U > X at 73	bO c 15 to a; ; □ a u a t c	Ği & <₁ 3 x ∘	ชี ช	IO u ÇM	

to Co H d 73 ° ° = 73 d ьо Ю u c an 3 C C U to U B 3230° 348% 43° 12 010 4% -f= cu DC Q K 0 73 C TO a. < > 00 1_ 3 bo u_

αυ

bo .E c r-

FO 20 20 C - 73 C - Q

This includes the VMAPRTLLL peptide (also highlighted yellow to enable easier comparison with VMAPRTLIL), this again confirms that VMAPRTLIL is able to be bound by HLA-A*02 and VMAPRTLLL is not.

Considering that THP-1 cells do not express the HLA molecules which include a VMAPRTLLL peptide, and that the VMAPRTLLL peptide cannot be bound by HLA-A*02, the molecule used as a source of these peptides, then the VMAPRTLLL peptide is extremely unlikely to be the potential 1013 MW peptide identified in the peptide database. The VMAPRTLLL peptide however, which was also identified within the database, can be bound to HLA-A*02 and is also present in one of the HLA molecules which is expressed upon THP-1, specifically the HLA-C*03 molecule.

MALDI MS/MS of the other peptides identified as hits within the peptide database did not suffer the potentially confounding problems of two identical peptide masses being identified within the peptide database. Of those other peptides tentatively identified by the peptide database and MALDI MS, the peptide with the ALGFYPAEI (MW 980) sequence was the only other peptide which was present within the HLA molecules present upon THP-1 cells, which was also not present in the HLA-A*02 molecule (table 2.2), ALGFYPAEI being present in the HLA-B*15 molecule on THP-1 cells. Again to confirm its identity MALDI MS/MS sequencing was performed.

The fragmentation products which would be expected from the ALGFYPAEI (MW 980) peptide are shown in table 2.5 for the b, c, y and x ions and table 2.6 for other potential fragmentation products.

The MALDI MS/MS spectrum for ALGFYPAEI (Figure 2.13) reveals a fragmentation pattern which matches that predicted for ALGFYPAEI, confirming the presence of this peptide. Therefore both ALGFYPAEI and VMAPRTLIL are confirmed as being bound by HLA-A*02. Neither of these peptides sequences are present in HLA-A*02 molecules, indicating that they are a result of peptides being bound by HLA-A*02. The ALGFYPAEI peptide is found within the HLA-B*15 molecule (table 2.2) present upon THP-1 cells, and this peptide is then presented by HLA-A*02. Interestingly ALGFYPAEI is present in several other HLA alleles according to the peptide database, these being HLA-A*01, A*03, A*11, A*23, A*24, A*30; B*15, B*18, B*27, B*35, B*38, B*39, B*40, B*41, B*42, B*44, B*45, B*46, B*47, B*48, B*49,

1	1	a	I	Ŧŧ	132 1019	116.0832	
8494141	8664407	00	u	CN	261.1445	2451258	
7203715	1965.782	IN	<	со	332 1816	316 1629	
649.3344	195.360	LO	ω	N"	429.2344	S	
5522817	I	LO	>	LO	<i>1162 28</i> 5	576279	
3892183	4062449		b	LO	1995-052	7233474	
242 1400	239,1765	со	w	IN	796.3876	68021082	
185 1285	202 155	CN		00	909:4716	8034529	
I	80//088	tH	<	OL			
-Q	o		Peptide sequence		>>	N	

PCoxport > u q ∎ ဒေβπા႐Ωၨးa Խ ၐ ຯ ု စ င⁴ေငၨၭ ဒ ο [†] ၉ Δ Ω [−] Γ [−] Υ ^{0 ∧} Π in ∂**Q**|q22

CN C O [0**6**] _____ ____ _____ _____ ______ ______ **Ҽ_{ҏっっ}ӡш**_{²,。。}。ш₅,_{ср} **∿ ၀၀ ઽ ⊉ပΩ**၀၀၀¢**ຊိပ** 2 ၀၀ 2 Ω ဗြင်္ဂဗြင္နာဗီးျ။ ေရႊတြင္ေရာင္းလဲလ္က ဂ က်မ္းေခြက္မွာလို မြတ္မရွမ္းေလာက္ရာမ်ိဳးေရး သိတ္လာေဒ လို အေရာ္ ဥေဒာင္ေမာ္ကေတြ ဥေလာက္က က်မ္းေနာ္လာက္ကေန႔ ရာက္မရွာ္ၿမိဳးေလာက္ေနာ္ကြင့္ မရာေရာ္ ေနာ္လာတ္လာေဒ လို က်မ္းေနာ္ ေရာ္ကေတာ္က က်မ္းေနာ္က က်မ္းေနာ္ကေလာက္က ေရာက္မရွာေလာက္က အေရာ္ကေနာ္က ေရာက္ကားေရာက္ေရာက္ေရာက္ေရာက္ေရာက္ အေရာက္က က်မ္းေကာ္က က်မ္းေရာက္က က်မ္းေနာ္က က်မ္းက်မ္းေလာက္က ေရာက္က အေရာက္က ေရာက္က အေရာက္က ေရာက္က ေရာက္က ေရာက္က ေ ۵۵ ۵۳ Ω°

m

to N

LO CUD C o[≖] po 0° po 0° po og^ė le x9 51 **00 "5** ro 0



œ

B*50, B*51, B*52, B*53, B*54, B*55, B*56, B*57 (table 2.2), incorporating both HLA-A and B alleles. The VMAPRTLIL peptide in comparison is present in several HLA-C molecules, specifically HLA-C*01, C*03, C*04, C*05, C*06, C*08, C*12, C*14, C*16, C*17:02 (table 2.2).

2.3.7 Assessing peptide binding to HLA-A*02 via the T2 peptide binding assay As with peptide VMAPRTLIL, to ensure peptide ALGFYPAEI was capable of being bound to HLA-A*02, the T2 binding assay was performed for ALGFYPAEI. The results of this experiment are shown in Figure 2.14 and reveal ALGFYPAEI has a FI of 1.5, demonstrating binding, highlighted in yellow and identified as peptide 19. In addition to this data, Figure 2.14 also contains the T2 binding assay data of 8 peptides commercially synthesized from sequences contained within the peptide database. 8 peptides within the database were selected at random. The T2 binding assay of these peptides, reveals two peptides had a FI of greater than 0.5 demonstrating they are correctly predicted as being able to bind to HLA-A*02. The remaining six did not bind with FI of less than 0.5.A final peptide with the sequence of SMRYFYTSV, identified as peptide 20 in Figure 2.14, is also shown as not binding to HLA-A*02 (FI<0.5). This peptide is present in one of the HLA antigens expressed by THP-1 cells, HLA-A*02 and also by six other HLA-A allele groups which are not present on THP-1 cells, HLA-A*11, A*25, A*26, A*34, A*66 and A*68. The SMRYFYTSV peptide was tentatively identified within the peptide database after a providing a hit from the MALDI MS (Figure 2.8) with a MW of 1153 Da, and was speculatively synthesized for the T2 binding assay. The lack of binding within this assay however means it is unlikely to be the correct sequence. In order to confirm this, MALDI MS/MS analysis was performed upon the identified MW 1153 Da peptide. The fragmentation products for SMRYFYTSV predicted to be present are given in table 2.7 and 2.8, while the MS/MS spectrum for the MW 1153 Da peptide is shown in Figure 2.15. The MS/MS spectrum does not correspond to the predicted fragmentation products, with the only fragmentation product observed being that of arginine, as indicated on the spectrum. Demonstrating that the peptide with the MW of 1153 Da, is not the SMRYFYTSV peptide which produced a hit within the database, although it does contain arginine. A summary of these experiments is shown in table 2.9, which provides the sequences of all the potential peptides tentatively identified as hits within the peptide database, followed by the results of the MALDI MS/MS analysis and the T2 peptide



						T3 C0 L0 CM CM CO +₂²	
crv	>	т4	1180863	102.0675		адина В в в в в в в в в В в в в в в в в в в в	
со	C/5	CN	2051183	189,0996		Qi -a reuc	r [.]
	н	00	309190S	290 1472		од Шос ос б	u2g 00 1
vO	>*		469.2293	4632106		ш ^{га} ן 8- оо⊵ п	μο τ3 ο Ο ο ο Ω
LO	u.	LO	6162977	600279	ão∘ X ooã	to	Eitox Bc
N*	>	vo	192611	7633423	>	ä. U 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	тз С О О а
ro	005	r^-	9354621	919.4434	<u>≻</u> ⊔ ш, Н	<u>פ</u> רט ו	■a c IO *3* T3 CU
CN	р	00	1006.503	1050-484	to M⊢O tj ∎	pallage ¹ ac	0öper O⊮⊷;
14	8	Ov	Ĭ	S	ပဝသ္ကာပုံဝ	rð ti	U ³ T3 C C L
	Peptide sequence		>0	Ν	ଽ ଅନ୍ତି: ୮୯၉ ସ୍ୱେମ୍ଟ୍ରାକ୍ଟି ସୁହିଯା	■a CU T3	
	αν co νΟ cn τ 4	co C/5 H VO >+ LO u. N* > ro ccs cN p T1 00 seduence	crv > T-4 co C/5 CN H 00 vO >+ . LO u. LO N ⁺ > VO rO cos. r^- CN p 00 T4 CO ov table Ov ov	T Sequence M<	T 2 3	Image: Line betweet the sequence <	I Q Q Z Z C S

Products include those which have lost components, such as H20, and internal peptide fragment ions are shown. Calculated using MS Product (prospector.ucsf.edu) and checked using Hoffmann and Stroobant (2007).



oʻ'\v i£E≩euhoB24

ᇤᇗᆂᅅᇊᇬᇛᅾᇾᅋᆕᆸᇑᡆᠬᢩᡶᠺ。ᇙᡖᠣᢄᡦ᠂ᡆ᠔᠌᠌ᡈᡨᡊᡋᡱᡆᡷᡊᡖᢩᡱᡠᡒᢩᡰᡪᡏᠳᢑᡆᡗᡱᠯᡒᢄᡊᢩᠷᠮᡖ᠙ᠮᡗᡟᠮᡋ᠈ᢅᢅᢄᡃᡅᢩᡟᡷ᠍ᡂᡖᡠᢁᢛ᠌᠈ᡂᢛ᠈ᡷ᠉ᡃᡂᢛ᠄᠂ᠹᠶᡰᡣᡱᡊᢖᡦᢖᡗᢍᡡ᠌ ᡂ᠂ᡠᡄᢛᡶᢐᡆᠷ

a a ≪3: ⊡≊⊃				90 № . Ω. 09 ĭ_15 №	ſŎ	
*- 10 P P W T W	C 3 Clao	С С	eo Ch ⁵ ک ⁴ ک ⁴ ک ⁴ ک ⁴ ک ⁴ ک	ي 19		* ∎₀₃ S\$\$3ö₫₀
		 a. ⊥⊥ e? ₹ 	۵ ۲		rg ri N N CN CO CD m n0 CH D D N N N CD D D N N N CD D D N N N CD D D CD N N CD D D QQ CD D D N T QQ CO CQ CQ CQ CQ M N N N N N N QQ CO CQ CQ CQ CQ CQ M N N N N N N QQ CO CQ CQ CQ CQ N N g N N N N N N N N A LO CQ CQ CQ CQ CD N N X CQ CQ CQ CQ	යා >-
ro ⊬ O			aj >		られていた。 19年、コーステ、コースの。。 19年、コーステ、コースの。 19年、コースのの。 19年、コースのの。 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日 19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、19日、	
			ଘ >-	QD a; z	8°. ∧*å. × å. × å. 88. 88°. ∧*å. × å. * å. 88. ≥ %. * * å. * 88.	
ro		N ^B AP		Τ3 Ου Ε Ου Ο	∧ o≅ ∧ ∧ *	⊺3 ດຸມ ດູ. 0
កែ		> LO DC		පිට	A QF, A ≟≟, A ≙6. A 87 ^ *66^ *68	
ID O		DALL ID		τ₅ ຜ Ε ຊ.	000 100 <td>"o aj E aj Q.</td>	"o aj E aj Q.
E Ω T 3 in Q Q fN Q Q fN Q ro L0 x 1 O	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	in 100 a. i ⊂o <a< td=""><td>Sb ···<!--</td--><td>coa: ° ස් ත්රි ප්රි</td><td>ba^t ∂a ba^{do} da bado da contra da cont</td><td>ကြ ဖွမံ_{တီ}တိုရ ကြ</td></td></a<>	Sb ··· </td <td>coa: ° ස් ත්රි ප්රි</td> <td>ba^t ∂a ba^{do} da bado da contra da cont</td> <td>ကြ ဖွမံ_{တီ}တိုရ ကြ</td>	coa: ° ස් ත්රි ප්රි	ba ^t ∂a b a ^{do} da b ado da contra da cont	ကြ ဖွ မံ _{တီ} တိုရ ကြ

N -00 binding assay. This summary table includes three peptides which, as with the SMRYFYTSV peptide, were demonstrated as not corresponding to those providing a hit in the peptide database when analysed by MALDI MS/MS. These peptides have the following sequences and MW, SMRYFTTSV (1137 Da), TLLLLLLGA (926 Da) and YLENGKETL (1066 Da). Because the peptides were not confirmed as present by MALDI MS/MS they were not commercially synthesised to perform the T2 binding assay in order to reduce costs, with the exception of the TLLLLLLGA (926 Da) peptide, which was included in the random selection of peptides analysed in Figure 2.14, for their ability to bind to HLA-A*02 in the T2 assay, this produced a negative result.

In total, two peptides were confirmed as being bound by an HLA-A*02 molecule, these being ALGFYPAEI and VMAPRTLIL (highlighted in yellow in table 2.9), which were present in the HLA-B*15 and HLA-C*03 molecules respectively, expressed on the THP-1 cell line.

2.4 Discussion

The creation of a peptide database, which contains those sequences which are predicted as likely to be bound by HLA-A*02, and are themselves derived from HLA class I molecules, has provided a mechanism for identifying two peptides, which are encoded for by one HLA class I molecule and bound and presented by another (HLA-A*02). Specifically the ALGFYPAEI and VMAPRTLIL peptides, which are encoded for by HLA-B*15 and HLA-C*03 alleles within the THP-1 HLA type (Battle *et al.,* 2013) respectively. In addition to these alleles, several other HLA alleles encode these peptides, ALGFYPAEI is encoded for by HLA-A*01, A*03, A*11, A*23, A*24, A*30; B*15, B*18, B*27, B*35, B*38, B*39, B*40, B*41, B*42, B*44, B*45, B*46, B*47, B*48, B*49, B*50, B*51, B*52, B*53, B*54, B*55, B*56, B*57 and VMAPRTLIL by HLA-C*01, C*03, C*04, C*05, C*06, C*08, C*12, C*14, C*16 and C*17:02.

In terms of allorecognition this finding is of some significiance. If an allograft recipient has an HLA type which includes the HLA-A*02 molecule, but does not include include any of the other HLA molecules containing the ALGFYPAEI and VMAPRTLIL sequences, then the recipient will have had no experience of these peptides when central tolerance was established, although they will have been selected to recognise HLA-A*02 molecules.

As a consequence if the organ donor's HLA type included both the HLA-A*02 molecule as well as one (or more) of the HLA alleles encoding the ALGFYPAEI and VMAPRTLIL peptides, then the allograft recipient will be able to recognise the donor's HLA-A*02 and then form a response to the ALGFYPAEI and/or VMAPRTLIL peptide which is bound within it. This is a similar mechanism to that of mHAGs allorecognition, with the exception that instead of a non-HLA polymorphism encoding the protein being presented, it is another HLA antigen.

Extending this concept further, the HLA type of donor and recipient pair could be considered not only as being matched or mismatched in terms of their shared HLA molecules, but when they are mismatched, the extent to which their mismatches are able to generate peptides capable of being bound by the matched antigens could also be considered. In some situations permissible mismatches may be possible in this context. Whereby the HLA antigens which are mismatched contain either peptides
which cannot bind to the matched antigens, or have peptide sequences which are shared with other HLA antigens which the donor does possess.

The concept of matching of peptides in this manner would require a significant amount of time and effort to become fully realised. The work described here provides a proof of principle and includes only 3000 peptides within the peptide database, and only in the context of binding to the HLA-A*02 molecule. Both of these limitations would need to be expanded further to generate any realistic utlity. However the proof that alloresponses are derived from mismatching of peptides can be seen in the role of mHAG in HSCT cases, and via the concepts such as the binary complex theory.

In terms of the location of the peptides which were identified within chapter two, it is interesting to note that two peptides which were predicted as likely to bind to HLA-A*02 were leader peptides, and present at postition 3 of the α -chain. Analysis of the leader peptides is performed in greater detail within chapter three, which discusses the role which these peptides have within the immune system. However in terms of being able to be bound by HLA-A*02 only one of the leader peptides tested produced a postive HLA-A*02 T2 peptide binding assay result, the VMAPRTLIL peptide.

Chapter 2 provides a proof of principle of this approach to identifying the different peptides which are derived from one HLA molecule and presented by another.

In summary the work described includes:

- The creation of a peptide database, which contains peptides derived from HLA molecules predicted to be bound by HLA-A*02
- The utility of this peptide database in characterising peptides derived from one HLA molecule and presented by another
- The identification of peptides within this context, ALGFYPAEI and VMAPRTLIL, and demonstration of which HLA molecules these peptides can be derived from
- Evidence that only one HLA class I leader sequence peptide can be bound to HLA-A*02.

Chapter 3 – Endogenous derived class I leader peptides and renal transplant outcome

3.1.1 Introduction

In chapter 2 an endogenous HLA class I leader peptide was identified which bound to HLA-A*02 molecules. Specifically the leader peptide from HLA-C*03 molecule was detected on HLA-A*02 molecules expressed on THP-1 cells, which was used for the BB7.2 (anti-HLA-A*02) antibody targeted magnetic bead purification. Although there is variable interpretation of the use of the term leader peptide (Molhoj and Degan, 2004), in the cases of HLA class I derived leader peptides, which are reported within the literature (Lee et al., 1998; Braud et al., 1997), the definition of a peptide which 'directs the ribosome to the ER, and initiates the growing protein across it before being cleaved and secreted into the external environment', is appropriate here. These proteins are of potential significance within alloresponses, as they can clearly be presented at the cell surface by HLA, therefore they could be potential targets for recognition by CD8+ T cells if bound by HLA-Class I. The leader sequences would be present at high levels due to their secretion into the cytosol whenever HLA is synthesized, thus potentially providing an abundant target for alloreactive T cells in accordance with the principles discussed in chapter 1. Furthermore HLA class I leader sequences have been shown to have novel roles regarding non-classical HLA-E expression and function, which may have an influence upon the alloresponse (Petrie et al., 2008).

3.1.2 HLA class I leader peptides and HLA-E

Expression of HLA-E has been shown to rely significantly upon the binding of HLA class I leader sequences in a TAP dependent manner (Lee *et al.*, 1998). This expression is crucial for HLA-E to act as a ligand for the CD94/NKG2 family of receptors, which are expressed upon Natural Killer (NK) cells (Petrie *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore HLA-E has been shown to act as a presenter of antigen to the α - β TCR on T cells, via the presentation of cytomegalovirus (CMV) derived peptides in a HLA-E restricted manner to the α - β TCR of CD8⁺ T cells (Tamouza *et al.*, 2006; Allard *et al.*, 2012). Thus HLA-E mediated immunity spans both innate and adaptive immune responses. Currently the HLA/IMGT database lists 13 HLA-E alleles which encode for 5 proteins, however the reports within the literature regarding HLA-E focuses upon alleles HLA-E*01:03 and 01:01, as these are the only two widely represented alleles (Hosseini *et al.*, 2013).

The importance of HLA-E within the transplantation setting has received a relatively small amount of interest in comparison to classical HLA molecules. However several studies now suggest that HLA-E polymorphisms are associated with a lower incidence of GvHD and transplant related mortality (TRM) following HSCT (Hosseini *et al.*, 2013; Tamouza *et al.*, 2006; Danzer *et al.*, 2009). In particular a better overall survival was seen in patients homozygous for HLA-E*01:03, post HLA matched HSCT (Tamouza *et al.*, 2006; Danzer *et al.*, 2009). The influence of HLA-E within solid organ transplantation is relatively unreported; however HLA-E expression has been shown to be significantly increased within renal biopsy specimens undergoing a rejection event (Crispim *et al.*, 2008).

A comparison of the two most common alleles, HLA-E*01:01 and 01:03, reveals that they differ by a single amino acid at position 107, which is found within the α2 domain of HLA-E (Danzer *et al.*, 2009). This variation allows HLA-E*01:03 to bind the HLA class I derived leader peptides with a greater affinity than HLA-E*01:01, and consequently HLA-E*01:03 molecules are expressed at significantly higher numbers at the cell surface (Danzer *et al.*, 2009). Once at the cell surface, HLA-E interacts with the CD94/NKG2 family of receptors, which comprise both inhibiting (NKG2A and B) and activating receptors (NKG2C, E and F) on NK cells (Heatley *et al.*, 2013). Interaction of HLA-E with these activating and inhibitory receptors results in an activating or inhibitory signal to the NK cell, dependent upon the balance of these stimuli (Vales-Gomez *et al.*, 1999).

Interestingly the NKG2 inhibitory receptor, NKG2A, which prevents NK cell dependent cell lysis after activation, has been exploited by certain pathogenic viruses in an immunoevasive mechanism (Heatley *et al.*, 2013). As variation in the leader sequences bound by HLA-E affects the ability of CD94/NKG2 receptors to recognise their HLA-E target (Hoare *et al.*, 2008), certain CMV strains have evolved to take advantage of this, by mimicking HLA-class I leader sequences themselves. The human CMV strain AD169 for example, contains a nonomer sequence exactly homologous to a leader peptide sequence from HLA-C, which has been shown to upregulate HLA-E surface expression and inhibit NK mediated cell lysis (Tomasec *et al.*, 2000). This mimicry presumably evolved due to evolutionary pressure induced by the viral strategy of down regulating

classical HLA class I surface expression to avoid CD8+ cytotoxic T cell immunity (Mazzarino et al., 2005). Due to this down regulation of HLA class I, the virus becomes susceptible to NK mediated lysis mechanisms, which result from the detection of a reduction in surface expression in HLA. One such mechanism being a lack of HLA-E expression as a result of reduced leader peptide availability (a consequence of down regulating the classical HLA expression); by providing a homologous HLA-E leader sequence, AD169 maintains HLA-E surface expression (Mazzarino et al., 2005) and thus avoids the NK cell mediated lysis. Demonstrating the specificity of this mechanism, CMV specific effector memory cells, which target infected cells in an HLA-E restricted manner, are detectable only within those patients who do not have the leader peptide sequence mimicked by CMV within their HLA type (Mazzarino et al., 2005), i.e. patients who possess a different leader sequence to the one CMV is mimicking can effectively target and kill the viral infection. This finding has potentially profound implications in the setting of organ transplantation. Transplant recipients who possess CMV-specific effector memory cells, which are HLA-E restricted, and receive an allograft which expresses HLA class I molecules encoding the leader peptide mimicked by CMV, will form an alloresponse via the CMV specific memory effector cell recognition of leader peptide (mimicked by the CMV strain) and bound by HLA-E expressed on the allograft.

3.1.3 Allorecognition and HLA class I derived leader sequences

It is interesting to note that of the reports on HLA-E polymorphism and transplantation outcome, it is the HLA-E*01:03 allele, which encodes a surface antigen expressed at higher levels than its equally common counterpart HLA-E*01:01, that is associated with reduced TRM post HSCT, the explanation for this being the increased availability of HLA-E*01:03 to bind to inactivating CD94/NKG2 receptors (Hosseini *et al.*, 2013). Given this observation, the finding that changes within the leader peptide bound to HLA-E, can profoundly affect recognition by CD94/NKG2 receptors on NK cells in a discriminatory manner (Hoare *et al.*, 2008), and that they can be peptide specific (Lampen *et al.*, 2013) leads to the question of whether differences between donor and recipient leader sequences, due to classical HLA mismatches, would influence the post transplant outcome. This would result in alternative HLA-E/leader peptide combinations, which may prevent interaction with inactivating CD94/NKG2 receptors and lead to a cytolytic response.

Additional evidence for a potential influence of HLA class I derived leader sequences was provided by Allard and colleagues (2012), who showed that HLA-E restricted CD8+ T cells, responding to CMV infection in a renal transplant recipient, can be alloreactive when the CMV and mismatched donor class I antigens contain the same sequence, i.e. the HLA class I derived leader sequence and the CMV homologue for this sequence. Therefore evidence exists that HLA Class I derived leader sequences can influence both innate alloresponses through the change of recognition by CD94/NKG2 receptors, and adaptive alloresponses through HLA-E restricted CD8+ T cells.

3.1.4 Assessing the effect of endogenous HLA-Class I derived leader peptides upon transplant outcome

Given that it is clear that HLA-class I derived leader sequences can affect allorecognition, and that currently there is a lack of clinical data regarding any influence of differences, between the HLA class I derived leader peptides expressed between transplant donors and recipients on transplant outcome, this chapter will specifically assess matching levels of HLA class I derived leader sequences, between renal transplant donors and recipients, and relate the level of matching to transplant function, during the first 12 months post transplant.

3.2 Materials and Methods

A flowchart overview of all the methods described here is given at the end of the section on page 97, to provide an overview of the work flow.

3.2.1 Renal transplant recipients

A retrospective study of consecutive renal transplants carried out at St James University Hospital, Leeds, was undertaken in the form of a clinical audit. Ethical approval for the study approval was granted by Leeds central ethics committee and the local NHS research ethics committee. Approval letters are provided in the appendix.

3.2.2 Data collection

The data for over 300 renal transplant recipients was retrospectively analyzed for patient demographics, recipient sex and age, and transplant related variables: donor type (donation following brain stem death (DBD), donation following cardiac death (DCD) or live donation), presence of anti HLA IgG and whether it was donor specific (DSA), recipient HLA type, donor HLA type and recipient creatinine levels at 3, 9 and 12 months post transplant. When the laboratory data was incomplete e.g. no 12 month serum creatinine levels recorded, then the transplants were not included in the audit. This resulted in a total cohort of 139 renal transplant patients with complete datasets for analysis. Data was collected from the laboratory database at the Transplant Immunology Department, at St James University Hospital in Leeds. Where data was incomplete within these records the raw data was obtained from the patient's renal file, also held within the Transplant Immunology Department. With the exception of creatinine levels, which were obtained from the Proton database within the Renal unit at St James University Hospital.

3.2.3 Analysis of HLA class I leader sequence matching

To ensure a complete record of the currently defined HLA class I derived leader sequences, the HLA/IMGT database was searched for all recorded HLA-A*alleles (n=2365 alleles encoding n=1695 proteins), B* alleles (n=3005 alleles encoding n=2277 proteins) and C* alleles (n=1848 alleles encoding n=1321 proteins), and the amino acid sequence of the leader peptide encoded by each of these alleles was recorded.

Specifically, the leader sequence is located within the HLA-Class I α -chain at amino acid residues at position 3-11 (Braud *et al.,* 1997), this sequence was recorded along with the HLA type encoding it in a spreadsheet. This allowed for a comparison of the leader peptides between the recipient and donor pairs, by using their HLA typing data to establish the leader peptides encoded within their HLA types and then assessing the level of leader peptide matching between them.

3.2.4 *Post transplant renal function analysis*

Although serum creatinine level measurements taken at a single time point post transplant have previously been utilized, and validated, as an approach to assess post transplant outcome (Hariharan *et al.*, 2003), it can be influenced by a variety of factors, including sex, age and patient size. Therefore to accurately utilize the serum creatinine level data for renal function in this retrospective analysis, the change of serum creatinine level between 3 and 12 months post transplant was calculated for each recipient, by using data obtained from serum samples collected from the recipient post transplant. This approach has previously been reported, and has been shown to have utility as a predictor of long-term renal allograft survival (First, 2003; Hariharan *et al.*, 2003). A decrease in serum creatinine levels between 3 and 12 months indicates an improvement in renal allograft function, while an increase indicates deterioration, this change in serum creatinine is referred to as Δ creatinine within this thesis from this point forward. To allow confirmation of any trends observed within the data set, serum creatinine was recorded at 3, 9 and 12 months.

3.2.5 HLA matching

In order to assess the impact of HLA matching within the cohort of patients, the HLA matching grade was calculated for each donor and recipient pair. HLA matching is recorded by the number of mismatches at the HLA-A locus, followed by the HLA-B locus, and then the HLA-DR locus, giving a three number matching level, 000 indicating no mismatches at HLA-A, B or DR, while 222 indicates the maximum 2 mismatches at HLA-A, B and DR. A single mismatch of HLA-A, two mismatches at HLA-B and no mismatches at HLA-DR would be represented as 120.

This information was used to determine which category of NHS Blood and Transplant Organ Donation and Transplantation (NHS BT ODT) renal allocation matching group the

pairs would fall into, thus allowing patients to be grouped according to similar levels of HLA match and mismatch. In the interest of clarity the NHS BT ODT HLA matching level groups are given in Table 3.1.

3.2.6 Summary of data collected

In summary the following data was collected in the audit.

- Recipient age and sex
- Presence of anti-HLA-IgG
 - Whether this was DSA
- Source of donor kidney
 - o Donation following brain stem death
 - Donation following cardiac death
 - o Live donation
- Post transplant serum creatinine
 - 3 months post transplant
 - o 9 months post transplant
 - o 12 months post transplant
 - 3 and 12 month levels were used to generate Δ creatinine
- HLA type of recipients and donors
 - o Used to determine HLA matching
 - Used to determine NHS BT ODT matching groups for transplant pairs
 - o Used to determine HLA class I leader sequence
 - And therefore HLA class I leader sequence match status

3.2.7 Statistics

The Welch *t*-test, also known as the unequal variance *t*-test, a variation on the student's *t*-test, was used for statistical analysis. The Welch *t*-test was selected due to its appropriate use in analysis of groups which have underlying variance. The Welch *t*-test does not assume equal variances between groups (Ruxton, 2006).

An analysis of variance was performed using the SPSS (IBM, Armonk, NY) statistical software package, in order to assess the variation within groups. Specifically analysis of Δ creatinine within sex v leader peptide mm groups; donor source v leader peptide groups and NHSBT ODT match level and leader peptide mm groups were analysed.

000-No HLA	000 (The level of HLA A mm is given in
mismatches at HLA-	the first number, HLA-B in the second
A,B or DR	number and HLA-DR in the third)
0 HLA-DR and 0/orl	100, 010, 110, 200, 210
HLA-B	
(0 HLA-DR and 2 HLA-	020, 120, 220, 001, 101, 201, 011, 111,
B) or (1 HLA-DR and	211
0/orl HLA-B)	
(1 HLA-DR and 2 HLA-	021, 121, 221, 002, 102, 202, 012, 112,
B) or (2 HLA-DR)	212, 022, 122

Table 3.1 The NHSBT ODT matching levels used for grouping renal patients accordingto HLA type in the retrospective clinical audit.

These matching levels are used by NHSBT ODT for categorising patients into HLA matching levels for the national allocation of deceased donor kidneys. The matching levels comprise part of an algorithm, which incorporates many variables not pertinent to this study (such as wait time upon the list for kidney offers). Additionally, as part of the NHSBT ODT allocation scheme a system of default HLA antigens are currently used. For clarity this system refers to the practice of ensuring potential renal recipients who possess rare HLA antigens, are not disadvantaged by defaulting to a common equivalent which is structurally similar to the rare antigen. No default antigens were used in assigning HLA matching levels for this study. Where appropriate a split resolution of HLA type was also used to determine matching level.





Figure 3.1 A flow diagram overview of the collection of HLA class I leader sequence data in a cohort of kidney transplant patients and relationship to A creatinine

3.3.1 Cohort demographics and variance within groups

Complete data was collected on 139 renal transplant patients, with a mean age of 41.8 years. The cohort comprised slightly more males than females (58.3% (n81) v 41.7% (n58). The number of previous transplants, if any, was not recorded. However 35.97% (n50) had anti-HLA-IgG detected at the time of transplant, 2% (n3) of which was DSA. The donor organs were predominantly from DBDs (55% (n77)), live donation accounted for 30% (n42) of the donor organs, while 14% (n20) of donor organs were from DCDs. A range of NHS BT ODT matching levels were observed, with 11% (n16) level 1, 28% (n40) level 2, 40% (n57) level 3 and 19%(n26) level 4 matches. The mean serum creatinine level post transplant was comparable between 3 and 12 months, being 135 (+/- 60.9 SD) mmol/L and 131 (+/- 54.4 SD) mmol/L respectively. The patient demographics and variance within groups are summarised in Table 3.2.Analysis of variance demonstrated no statistical significant difference between groups. However it should be noted that a reduction of statistical power in groups containing low numbers may contribute to this finding.

3.3.2 Identification of HLA class I derived leader peptides and their frequencies

The search of the HLA/IGMT database identified 11 HLA class I derived leader peptide sequences, and their corresponding encoding HLA allele groups, identified in table 3.3. Each leader peptide is identified with a number (leader 1, leader 2,..etc) along with the leader peptide sequence and the HLA allele groups which encode the leader peptides. The amino acid sequences of the identified HLA class I leader peptides corresponded to those previously reported (Romagnani *et al.*, 2004), although the alleles which encode the leader peptides reported here is more comprehensive, incorporating HLA-A*68; B*48, B*55 and B*46 allele groups, which have not been previously reported, making this the most comprehensive list of documented HLA class I derived leader peptides, and the alleles which encode them currently reported. The frequencies with which the leader peptides were observed within the cohort of renal patients and their donors (table 3.4), shows leader peptide 3 to have the lowest observed frequency (0.06%), while leader peptides identified as leader peptides 4 and 11, were not observed within this cohort of patients at all. Leader peptide 10 was also seen with a

low frequency (0.45%) within this cohort. All the other identified leader peptides were observed with a frequency of between 10-20%

3.3.3 Number of HLA class I derived leader peptide mm observed

In analysis of the level of HLA class I leader peptide mismatches between donors and recipients (table 3.5) 32.4% of renal transplants were shown to have no leader peptide mismatches, while the most common number of leader peptide mismatches observed was a single leader peptide mismatch, observed within 38.8% of the transplants, two leader peptide mismatches and three leader peptide mismatches were observed in 23.7% and 5% of transplants respectively.

3.3.4 HLA matching levels observed within the cohort

In terms of the HLA matching levels observed, those patients which received an 000 mismatched renal allograft and are therefore grouped into NHSBT ODT matching level 1, comprised 11.5% of patients (table 3.6), while NHSBT ODT matching levels 2, 3 and 4, were seen in 28.8%, 40.3% and 19.4% of patients respectively. Demonstrating a range of HLA matching within these patients.

3.3.5 Relationship between leader peptide mm and creatinine level

The comparison of the number of HLA class I leader peptide mismatches and their relationship to Δ creatinine levels (figure 3.2), reveals a striking relationship between the number of leader peptide mismatches to Δ creatinine. A reduction in Δ creatinine approaching 20 mmol/L was found where no leader peptide mismatches were observed, this reduction in Δ creatinine indicates the allograft performance has improved from 3 to 12 months post transplant. Where three leader peptide mismatches were identified, an increase in Δ creatinine was observed, with levels approaching 20mmol/L, indicating the allograft performance had decreased from 3 to 12 months post transplant performance had decreased from 3 to 12 months post transplant. The change in Δ creatinine was a statistically significant association, p<0.05 (table 3.7), for the three leader peptide mismatches group. A stepwise increase in Δ creatinine was seen depending upon the number of leader peptide mismatches, zero leader mismatches showing a decrease in Δ creatinine, one leader mismatch a more modest decrease, two leader peptides mismatches producing little change in Δ creatinine, and three leader peptide mismatches an increase. This



(0 0 w	Е Б р	E E v.&p.p q)	EE,∂	EE ₹083 m
C		0 c	0	8 c
D		0 M	0 0	8
LO	CD CD	00 co ∎^r	сь См Ю	80 80 80 80
00	CO LO CD CM CD	O CD h - CD	-19 8888	CD T∼ CD K CO
	LO	Ю	80 80	
		CD CO LO o	00 v °	∎ rt O

increase in Δ creatinine, associated with an increased number of leader peptide mismatches, demonstrates a relationship with an R² value of 0.9999 (figure 3.2). The association between leader peptide mismatch and creatinine levels was also performed so that it included creatinine levels at 9 months post transplant (figure 3.3). With zero leader peptide mismatches showing a stepwise decrease in creatinine levels between 3, 9 and 12 months, the single leader peptide mismatches showing a consistent decrease between 3, 9 and 12 months, while the data for three leader peptide mismatches showing a stepwise increase in creatinine levels between 3, 9 and 12 months. The two leader peptide mismatches however showed an initial decrease in creatinine levels from 3 to 9 months, and then a marked increase from 9 to 12 months. This increase from 9 to 12 months for two leader peptide mismatches was not as steep as that seen for three leader peptide mismatches. The two leader peptide mismatches creatinine level decrease from 3 to 9 months then recovered with an increase from 9 months to 12 months, so that the creatinine levels returned to their 3 month level. Interestingly the three leader peptide mismatch groups creatinine levels, rose modestly between 3 and 9 months and then more sharply between 9 and 12 months. Furthermore this group had the lowest 3 month creatinine levels, which may be explained by the higher number of live donors within this group (Table 3.2).

3.3.6 NHSBT ODT matching levels and relationship to creatinine

The data representing the effect of NHSBT ODT matching levels and relationship to Δ creatinine, figure 3.4, shows the effect of the increasing levels of mismatch and Δ creatinine. With the level 1 group (the best matched group), associated with a decrease in Δ creatinine of 20 mmol/L, while the level 4 group (those with the worst matches), being associated with a more modest decrease in Δ creatinine, approaching 5 mmol/L. All the NHSBT ODT matching levels were associated with a decrease in Δ creatinine, which is in contrast to the leader peptide mismatch analysis described earlier, whereby the three mismatched (mm) group was shown to produce a statistically significant change from a negative to positive Δ creatinine. Unlike the leader peptide analysis, none of the NHSBT ODT groups were shown to be statistically significant, table 3.8, nor was a positive Δ creatinine observed. The relationship between NHSBT ODT levels and Δ creatinine was also shown, however the R² value equalled 0.9233. Indicating that the relationship between NHSBT ODT



Grassiant arro 2 's Ons

βод ана∰то п ∰ 150 8 8 mahar pog

107

Effect of ODT matching levels and A creatinine level (3 to 12 month)

A creatinine level (3 to 12 month) and relationship to CDT matching levels

l/ioiuiu aumiieaj3 v

co co	CM CO	8- 00 0	°# O LD O	ee°a ^ ∎cea≅ evo ⁻ {
on oS	Ю ь	а С	8 8 8	80 Р. ш. та О. Но
	83 83 80	CD CD	CN LO CD CD	CO CO CO CO CO CO CO CO CO CO CO CO CO C
88 83	см d	500 000 800 000 800 8		0a b 0 -a C b c c c
°c € € 8 € € 6	0	8		° • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •

tr	
еш ₌ао ±88 хи	
o¢⊄®"¤™©‡ ∂ ∯`o∩	0 0 - a 2 - a 2 - a 2 - a
aG '= 8 8° o'=	8 co. <mark>422</mark> ∧O [™] 22 ª c № 17 ⊟ o 8

levels and creatinine did not fit the polynomial regression model as well as that of the leader peptide mismatches, where the R^2 value was closer to 1, being 0.9999.

3.3.7 Effect of leader peptide mm within NHSBT ODT matched groups In an attempt to determine between the effect of leader peptide mm upon Δ creatinine levels and the effect of NHSBT ODT matching levels, an analysis was performed on the effect of leader peptide mm within NHSBT ODT matching levels was made. This analysis revealed the association between an increasing number of leader peptide mm and an increase in Δ creatinine was occurring within NHSBT ODT matching levels, for ODT levels 1 and 2 (figure 3.5) and ODT level 4 (figure 3.6). In the NHSBT ODT level 1 matched group only matched (zero leader peptide mm) and single leader peptide mm were observed. With the matched group showing a reduction in creatinine, with a Δ creatinine of 20mmol/L, while the single leader peptide mm group showing an increase, with Δ creatinine 20mmol/L. The NHSBT ODT level 2 group was again associated with an increase in Δ creatinine associated with the number of leader peptide mm, however unlike level 1, all leader peptide mm levels were associated with a reduced Δ creatinine. Neither NHSBT ODT level 1 or 2 leader peptide mm analysis produced statistically significant observations (table 3.9). The NHSBT ODT level 4 group demonstrated the stepwise increase in Δ creatinine as the number of leader peptide mm increased (figure 3.6), it should be noted the 3 leader mm group only had 2 patients within it.

In the NHSBT ODT level 3 matched group, the data appeared to deviate from the stepwise increase in Δ creatinine level observed within the other NHSBT ODT groups. Whereby the 0 leader mm group appeared to show the poorest performance in terms of reduction of Δ creatinine, with a level of -6mmol/L, while one and two leader peptide mm had levels of -15mmol/L and -10mmol/L respectively. Analysis of the raw data revealed a possible explanation for this observation, in that the zero leader peptide mm group, within the NHSBT ODT level 3 matched analysis, contained data from two allografts which exhibited a significant deterioration in Δ creatinine which may skew the data, these two allografts went on to require allograft nephrectomy

CDT matching level 1

l/lO LUOI aum jie ao v

l/|oiuuj auiuijeaj3 y



R



-|/|Oiuiu aujujieao y



within 24 months post transplant. However it was important to include all the data collected in this study to prevent any bias.

Attention should also be drawn to the reduction in statistical power when analysing the individual NHSBT ODT groups in this way, with the numbers of patients within the four NHSBT ODT matching levels being low, ranging from 16-54 patients.

3.3.8 The effect of specific HLA class I derived leader peptide mm

To assess if there was any difference when the leader peptide from different HLA class I encoded molecules was mismatched, a comparison of leader peptide encoded just by HLA-A, HLA-B and HLA-C alleles was made (figure 3.7).

This demonstrates that HLA-B encoded leader peptides, identified in table 3.3 as leader peptides 5, 6 and 7, were associated with an increase in Δ creatinine in a stepwise fashion, dependent upon the number of leader mm observed (2 leader peptide mm were only observed twice so a statistical analysis was not performed due to their low frequency) (table 3.10). HLA-C encoded leader peptides, incorporating leader peptides identified as leader peptides 8, 9, 10 and 11 (table 3.3), also demonstrated the association of an increase in Δ creatinine with an increase in leader peptide mm, only zero leader peptide mm and single leader peptide mm were observed within this group however, and this change was not statistically significant. In contrast to the HLA-B and C encoded leader peptides HLA-A encoded leader peptides did not demonstrate an association with a decrease in Δ creatinine, instead there was an increase for zero and one leader peptide mm.

In an attempt to clarify this further, an analysis of the effect of mm of specific leader peptides was performed. This demonstrated that mismatching leader peptides 1 and 2 (HLA-A encoded peptides) resulted in similar Δ creatinine levels as no leader mm at all (figure 3.8), confirming that HLA-A leader peptides do not influence Δ creatinine levels (leader peptide 3, which is also encoded for by HLA-A alleles was only observed once, and is shown in figure 3.9 for clarity). Mismatching of leader peptides 5, 6 and 7 (HLA-B encoded peptides), demonstrated a modest decrease in Δ creatinine levels for peptide 6, a modest increase in Δ creatinine for peptide 7 and more marked increase in

NHSBT	ODT	ODT level 1	ODT level 2	ODT level 3	ODT	level 4
m∂t⁼	ন্দ					
< vel						





re -Q

	Šİ E	0 900 0	E 3 Z	¢_⊃878∂	Z	∂ 2 3 2 3 2 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	300%
		a Qie £	s FM	ro £ £ ₹	E ∢u	С ⊗до ⁺ *6 Ш8	Q 4a≫
		¹ %ປັ ດ	3	Úmu O		ն 0 4 5 ×	V)
		v v	св ∢ 82 хО		Ο	v 5	u <
	а ст е а	& ∎ ₽ 0	[⊺] 3 ₽ ¶	! ⊾ ∧ ai	<u>a</u>	ez; ; []Q	∟ -a
то < Z е	Кî св	ro q ro	LO	ro o ro			см
SD	00 ai O LO		ai ਸ CM LO	LO r\i LO	LO	ai ai T-1	*3-
Z	L0 00	CN rM	00 LO	ro Lo		r-'	CD CV
	rsj ro	ro	IS CD	ω	10	св Ю	Ю Ш
		rsi ro LO					88 11

uAt.∞br∃ ⊋≣≊⊖

~I/|oiuiu aininieajD y

 Δ creatinine peptide 5. Comparison to the zero leader peptide mismatches confirmed an influence of HLA-B encoded peptides, with the association for peptide 5 approaching statistical significance (p=0.08) (table 3.11). Mismatches for the HLA-C encoded leader peptides, peptides 8 and 9, also showed an influence of mismatches and relationship to Δ creatinine levels when compared to the zero mismatched group, however this was not statistically significant (table 3.11), which may be due to the low numbers in the cohort with peptide 8 (n=8) and 9 (n=5).

Individual leader sequence mismatch	ସ≣ସ ସସ≣ସ ସସ≣ସ ^{≤ 3} ସସଏସ ସସ≣ସ ସସ ^ଘ ସ ସସ ^ଘ ସ (-ସପ≣େ (-ସପ≣େ ସେ ^ଲ େ ହେଇ	о сп ОО СЛ	82) <u>at</u> 5 5 58≟5 5 °5 57°			3: ై.రైం: దిశిణా∨ణం ంటాలో 985 g.a. 9 8_399 8.828 ం9998 0. రాం⊭))
	33 ™ 3 33 8 3 3 3 3 3	ON	00		CO CD CD CD CD CD CD		ю	
					88	cn D	00	
	р О	•=	<	ю ₉ 7=	а	88 ° 8		
	co				õ	ω		

ဒ ဒု₀ಕ್ರಾಂಧಗರಂ≰ဂ ⊽ೆ∞ಕ್ ಿತೆವಿತ ಂಡ∞ಕ್ರನಿಂಗ ಪಗಡುದುವರಾಂತಿ ೧ ರ ವರ o uo<u>990</u>‡2 a £‡u ro ro _r○ -Q h*

3.4 Discussion

The 11 leader peptides identified within this data set, using the HLA/IMGT database, contains the most complete list of HLA class I alleles and their encoded HLA alleles currently available, according to a search within the literature (as of May 2014). The accurate record of the sequences of HLA class I derived leader peptides, and their encoding HLA alleles has been demonstrated of utility within this work, and would also aide those researchers whose work includes the role of HLA class I derived peptides in HLA-E induced responses, such as NK cell mediated cell lysis and HLA-E restricted CD8+ T cell activation. Indeed, the data previously published in the context of CMV infection, NK and CD8+ T cell responses and HLA class I derived leader peptides does not report the leader peptide sequences of HLA-A*68; B*48, B*55 and B*46 alleles (Romagnani *et ai*, 2004), making the data reported here more complete. Furthermore, Romagnani and colleagues (2004) assign a leader sequence of VTAPRTLLL for the HLA molecules encoded for by HLA-B*58 alleles, while the data here identifies the sequence as VTAPRTVLL. Cross checking upon the IMGT/HLA database (Robinson *et ai*, 2013) confirms the data reported here as accurate.

The frequencies of the 11 identified leader peptides, within the cohort of 139 renal transplant patient and donors, was representative of the frequencies of the HLA class I alleles which encoded them. Leader peptides 4 and 11 were not observed at all and were encoded for by HLA alleles which have a low frequency within the UK population. Leader peptide 4 being encoded for by HLA-A*80, which is seen in less than *1%* of 10,000 UK deceased donors according to NHSBT ODT data (http://www.odt.nhs.uk/transplantation/histocompatibility-and-immunogenetics/handi-information/), while leader peptide 11 is encoded for by HLA-C*80:09, a rarely seen allele listed as unconfirmed upon the HLA/IGMT database (Robinson *et ai*, 2013), which has only been observed within a specific ethnic population, a group of Kolia Amerindians (Little *et ai*, 2001). Hence these two leader peptides were unlikely to be observed within the cohort of renal patients reported here. The low frequencies of the observed leader peptides 3 (0.06%) and 10 (0.45%), was also due to correspondingly low HLA encoding allele frequency, being encoded for

by HLA-A*34:01 seen in individuals of Asian pacific islander origin (Robinson *et al.,* 2013; Gonzalez-Galarza *et al.,* 2010), and HLA-C*17:01/02 respectively.

The analysis of the number of mismatches between the identified HLA class I derived leader peptides and Δ creatinine demonstrated a stepwise relationship, with an increase in Δ creatinine associated with an increase in the number of leader peptide mismatches. This indicates that a poorer performance is seen in those allografts which have a greater number of leader peptide mismatches. This relationship was shown to be more pronounced than the relationship observed between Δ creatinine and NHSBT ODT matching levels (R² value of 0.999 vs 0.9233). Furthermore the Δ creatinine levels in those patients who received an allograft with 3 leader peptide mismatches was shown to have statistically significant (p=0.05) poorer performance than the matched counterparts in terms of Δ creatinine levels. However a larger cohort of patients should be assessed to validate this data, particularly since no statistical significant association was seen within the analysis of variance within the assessed groups.

Analysis of the effect of leader peptide mismatches within NHSBT ODT HLA matching groups shows that this effect appears independent of HLA matching grade. The influence of HLA class I derived peptide mismatch and Δ creatinine being observed within NHSBT ODT level 1, 2 and 4 matched groups. NHSBT ODT level 3 matched patients however did not concur with this finding, specifically the zero leader mismatched group appeared to perform the worst, as determined by Δ creatinine. This may be explained by the confounding influence of two poorly performing allografts within the zero leader peptide mismatched group within the NHSBT ODT level 3 matches (as described within section 3.3.8), this hypothesis would be supported by the observation that the stepwise increase in Δ creatinine associated with an increase in the number of leader peptide mismatches, returned for the single and two leader peptide mismatches within the level 3 group. This data then shows a relationship between the number of leader peptide mismatches and the post transplant outcome of renal allografts as assessed by Δ creatinine (Battle *et al.*, 2013). However the exact mechanism of this influence cannot be determined from this data. Previously researchers have examined the role of HLA class I derived leader sequences and their ability to bind to HLA-E, showing that not all peptides bind with equal affinity,
and that a consequence of this is the alteration of HLA-E recognition by the CD94/NKG2 receptors upon NK cells (Hoare *et al.*, 2008). A comparison between the reported affinities of the leader peptides and HLA-E (Vales-Gomez *et al.*, 1999), and the data presented here, in terms of the effect of mismatches of individual peptide, reveals some interesting observations. Reports within the literature upon the binding affinities of those leader peptides encoded for by HLA-B alleles demonstrate that the leader peptide, identified here as leader peptide 5, containing methionine at position 2 of the peptide sequence binds with the highest affinity to HLA-E, while those peptides with threonine at position 2 (identified here as leader peptides 6 and 7) bind less well (Hoare *et al.*, 2008; Lee *et al.*, 1998; Lemberg *et al.*, 2001; Vales-Gomez *et al.*, 1999).

The ability to be bound by HLA-E has a direct impact upon the expression level of HLA-E (Vales-Gomez *et al.,* 1999), and therefore changes within peptides which have different binding affinities would be expected to alter surface expression of HLA-E, and alter the ability of HLA-E to interact with the CD94/NKG2 activating/inhibiting receptors. It is interesting to note that mismatches at the HLA-B encoded leader peptides 5, 6 and 7 (figure 3.7) are associated with a poorer Δ creatinine level post transplant (indeed leader peptide 5 mismatches are approaching statistical significance p=0.08), while HLA-A encoded leader peptide mismatches appear to exert no influence upon Δ creatinine levels post transplant. This is particularly interesting when considering the reported observation that all HLA-A encoded leader peptides bind to HLA-E with the same affinity (Hoare *et al.,* 2008; Lee *et al.,* 1998; Lemberg *et al.,* 2001; Vales-Gomez *et al.,* 1999).

In terms of the leader peptides encoded for by HLA-C, the majority of which observed here comprised leader peptides 8 and 9 (due to the frequencies of the respective encoding HLA-C alleles), variation is also seen between the binding affinities reported. Peptide 8 showed extremely good binding kinetics (Hoare *et al.*, 2008; Lee *et al.*, 1998; Lemberg *et al.*, 2001; Vales-Gomez *et al.*, 1999) while peptide 9 extremely poor binding kinetics (Vales-Gomez *et al.*, 1999). The Δ creatinine level for these peptides also revealed an increase in comparison to the zero mismatched group, however this was not statistically significant.

These findings, in conjunction with the reported binding affinity for HLA-E, lead to the hypothesis that a change in the peptides available to bind to HLA-E, results in a differential expression of HLA-E at the cell surface, as a consequence of individual peptide binding affinities. Changes in the levels of HLA-E expression could then lead to NK responses which are detrimental to the allograft, this would then be anticipated to be observed in the Δ creatinine levels as seen here. Clearly, functional data is required to support this hypothesis, however it is interesting to note that a reported immunoevasion strategy of CMV is to maintain HLA-E expression at the cell surface by mimicking HLA class I leader peptide sequences (Mazzarino et al., 2005) and those utilized by CMV have a high affinity for HLA-E (Hoare et al., 2008; Lee et al., 1998; Lemberg et al., 2001; Vales-Gomez et al., 1999), which would increase the level of expression of HLA-E. In addition, in the reports on HLA-E polymorphism and HSCT outcome, it is the HLA-E*01:03 allele, which encodes a surface antigen expressed at higher levels than its equally common counterpart HLA-E*01:01, that is associated with reduced TRM post HSCT, the explanation for this being the increased availability of HLA-E*01:03 to bind to inactivating CD94/NKG2 receptors (Hosseini et al., 2013). An analysis of CMV was not undertaken here, but would be an interesting area for further work, which is discussed in further detail in chapter 5. This work strongly suggests that mismatches between the HLA class I derived leader peptides influence Δ creatinine, a marker for renal allograft outcome. However, the exact mechanism requires further elucidation, with changes within the leader peptides which result in changes with affinity for binding to HLA-E, and therefore HLA-E expression a potential mechanism. In addition this work was hampered by the relatively small cohort of patients examined, and a larger validating cohort of patients is required to confirm these findings.

In summary, chapter 3 demonstrates that endogenously derived HLA class I peptides, in this case specifically their leader peptides, can influence the post transplant function of renal allografts (Battle *et al.*, 2013). However a larger validating cohort of patients should now be assessed to validate this data and confirm the findings within chapter 3.

Chapter 4 - Functional analysis of HLA-class I derived peptide influence upon the alloresponse

4.1.1 Introduction

In chapters 2 and 3, peptides were identified which were derived from one HLA class I molecule and presented by another. Subsequently clinical data was analysed to measure the influence of mismatching some of these peptides, within the context of renal transplantation. In this chapter, an investigation to assess a mechanism by which peptides may exert their influence upon humoral alloresponses was undertaken. The thesis introduction outlined the mechanisms by which peptides can generate alloresponses, describing the processes of direct and indirect allorecognition and the peptide involvement within them. In addition to the mechanisms described within the introduction, peptides may also influence the ability of preformed donor HLA specific antibodies to bind to their target epitope.

4.1.2 HLA antibodies and transplant outcome

HLA antibodies are formed in response to exposure to HLA antigens, a phenomena known as sensitisation, this exposure can be generated as a result of transfusion, pregnancy or transplantation (Resse et al., 2013). The detection of donor specific HLA antibodies (DSA) present within the serum of a renal transplant recipient prior to transplantation by complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) crossmatch (XM), has, for many years been an absolute contraindication to transplantation, due to the association of a positive CDC XM with hyperacute and accelerated acute rejection (Girnita et al., 2007). While a positive T cell CDC XM remains a contraindication to transplantation, technical developments within various methodologies used in the detection and identification of HLA antibodies, such as the introduction of solid phase assays, have led to highly sensitive approaches to HLA antibody detection, and consequently the clinical impact of detected antibodies is not completely understood in some circumstances (El-Awar et al., 2009). Current approaches to understand the clinical impact of detected HLA antibodies aim at providing a stratification of risk, based upon the results of XM and antibody identification assays, while considering the type of organ to be transplanted, available immunosuppression strategies, clinical urgency of transplant and various donor factors (Opelz et al., 2013). Currently H&I laboratories utilize HLA antibody screening technologies in those patients who are awaiting transplantation, to determine unacceptable HLA antigen mismatches due to HLA sensitisation (Howell et al., 2010). By using this information, it is possible to

predict the likelihood of a XM to return a negative result for a particular patient and donor combination, when the donor's HLA type is known. This process can prevent the shipment of an organ to a potential transplant recipient, who would produce a positive XM result. In addition, the resultant HLA antibody data allows for an indication of the likelihood of a patient to be offered a kidney to which they would be expected to produce a negative XM result. This is achieved by calculating the patient's HLA antibody reactivity to a panel of HLA antigens, whereby the HLA antibodies detected within a potential transplant recipient are assessed for matches to corresponding HLA types of the previous organ donors offered via NHS BT ODT, giving a percentage of reactivity to these donors. This process is sometimes referred to as calculated reaction frequency (CRF) or calculated panel reactive antibody (cPRA), and aids understanding of how long a patient is likely to wait for a transplant, given the percentage of donors that they would have been expected to have antibody reactivity to, and consequently would not have been offered, those with a cPRA >85% are classified as highly sensitised and are likely to have to wait significantly longer than unsensitised patients (Chang and Kobashigawa, 2012).

Recently, the ability to remove DSA through antibody desensitisation protocols to achieve a negative CDC XM result prior to transplantation, has led to an opportunity to transplant patients previously denied access to a transplant due to DSA . The reported success of desensitisation protocols varies, depending upon a number of factors such as: titre and specificity of DSA and the desensitisation protocol utilised (Marfo *et al.,* 2011). The graft survival in HLA antibody desensitisation protocols remains impaired in comparison to control groups (Becker *et al.,* 2013), while still providing an important clinical option for transplantation for some patients. Those patients who have the best long-term survival, post DSA desensitisation transplant, are those who lose their DSA after their successful desensitisation and transplantation, whereas DSA persistence, recurrence or *de-novo* formation, all affect long term allograft survival negatively (Becker *et al.,* 2013). The development of *de-novo* DSA is also associated with reduced graft survival in non desensitisation cases (Fehr and Gaspert, 2012), even in cases where no antibody mediated rejection is identified (Roelen *et al.,* 2012).

A detailed understanding of the HLA antibodies present in a potential transplant recipient is vital, not only to prevent an unexpected positive XM result, but also to aid post transplant patient management, due to the *de-novo* formation of HLA antibodies against mismatched HLA antigens on the transplanted organ.

Such *de-novo* antibodies do not always occur when an HLA antigen is mismatched however, as the distinct sites which HLA antibodies bind to on HLA antigens, termed epitopes, are shared between some HLA antigens (Duquesnoy, 2011b). Consequently an HLA antigen could be mismatched, but the epitopes upon the mismatched HLA antigen may be present upon the mismatched HLA antigen, or upon other HLA antigens present within the transplant recipient's HLA type. Therefore the epitopes are matched and consequently HLA antibodies are not formed. In order to understand this process better, various mechanisms of characterising the epitopes have been proposed, the two most successful systems are the epitopes identified as 'eplets' by the HLAMatchmaker bioinformatic software (Duquesnoy, 2011a) and the TerEps identified by Paul Terasaki (El-Awar *et al.*, 2007).

4.1.3 HLA antibodies and epitopes

It was not long after the discovery of HLA specificities that serological crossreactivity between certain HLA antigens was observed. To define this crossreactivity, HLA antibodies were utilized to assess their binding to different HLA antigens, using this process it was possible to identify groups of cross reacting epitopes, so called CREGs (table 4.1) (cross reacting epitope groups) (Rodney et al., 1994; Fuller et al., 1990). These groups helped categorise epitopes, which are shared between HLA antigens and, as structural understanding of HLA molecules became defined, it could be demonstrated that the crossreactivity of specific antibodies was likely to be the result of common molecular structures between different HLA molecules (Duquesnoy, 2011b). It is these common molecular structures, which are referred to as epitopes when antibody is capable of binding to them, and which are identified by various systems, such as eplets or TerEps. It was Duquesnoy et al., (2011a/b) who initially suggested that the epitopes themselves consisted of three consecutive amino acid residues, and later revised this to identify epitopes via his eplet system, which used stereochemical modelling of protein antigen-antibody complexes, to identify polymorphic amino acid configurations on HLA antigens,

A1C	AI, A3, AII, A19(A29, A30,A31), A36, A80
A2C	A2, A9 (A23, A24), A28 (A68, A69),
	B17(B57, B58)
A10C	A10 (A25, A26, A34, A66), A32, A33, A43,
	A74
Bw4	A9 (A23, A24), A25, A32, B13, B27, B37,
	B38, B44, B47, B49, B51, B52, B53, B57,
	B58, B59, B63, B77
B5C	B5 (B51, B52) B18, B35, B53
B5C2	B5 (B51, B52) B15 (B62, B63, B71, B75,
	B76, B77), B17 (B57, B58), B21 (B49, B50),
	B35, B53, B73, B78
Bw 6	B7, B8, B18, B35, B39, B40 (B60, B61),
	B41, B42, B45, B46, B48, B50, B54, B55,
	B56, B62, B64, B65, B67, B71, B72, B73,
	B75, B76
B7C	B7, B8, B13, B27, B41, B42, B47, B48, B54,
	B55, B56, B60, B61, B81
B 8 C	B8, B18, B38, B39, B64, B65
B12C	B12 (B44, B45), B13, B37, B41, B47, B21
	(B49, B50), B40 (B60, B61)

Table 4.1 Cross-reactive epitope groups (CREG) (Reproduced from Laux and Pelz,2004; Mckenna and Takemoto 2000). HLA antigens enclosed within parenthesesidentify 'splits' of broad HLA specificities although this may not include all splits withinthe broad antigen, due to the possession of different epitopes within certain splits.

which were within a 3.5Å radius, in positions within regions accessible to antibodies (Marrari *et al.,* 2010).

4.1.4 The use of HLAMatchmaker to define epitopes

The most frequently used mechanism of defining epitopes upon HLA antigens is the HLAMatchmaker bioinformatic system, which defines the epitopes on an HLA antigen as a series of eplets. This then allows for a comparison of eplets present on different HLA antigens, to see if any or all eplets are shared. This approach has led to a greater understanding of how antibodies are generated to HLA antigens, to which an individual does not appear to have been sensitised to, for example the observation of an HLA-DR1 antibody in response to an HLA-DRw51 antigen was explained by a shared eplet, identified as 96EV (Marrari *et al.*, 2011). Traditionally, HLA antibody identification has been achieved by describing a specific HLA antigen to which the antibody is detected as being capable of binding to, such anti-HLA-A2 or anti-HLA-B7. The HLAMatchmaker system has led to a greater understanding of the actual epitope targets of such antibodies, and can reveal them to be specific to single eplets or eplet pairs (discussed below).

The HLAMatchmaker derived eplets are identified via sterochemical modelling, which assesses each HLA antigen as a string of amino acid configurations in antibodyaccessible positions (Duquesnoy and Marrari, 2009). Antigenic proteins have structural epitopes of 15-22 amino acid residues within an antibody binding surface of 700-900Å, within these structural epitopes are 'hot spots' of 2-5 highly energetic residues, which contribute to the strength and specificity of antibody binding. Within HLAMatchmaker, eplets are derived from a 3Å radius of a polymorphic residue upon the surface of a HLA antigen, which define these 'hot spots'. These eplets bind antibody as an individual eplet or as an eplet pair, with eplets in a pair being approximately 6-15Å apart, and at least one of the pair being non-self (Duquesnoy and Marrari, 2009). The amino acid residues outside the hot spots contribute augmenting interactions, which contribute interactions which increase antibody-antigen stability.

The nomenclature of these eplets is derived from the polymorphic residues within the eplet, and the position of the polymorphic amino acid residue within its chain of amino

acid residues. The standard letter code is used to identify the amino acids. Using this system Duquesnoy has defined 199 eplets from 75 polymorphic positions within Class I HLA-A, B and C antigens, of which 110 were positioned on the α -helices, 60 on the side of the surface and 29 in the regions which are less accessible to antibodies such as underneath the molecule and under the peptide binding groove (Duquesnoy, 2011a). While the number of polymorphic regions within HLA Class II molecules consist of 44 DRB, 33 DQB, 29 DQA, 20 DPB and 9 DPA chain polymorphic sites, which were shown to deliver 146 DRB, 74 DQB, 58 DQA, 45 DPB and 19 DPA individual eplets (Duquesnoy, 2011a). As previously mentioned, the HLAMatchmaker program views an HLA antigen as a group of the identified eplets present upon an HLA molecule, these eplets are capable of inducing HLA specific antibodies, but an individual cannot generate HLA antibodies against eplets which are also present in their own HLA type, so called self eplets.

Using these principles, HLAMatchmaker can be used to assess the degree of mismatch in terms of eplets. In some cases, a transplant donor and recipient may be mismatched in terms of the HLA antigens they express, but matched in terms of the eplets present in their HLA antigens. This gives an indication of the likelihood of generating a humoral response to HLA mismatches as a consequence of transplantation. Furthermore the eplet system allows for the analysis of sensitisation pattern induced by an HLA mismatch, accounting for unexpected reactivity patterns such as the HLA-DR1 antibody induced by sensitisation to DRw51 (Marrari *et al.,* 2011). (figure 4.1).

The use of HLAMatchmaker has greatly improved the understanding of the HLA antibody sensitisation status of patients who are awaiting transplantation, as well as helping to minimise sensitisation, by allowing eplet matching in certain situations, when a HLA mismatch is unavoidable. Currently use of the HLAMatchmaker program has been described in various forms of transplantation, including, kidney, cornea, haematopoietic stem cell transplantation (Duquesnoy, 2011b) and cardiac transplantation (Resse *et al.*, 2013), as well as in the allocation of platelets. Despite the use of HLAMatchmaker in these clinical settings, no assessment of the generation of eplets caused by different peptides bound within the HLA groove has been made.

ວຸດ **ວ**ຸດ ເອີຍລູດ ເຊັ່ນ ອ ႝၜၸႏႝၣၴႄၜၭဨႄ[ၟ]ႄႄၣၮႝႍႎ႙ၛႄႜၟႄႄႄၣႜ႞ၷၗႝ႞ၛၗႜၭၜၭၑႄ႞ႆၐႍၮၕႄၟႄႜၮၭၩႋၭႃႄၛၟႜႝၣၴၬၜဴၛၖႜၖႝၮၭႜႋ႓ႄၗႜႝၟႜၯၯႄႜႜႜႜၴၹၮၮၜႝၛႄၯႜၜၭႜ႞ၮႜႜႜႜႜႜႜႜႜႜၯႄႜ႞ၭႜႜႜႜႜႜႜႜႜႜႍႜၯႜ႞ၛႜ 0) ⁷d ⁷d ⁷d ⁷d 00 00 C ει^wεμί όεξ∴εεοεε ποίεει μα εν ελεί εμά ερερί. 3 βαμε² 'α βαεο 8 βαμε² 'α βαεο 8 βαμε νήξι εο ×⊥^ α β ε εγείτα εία ει πεξεά το × α Ω 3 ε εία εία εία ερ ο x[⊥], rpge vik to x⊥ ° ο β C თ დ

LU ∳CD

Theoretically at least, changes within HLA bound peptide may alter the epitopes generated, both by generating new epitopes, and by altering the affinity of an antibody to an existing epitope. For example, a change within the peptide could alter the affinity of an antibody to an epitope present upon regions proximal to the peptide binding groove, such as the α -helices; altering the peptide bound within the groove may cause variation between the interaction of the amino acid residues of the α -helices and the bound peptide. As a consequence of this change, the ability of an epitope to be bound by an antibody maybe reduced or increased. Various modelling software is available to assess stereochemical structures in order to investigate the effect of peptide bound upon epitopes (Guex and Peitsch, 1997; Kosmoliaptsis *et al.*, 2011).

4.1.5 The evidence for the peptide influence on HLA antibodies binding to their epitopes In their assessment of a recombinant human Fab fragment for the investigation of tumour associated HLA-A1 melanoma associated antigen (MAGE-1)-A1 complex, Hülsmeyer and colleagues (2004) crystalized the MAGE-1 peptide (EADPTGHSY) bound by HLA-A1 and complexed with the Fab fragment. This work demonstrated that several regions of the CDR of the Fab fragments were in direct contact with the MAGE-1 peptide. Indeed the authors concluded that, in this case, the Fab fragment binds the HLA-A1 in a similar manner to a TCR. Indeed after comparing the Fab fragment's binding to HLA-A1 complexed to another MAGE peptide, MAGE-3, the authors stated that the Fab fragment 'does not bind', demonstrating clear evidence that changes within the peptide bound influences the ability of some antibodies to bind. Furthermore, altering the amino acids at specific regions within the peptide was determined to alter antibody binding ability, from 'weakly' binding to 'strongly' binding to its target.

Although this complex work clearly showed the ability of changes within the peptide bound by HLA to alter the ability of antibody to bind, it should be pointed out that the antibody fab fragment was a recombinant antibody, specifically selected for the purpose of investigating MAGE-1. It does however serve to demonstrate that antibodies can be HLA peptide complex specific, and can have their affinity altered by changing the peptide which is bound by HLA. An image of HLA-A1 complexed with MAGE and interacting with the Fab fragment is shown in figure 4.2.

PdbViewer (Guex & Peitsch 1997).

4.1.6 Structural modelling software

The original article describing the creation of the HLAMatchmaker bioinformatic tool (Duquesnoy, 2006), identifies the use of Cn3D (see in 3D) structure and sequence alignment software program, to identify the location of specific residues in crystallized HLA molecular models, which were obtained from the NCBI website (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/protein). The Cn3D program allows a 'select by distance' function, which Duquesnoy applied around polymorphic residues to the distance of 3.0Å and 3.5Å in order to identify eplets. However Cn3D is by no means the only structural modelling program available, with different modelling programs offering variation within their functionality. One such popular modelling program is Swiss-PdbViewer, which offers many of the functions within Cn3D, including the ability to measure the distance between residues, but with the addition of a mutation function (Guex and Peitsch, 1997). This mutation function allows the user to alter an amino acid residue, for example within a peptide, such as is seen within several minor histocompatibility antigens, such as HA-1 as previously described (section 1.1.12). The mutation function allows for an assessment of how a change of an amino acid would alter the possible structures of the molecule, including the formation of new hydrogen bonds. While the use of Ramachandran plots, which describe the torsion angles of amino acids within proteins (Hollingsworth and Karplus, 2010), incorporated within the Swiss-PdbViewer software, allows for the mutation to be assessed in terms of its correct orientation within a molecule (Guex and Peitsch, 1997). The Swiss-PdbViewer is an ideal tool for the assessment of a change in an amino acid of a peptide bound within an HLA molecule, and how this change may impact upon epitopes which are proximal to the peptide binding groove.

The ability of a peptide to alter the epitopes to which an HLA antibody binds, has several implications within the transplant setting (Mulder *et al.*, 2005). Broadly speaking, this phenomena could affect the ability to detect clinically relevant alloantibodies, if different peptides are bound by HLA molecules used within detection assays to those bound to HLA antigens upon the allograft. While changes within the energy of an epitope as a consequence of peptide variation could potentially alter the function of an antibody which does bind (Kosmoliaptsis *et al.*, 2011).

4.2.1 Purification of an HLA antibody to assess the influence of peptide upon antibody binding

A human antibody specific to HLA-A2, obtained from a patient undergoing a desensitisation protocol was a kind gift from Dr David Lowe (Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospital, Liverpool, UK), who provided the HLA-A2 antibody in an unpurified form, containing other human plasma proteins. The antibody was purified to remove plasma proteins using Montage antibody PROSEP-G purification kits (Millipore, Maine, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. All processes were carried out at 4°C. Briefly the HLA-A2 antibody (300ml) was filtered through a 0.22µm filter (Millipore, Maine, USA) to remove any aggregates and debris. The resultant sample was diluted in a kit binding buffer (1:1) and loaded onto a spin column (10ml per column) containing a protein G plug. Protein-G was selected due to its binding affinity for human IgG_{1,2,3}, and 4, while having no affinity for human IgA, IgD, IgE and IgM, unlike the alternative, protein-A, which does not bind human IgG₃ and does bind human IgA, IgD, IgE and IgM (Akerstrom et al., 1985). The spin column was centrifuged at 150g for 20 minutes to allow the HLA-A2 antibody to bind to the protein-G column. The column was then washed by loading the column with kit binding buffer (20ml) and by centrifuging the column for 5 minutes at 500g, to remove any unbound protein. The bound HLA-A2 antibody was eluted from the protein-G column via pH elution, by addition of a kit elution buffer (10ml) to the column and placing a collection tube containing a kit neutralization buffer (1.3ml), beneath the protein-G column to capture the eluted protein, prior to the centrifugation of the column for 5 minutes at 500g. The neutralisation buffer adjusted the pH of the eluted protein from the column to pH 7.2-7.6, to avoid denaturation of the captured antibody upon storage in elution buffer.

The resultant sample was desalted and concentrated using a centrifugal 30,000 MW Amicon Ultra-15 filtration device (Millipore, Maine, USA) by loading 15ml of the eluted protein and centrifugation at 4000g for 15 minutes, giving a final concentration of 0.30 mg/ml of purified protein. (As determined by NanoDrop (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, USA) spectrophotometer, by measuring absorbance at 280nm, with the elution buffer being used to correct for background).

4.2.2 Assessment of the epitope specificity of the HLA-A2 antibody

The specificity of the isolated HLA-A2 antibody was assessed by the Luminex platform (Luminex, Austin, USA) and Labscreen single antigen HLA Class I HLA beads (referred herein as SAB, single antigen beads) (OneLambda, California,USA). The use of the Luminex platform and SAB for the detection of HLA antibodies, and their subsequent analysis for epitope specificity is highlighted within the 2014 British Society of Histocompatibility and Immunogenetics (BSHI) and British Transplant Society (BTS) joint guidelines for the detection and characterisation of clinically relevant antibodies in allotransplantation

(http://www.bshi.org.uk/BSHI_BTS_Ab_Guidelines_Revision_June_2014.pdf)

4.2.2.1 Luminex solid phase immunoassay basic principles

The Luminex is a solid phase immunoassay (SPI), which utilizes polystyrene beads which contain two fluorescent dyes, which emit light at different wavelengths, and are present within the beads at different ratios, the use of the dye ratio allows for up to 100 individual distinguishable bead populations. The surface of the polystyrene beads is coated with different recombinant HLA molecules, which act as a target for any HLA antibodies in a test serum. Antibody bound to the HLA molecules upon the surface of the bead can then be detected by an anti-human IgG antibody conjugated with a third fluorescent dye, phycoerythrin (known as a reporter dye). Analysis of the beads upon the Luminex platform simultaneously assesses the bead in terms of its internal dye ratio and the presence (or otherwise) of the reporter dye, thus allowing the bead identity, which was coated with a known HLA antigen/s, and the reactive HLA antibody detected by the reporter dye, to be determined. The SAB used within this chapter were coated with HLA class I antigens, covering reactivity against HLA-A, B and C antigens.

4.2.2.2 Luminex solid phase immunoassay protocol

Briefly the LABScreen beads (OneLambda, California, USA) were resuspended by repeat pipetting, then 5µl of LABScreen beads were incubated with 20µl of the purified HLA-A2 antibody in a 96 well filter plate (N.B. the filter plates were pre-wet with kit wash buffer (OneLambda, California, USA) prior to use) for 30 minutes in the dark (with gentle shaking on a plate shaker). Post incubation, the 96 well tray was washed by adding kit wash buffer (150µl per well), sealing with a tray seal and centrifuging at 1300g for 5 minutes. Wash buffer was removed by vacuum aspiration. This process was repeated 3 times with 200µl per well of wash buffer for all subsequent washes. 100µl of PE conjugated anti-human IgG was added to each well, which was then covered with a tray seal, gently vortexed and incubated in the dark for 30 minutes at room temperature with gentle shaking as above. Post-incubation, the 96 well tray was centrifuged at 1300g for 5 minutes and the supernatant removed by vacuum aspiration. 200µl of wash buffer was added and the tray was sealed and vortexed prior to centrifuging at 1300g for 5 minutes, the wash buffer was removed by vacuum aspiration as before. This wash step was repeated twice. 80µl PBS (Life Technologies, Fulton, UK) (6.8-7.2pH) was added to each well ready for acquisition and analysis upon the Luminex platform. Analysis was performed on the Luminex LABScan 100 instrument with the reactivity of the purified HLA-A2 antibody calculated from raw fluorescence values within the output csv file using HLA fusion (OneLambda, California, USA). The reactivity was normalised for background binding levels by correcting for bead reactivity to LABScreen negative control serum (OneLambda, California, USA), by dividing the reactivity level of a bead by the value of the negative control bead, as per the manufacturers' guidelines.

4.2.3 Determination of the eplet specificity of the HLA-A2 antibody using HLAMatchmaker.

The O1PAIRABSCREEN version of HLAMatchmaker was utilized for the analysis of data generated in 4.2.2 The identity of the HLA antigens coated onto the SAB beads, referred to as the panel of HLA antigens, was entered into the 01PAIRABSCREEN program, this data was derived from the SAB beads specific lot information, which is supplied with the beads. The MFI values of the SAB bead reactivity were transferred from the output.csv file generated in 4.2.2 by copying and pasting. A positive cut-off of 1000 MFI was used according to the criteria for the detection of clinically relevant HLA antibodies in renal transplant patients at St James University Hospital, Leeds. No HLA type of the immuniser or self HLA type was included in the analysis as this was unknown. The reactive eplets were displayed in the resultant HLAMatchmaker eplet results output sheet. The results were manually checked, highlighted and sorted to reveal the reactive eplets which were shared by any reactive SAB.

4.2.4 Structural analysis of eplets and modelling the effect of changing the peptide sequence upon eplet structure

The Swiss-PdbViewer (http://spdbv.vital-it.ch/download/binaries/SPDBV_4.10_PC.zip) (Guex and Peitsch, 1997) was used to visualise the structure of HLA-A2 with the peptide bound within the HLA groove, using HLA-A2 structures obtained from the protein database (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/protein). The eplets identified in 4.2.3 via HLAMatchmaker were visualised using Swiss-PdbViewer, to determine their proximity to the peptide and the peptide binding groove. When an eplet was identified as proximal to the peptide, the mutation function of the Swiss-PdbViewer program was used to mutate the amino acid within the peptide. Ramachandran plots were used to visually assess the orientation of the change, in terms of the formation of appropriate torsion angles. Any change leading to improbable torsion angles was not analysed further and deleted (Hollingsworth and Karplus, 2010). The impact of altering an amino acid via the 'mutation' function upon identified eplets was assessed topographically and in terms of electrostatic potential and free energy, as previously described for comparing epitopes (Kosmoliaptsis et al., 2011; Duquesnoy et al., 2013). Electrostatic energy and free energy was calculated using the Groningen molecular simulation computer (GROMOS596) software which is integrated within the Swiss-PdbViewer program using Coulomb calculations (Guex and Peitsch, 1997). Solvent accessibility was also calculated using the Swiss-PdbViewer program and mapped directly to the surface, for rapid assessment of change of amino acid on solvent accessibility, which is used to determine antibody accessibility as described within the HLAMatchmaker system for determining epitopes (Duquesnoy, 2011a).

4.2.5 *Peptide influence on the ability of an eplet to bind its cognate antibody.* To determine if peptides can influence the ability of antibody to bind to its target, the peptides, VMAPRTLIL, LLLSGALAL and ALGFYPAEI identified in chapter 2 as being capable of binding to HLA-A2, and utilised in the T2 binding assay (figure 2.12 and 2.14 peptides 7, 13 and 19 respectively) were used to determine if any of these peptides could affect antibody binding to those eplets close to the binding groove (as identified in 4.2.4).

The HLA-A*02 antibody described in 4.2.2 and 4.2.3 was used in conjunction with a w6/32 mouse monoclonal antibody (Abcam, Cambridge, UK). The w6/32 antibody is specific to an epitope located away from the peptide binding groove, upon residue 121 of the α -chain, proximal to the β_2 -microglobulin, which is also argued to form a functional portion of the epitope (Trayssac *et al.*, 2012), and therefore will be unaffected by changes within the peptide (figure 4.3). Titrations of the purified HLA-A*02 antibody were performed to determine antibody saturation levels, the w6/32 antibody was used as per the manufacturers' instructions (volumes and concentrations are described below).

The ratio of the fluorescence intensity of w6/32 (FL-2) to HLA-A2 (FL-1) test antibody was calculated and any change in the ratio, when altering the peptide sequence, was taken to indicate peptide influence over binding by HLA-A2, this was calculated as FL-1 / FL-2, such that an increase in ratio indicated stronger binding, while a reduced ratio a decrease in binding. Direct measurement of FL-1 as an indication of HLA-A2 binding was not possible, as individual peptides stabilise HLA-A2 at different rates (see fluorescence intensity values in figures 2.13 and 2.14), which would skew the data if a measurement of the FL-1 fluorescence alone was used.

Peptides ALGFYPAEI, VLLLLSAAL, VMAPRTLIL, and the HA-1 control peptide (VLHDDLLEA) from the T2 binding assay (section 2.2.8), were used to stabilise the T2 cell line. Negative controls of DMSO treated and unstabilised T2 cells were also used (as described in section 2.2.8). The only alteration to the assay described within chapter 2 was the addition of the HLA-A2 antibody purified in 4.2.1 and a subsequent detection phase. The HLA-A2 antibody was incubated with the T2 cell line together with the mouse anti-w6/32 conjugated to phycoerythin (PE), at saturation conditions (20µl of HLA-A2 antibody at 20µg/ml and 5µl of w6/32 (the antibody was supplied pre-diluted) per 1x10⁶ T2 cells), and incubated for 30 minutes in the dark, before washing twice with serum free RPMI 1640 media (Life Technologies, Fulton, UK). To detect the bound HLA-A2 IgG antibody, a mouse anti-human IgG FITC conjugated.

An Unpaired *t*-test was used to assess the influence upon antibody binding using GraphPad analysis software (GraphPad software, CA, USA).

antibody (BD Pharmingen, Oxford, UK) was added at saturation conditions (determined by titration to be 25μ l per 1×10^{6} cells) and incubated for 30 minutes in the dark, before washing twice with serum free RPMI 1640 media as before. The washed cells were then fixed with 0.5% paraformaldehyde ready for analysis. Analysis was performed on a FACSCalibur (BD biosciences) with fluorescence measured on the FL-1 and FL-2 channels.

4.2.6 Reproducibility of the assays described in chapter 4

All assays were performed a minimum of 3 times. T2 binding assays and flow cytometric assays were performed in triplicate and repeated at least 3 times.

Purification of HLA-A2 antibody by protein G	 Assessment of reactivity to HLA-A2 by Luminex single antigen beads
Determination of purified HLA-A2 antibody epitope reactivity	 .CSV file from Luminex single antigen beads entered into HLA matchmaker via import Determination of epitope reactivity using HLA Matchmaker eplet system
Structural analysis of identified eplets to determine the location of the epitopes on the HLA-A2 molecule	•Swiss-PdbViewer utilized to assess location of identified eplets upon HLA-A2 molecules obtained from the protein database
Structural modelling of the effect of changing an amino acid within the HLA bound peptide upon eplets identified on HLA-A2 which engage/are proximal to the peptide	 Swiss-PdbViewer utilized to change appropriate amino acids and measure the effect upon eplets generated
Functional analysis of the effect of changing the peptide bound by HLA-A2	•T2 cells loaded with different peptides and the ability of antibody to bind when the different peptides are in place measured

Figure 4.4 Flow diagram of the work performed in chapter 4

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Determining antibody specificity towards HLA-A*02

The reactivity of the antibody donated by Dr David Lowe, and then purified, towards HLA-A2 was confirmed by analysis upon SAB, using the Luminex platform. A screen shot of the Manhattan graph from the HLA fusion software used is shown in figure 4.5. Each column in the graph represents a bead within the assay, and the antigens coated onto each bead are listed beneath each column, in rows representing HLA-A, B and Cw antigens. Visual inspection of the graph reveals the antibody has reacted with beads coated with HLA-A2, 69, and B57, 58 antigens, while the rest of the beads coated with antigen remain negative, this data was transferred into the HLA matchmaker software.

4.3.2 Identifying epitope reactivity of HLA-A*02 specific antibody

The measure of reactivity against the beads can be seen more clearly in figure 4.6, which shows a condensed version of the output file from the HLAMatchmaker software. The positive and negative controls produce a reactivity value of 11,908 and 7 MFI respectively, demonstrating the validity of the assay. Seven beads show positive reactions with the purified HLA-A2 antibody, with highest reactivity being observed on the three beads present in the assay which are coated with HLA-A2 antigens, specifically HLA-A*02:03, 02:01 and 02:06, which had MFI values of 14,743, 14,378.5 and 13,797 respectively. The HLAMatchmaker software revealed that two reactive eplets were present upon these antigens, both the 62GE and 107W eplet. Reactivity was also observed for the purified HLA-A2 antibody on the HLA-A*69:01 coated bead, which possesses a single eplet shared with the HLA-A2 reactive beads, this being the 107W eplet, the reactivity was lower than for the HLA-A2 beads being 12,198 MFI. The final three reactive beads also shared a single reactive eplet with the HLA-A2 reactive beads, this being the 62GE eplet present upon the HLA-B*57:03, 58:01 and 59:01. The reactivity on these beads was reduced even further, with MFI levels of 3,827, 3,393 and 2,495 respectively. These epitopes have been previously observed (Mulder et al., 2005).

These results confirm the reactivity of the purified HLA-A2 antibody for the HLA-A2 antigen, and demonstrate the antibody reactivity is directed against two epitopes, identified as the 62GE and 107W eplet.

<u>ຍ</u>∞[|]ສO_|Ou [^]_Q Goa o_ • • **a** œ O) ₀o¦ء¢¢n o _0 a. cu a°plot Be65t ≚v s.ª`amon ⊵å $\texttt{POB}_{\forall} \circ \texttt{POB}_{\forall} \circ \texttt{POB}_{\forall} \circ \texttt{O} \circ \texttt{POB}_{\forall} \circ \texttt{O} a e o₀85 aっ<u>a</u>o ao85 Ot tm e galmente Bactor t **∕3.**∂o∜ 50 **2** ° 0 00 c 01 c 0 '⁰⁰ 3 4 -< 8^{c} Here of of $^{c}\Theta'$ e $d^{\beta}o^{\beta}v$ e, тз СJ

n23

836 R32

~n-3-□□ LD

	I	ILAMatchmak ₍	er output 1	file						
	Ď		CL QL L Q.	م م <	а В Д	2	ᇦᄱᆆᆋᇸ	CL LU it	Fplets	
	Ō	1	u Q_	>-	to O Q.	80 ₽ 1		0		
	0		u Z	>>	e? LU Z	IN		0		
	0	7	x	ro So v	0 S	ro IN rH		<n< td=""><td>⊑2° 7 70≊∴</td><td></td></n<>	⊑ 2° 7 7 0≊∴	
	0		x	±O ≊Q v	₽°° [−]	LO B ≊ ro C H H		(N	£ ⊵OH U? H U?N to	
	0	J.	x	±05 00, <	b °50	≥ ∲-́о е́т		04	62 Œ, 107 W,	
	0	- ⁻	x	rHOG t₀. <	₽ oq.			rH	107W ,	
	0	6	x	ro ĭ¤ ≇⁰	₽ ₀2			rH	62 (H)	
	0	_	x	rH 0 00 LO ∗ 00	50 CL	го О') го го		rH	62 (H)	
	0	2L	x	±0⊖ ¹ 30	₽ ₀a	L0 ¥2 (N		rH	62 (H	
	Ō	1	x	rH O ₽0 <	N⊒N	Б Ц		0		
	0	-	x	\$O £₹ <	VD Z	ro IN rH		0		
	0	10	x	[0] ⊊N <	U Z	LO LO Æ		0		
	Ō	_1	x	Eo 2Q v	OLUZ	CN '3" rH		0		
	0	- ¹	x	<₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽ ₽	LU Z	LO ŕN		0		
	D	_	x	8 [*] 60≟	OLUZ	LO IN to		0		
	Ő	<u>–</u>	x	r∺ ° ¶N ∗ ∞	LU Z	LO CN LO		0		
	0	لىر	x	0.1 4 8	NGO	OLO		0		
H VO re ³ LO	3 nd 30 Ct		ro £ re		0) 0 '\0>	ve a ⊲ ×°	-a o a fi			
č		# רמ ≡ מ) ¶≌±m	е О О	Ю Д	∎on Cha	Q_ to	.1 0 51	U Co	ට යා සං පිළිම
അ്¢്നുവം	a'a = t √a	പപ്പാളം	30⊐ ∪£9 1	င ာ ဖ က်နှ	പ ്പെട്ട് ല	re		f	o agori Cada	с С ге
-	Ĭ	J	ר i	-		ţ	_	(-	

highlighted red and green respectively. 1,000 MFI was used as a positive cut-off, positive beads are highlighted in yellow. အဏ≉အ်vas Po ¶va ခက်ပက္စဠ∂ಕva con **ස' ¤**ස ⊐ීට කලා ස **୦**ଅ୦ apilatige അറ്റ് പുറ്റ് പുറ്റം പുറ īe **a**5600 75

චි ද ර 4.3.3 *Identifying the proximity of the identified epitopes to the HLA bound peptide* Using the protein database the crystal structures of HLA-A*02 (PDB no. 3D25) were visualised in Swiss-PdbViewer, and the eplets 62GE and 107W were analysed for proximity to the peptide binding groove (figure 4.7 [A], [B] and [C]).

This reveals that the 62GE eplet is proximal to the peptide bound within HLA-A2. The structural modelling in figure 4.7 [A], showing the 3 dimensional structures of the peptide and 62GE, appearing to touch each other. The 62GE eplet is identified as being upon the side wall of the α -helical peptide binding groove. The 107W eplet however is shown as being distant from the peptide binding groove, shown from the top in figure 4.7 [B], the 107W eplet is located on the side of the HLA-A2 molecule, on the β -pleated sheet outside, the peptide binding groove.

4.3.4 Assessing the variation in antibody binding due to differential peptide bound by HLA-A*02

The proximity of the 62GE eplet to the peptide makes 62GE an ideal candidate for assessing if any changes within the peptide can influence the ability of peptide to bind. The assessment of the anti-HLA-A2 antibody's ability to bind to HLA-A2 when loaded with different peptides is shown in figure 4.8. Whereby, the ratios of FL-1 (anti-HLA-A2) and FL-2 (w6/32) MFI were used to demonstrate any change in the ability of the anti-HLA-A2 antibody to bind. Comparison of the two negative controls, the DMSO control and the unstabilized T2 cells, reveal a consistent ratio of around 6, indicating the assay has reproducible results. Comparison of the FL1/FL2 ratios of the T2 cells loaded with different peptides shows variation within the ratios (figure 4.8). The HA-1 peptide, which has a sequence of VLHDDLLEA, has the highest ratio of around 12, indicating the greatest antibody binding was observed when this peptide was bound by HLA-A2, while peptide 7, with a sequence of VMAPRTLIL demonstrated the weakest antibody binding, with a ratio of 8, peptides 13, VLLLLSAAL and 19, ALGFYPAEI, having ratios of around 11 and 10 respectively.

The major difference between the two specific peptides which are associated with the strongest (the VLHDDLLEA peptide) and weakest (the VMAPRTLIL peptide) HLA-A2

 O
 FD
 BO
 FD
 <t οτές ο ἀξο ο ἀξμο μα το ἀξαρογογιάς μα το ἀξιο ο Βً≝ΟE ant ∄±ο⊽ ေျင≢ဧ၊ on ¦∘္ ΩΩi.molge ...o ਸ਼ੁਰ ਰਹਰੋੜ ਦਾ ਰਤੋਇ ਸ਼੍ਰਾ ;cu ;; os G⊡OEanGito⊽ a[−] ε petetet = α. . ⊔ ⊷Ω ∘ α. ∎aξa a a go b 2 € β 2 ? γ b e^{ະ∞ ¦}a **⊺ mo e' oi*** "e' g [⊸] d ່ ດ ີ ດ ີ ဖိုးနာမာ⇔ဒံုးက⊖ိုး ၉၉ **မဲ '** တို် 5 ရေးလြ database (Guex & Peitsch, 1997). **,≊o**_B**o**_⊳ E FN ^{VL:} 3

								LD			m LO			
						60	00	rsi r- cn LO	00 LO	D	cn sj-	D. rsi	00 LD	
ထိ							D. rsj "St	00 LO QJ		cn 80 ⊞		^3	ro	
™ E o	rj m (N id nz! \$ —					LO LO O cn	LO LO O cn	1910 1917 1917 1917 1917	10 10 D : 1 1	0 rsi	D cn rsi	m m 100 ISI	тНО СП СП СП СП СП СП СП СП СП СП СП СП СП СП	
	.*-1 "5				999 9 9			co≎ I¢ov			-O a			T 5 5 T (3 3
				ୡୢ୶	$\frac{\leq}{x}$									
				rsi cn	ad De									-(<
	IdIAI	0 0 0 8 8 8 8 9 0) ம	0 E <	0 c ri -Q rc c c	j H Si								([[((((((((((((()))))))))
	ı			3 a	-C+T c CL □ K Q CL □ < 1 > K Q C □ < 1 > Q C □ c Z	D so i si n								24 74 0 0 1 1 1
			0 m rsi 0 rsi		O QJ ■O CL o QJ cr CL ~	n n								נ ר ר יי
			ĿQ ↓	00	00 C									د بن د بن بن بن بن ر
) 0 0 0 0 I rsi on c I o.					_	с						ر د ۱۰ ۱۰ ۵
	LU	LU LU						J						n 3

 $\mathbf{B} \stackrel{\circ}{} \mathbf{B} \stackrel{\circ}{} \mathbf{F} \stackrel{\circ}{} \mathbf{B} \stackrel{\circ}{} \mathbf{F} \stackrel{\circ}{} \mathbf{B} \stackrel{\circ}{} \mathbf{F} \stackrel{\circ}{} \mathbf{B} \stackrel{\circ}{} \mathbf{F} \stackrel{\circ}{\phantom{$ 00 c <u>β</u>Ω 'εα'ς **β**Ω × <u>β</u>Ω<u>β</u> × **β**υΩ 'ε₃ rsi < < c ro ∎a c ro CM ro rsi on LD 10 X I ro ₄_-` **cn** 03 4010 0 ନ £ ୧୦.୪୧ ୧ୁୀବ ହପ୍ତ**ସ୍ତ** ହେ ວ**ຕິ** ເຄີດ ,000 ເຊິ່ງ ຊີດເຄີ່ອງ ເຊິ່ງ ເຊ CM rH OsJ on CD 00 d c rsi 0 **K** "0 ບ**ຼີຍ** ລູງ ບຼີຍ ບິດ • ______0 ບີ່ນີ່ຍີ່ ເຊິ່ງ ro ≁ _ro _Q -**4**3 ro 00 ro IE Ю -С Т<u>3</u> Ю ro > **4₫** ro o . Ln ro < x

149

Titration of human anti-human IGS against HLA-A*02 specific antibody stained T2 cells

w6/32 titration against the T2 cell line

antibody binding, in terms of the peptide regions which are proximal to the 62GE eplet, is seen in peptide residues 2 and 3. Both of these peptides have V (valine) in position 1, while the strongest antibody binding was seen when Leu (leucine) and His (histidine) were in positions 2 and 3, while the weakest binding was seen when Met (methionine) and Ala (alanine) were in position 2 and 3. In peptides 13 (VLLLLSAAL) and 19 (ALGFYPAEI), leucine was also seen in position 2. Therefore all the peptides which had L in position 2, demonstrated a greater ability to bind the anti-HLA-A2 antibody, than the peptide with Met in position 2. To determine if a change between Met and Leu at position 2 could be responsible for the difference between the antibodies ability to bind, structural modelling of HLA-A2 with peptides which were identical except for containing Leu, and then Met at position 2 was performed (figures 4.9 and 4.10).

4.3.5 Structural modelling of the effect of changing a single amino acid within the HLA bound peptide on an epitope proximal to the peptide binding groove

The structural modelling of the HA-1 peptide containing L at position 2 is shown in figure 4.9. The 62GE eplet consists of both glycine (G or Gly) and glutamic acid (E or Glu), these amino acids are highlighted within figure 4.9, while the position of 62GE in relation to the L amino acid of the peptide can be seen to be separated by another amino acid upon the α -chain, a lysine (K) at position 66. The 62GE eplet does not appear to be obscured by this amino acid at position 66, in terms of its accessibility to be bound by an antibody. The figure also demonstrates the overall electrostatic potential of the HLA-A2 molecule bound with HA-1, with Leu in position 2, for comparison to the electrostatic potential when Met is in position 2. The distance between the Leu and 62GE is 4.081Å while in the modelling of 62GE when Met is in position 2 (shown in figure 4.10), the distance is reduced to 3.341Å. The modelling of Met in position 2 also shows that hydrogen bonds are formed between the 62GE eplet and the Met amino acid, no hydrogen bonds were visible when Leu was in position 2. A comparison of the electrostatic potential and total free energy of the glycine and glutamic acid residues, which form the 62GE eplet is shown in table 4.2 for both the Met and Leu residues within position 2 of the peptide. The data for the Met residue shows a decrease in the total energy (E) on both the Gly and Glu amino acid residues within the 62GE eplet, with a reduction in total energy of -0.7777 and -2.108 E

than -1.6, white 0.00 and blue greater than 1.6. The area circled indicates the 62GE -Leu area. Modelled using Swiss-PdbViewer (Guex & Peitsch,

Modelled using Swiss-PdbViewer (Guex & Peitsch, 1997).

Residue	Position	Electrostatic Potential (kT/e) with Leu at peptide P2	Electrostatic Potential (kT/e) with Met at peptide P2	Total Energy (E) with Leu at peptide P2	Total Energy (E) with Met at peptide P2
Gly	α-chain 62	0.00	0.00 (0)	-14.632	-15.409 (-0.777)
Glu	α-chain 63	11.61	11.61 (0)	-28.414	-30.522 (-2.108)

Table 4.2 The predicted change in total energy and electrostatic potential upon Gly and Glu, due to changing the amino acid within the peptide at position 2 (P2) from Leu to Met.

respectively. There was no difference in the electrostatic potential for either of the Gly or Glu residues when Met or Leu was in position 2.

To determine if any change between the Met and Leu amino acid residues within position 2 of the peptide, altered the accessibility of the 62GE eplet to antibody, their solvent accessibility was calculated for comparison (figure 4.11).

The solvent accessibility demonstrates no variation between the molecules when they have either Leu or Met in the peptide position 2. The area of the 62GE eplet is highlighted within the solvent accessibility structure. A sliding scale of colours is used to determine the accessibility of solvent into the molecule, blue indicating a completely buried residue while red a total exposed residue.

accessible are coloured red while blue indicates completely buried residues. The circle indicates the 62GE and Leu/Met area.

4.4 Discussion

The purified HLA-A2 antibody was shown to be specific for both the 62GE and 107W eplets. The reactivity within the Luminex assay was not limited to HLA-A2 however, but the presence of the 62GE eplet on HLA-B*57:03, 58:01 and 59:01 antigens, explains the reactivity of beads coated with these antigens within the assay, as does the presence of 107W on the HLA-A*69:01 antigen coated bead. Interestingly the 62GE and 107W eplets, which are both present on HLA-A2, being present on separate antigens (62GE on B*57, 58 and 59 and 107W on A*69) allows for an indication of the strength of reactivity to these individual eplets, which cannot be determined from the HLA-A2 reactivity alone. The mean reactivity on the beads which had both 62GE and 107W eplets is 14,309 MFI, which comprises reactivity to both 62GE and 107W. The reactivity on the bead coated solely with 107W however was 12,198, much higher than the reactivity seen on those beads with only the 62GE eplet (mean MFI 3,238). This indicates that the anti-HLA-A2 antibody most likely consists of two anti-HLA-A2 antibodies, at two different strengths. The first and strongest being reactive to 107W, while the second and weaker reactivity being to 62GE. The addition of the individual 62GE and 107W reactivity from beads with only one of these eplets present gives a value similar to that seen on beads which possess both of these eplets.

Mapping the location of these eplets to the surface of HLA-A2, identifies they are located at distinctly different sites on the molecule. The 107W being on the side of the molecule and distant to the peptide binding groove, and therefore unsuitable for assessing the effect of variation within the peptide upon antibody binding. The 62GE eplet however, is shown to be on the α -helical wall of the peptide binding groove, and therefore would be an ideal candidate to assess if changes within the peptide bound within the binding groove, could affect the ability of the antibody to recognise this eplet.

The data showing the ratio of the bound HLA-A2 antibody to the bound w6/32 antibody, shows that there is a variation in the amount of HLA-A2 antibody bound, when the peptides within the HLA-A2 binding groove are changed. However, as mentioned within the introduction to this section, the majority of binding of an

antibody is derived from the 'hot spot' area (Duquesnoy, 2011a), identified in this case as the eplet 62GE, but further binding energy is also provided by the area surrounding the 'hot spot'. Therefore the variability in the HLA-A2 antibody binding HLA-A2, when different peptides are present, could be due to antibody contact directly with the peptide itself as well as to the 62GE eplet. To clarify this further work is required, which could encompass the alteration of a single amino acid residue at a time, within the peptide bound to HLA-A2 and measurement of antibody binding. Furthermore the use of surface plasmon resonance (SPR) to assess the on/off rates of antibodies, when different peptides are present within the HLA-A2 binding groove, could be carried out. However what the data presented here does demonstrate is that anti-HLA-A2 antibody binding, is affected by different peptides being bound within the HLA-A2 molecule, it is the specific mechanism however, which is not fully elucidated here.

Interestingly those peptides which have the highest antibody binding ratios (figure 4.8), all have Leu at position two of the peptide, which fits the reported binding characteristics of the HLA-A2 molecule (Paul, 2013), and is observed as a favourable amino acid for the HLA class I molecules pocket B (discussed in section 1.1.19) within HLA-A2 molecules. Furthermore, another amino acid which reportedly fits the pocket B characteristics is Met amino acid residue, which is observed frequently within this position from peptides eluted from HLA-A2, although less so than Leu (Paul, 2013).

The reported observation of Met and Leu, as favoured amino acid residues at position 2 of peptides bound within the HLA-A2 molecule, combined with the data presented here showing that the peptides with Leu in position 2 were able to bind more HLA-A2 antibody than the peptide with Met at position 2. Highlight these two amino acids as interesting candidates for affecting the binding of anti-HLA-A2 antibody.

The structural analysis of peptides with Leu or Met at position 2 (figure 4.9, 4.10, and 4.11), and the relative effect upon the 62GE eplet, revealed some interesting findings. At the closet point between the Leu and 62GE eplet, the distance is measured as 4.081Å, greater than the 3.0Å radius HLAMatchmaker uses to generate its eplets (Duquesnoy and Marrari, 2009), no bond formation is seen between the 62GE and Leu residue either, in addition a Lys at position 66 appears above both the 62GE and Leu,

although the 62GE does not appear to be directly obscured by the Lys at position 66, it may prevent some interaction between them. Furthermore to some extent this Lys could be expected to shield the Leu residue of the peptide to access by a binding antibody, due to its presence above the Leu residue side chain.

Changing the Leu to a Met residue however, results in hydrogen bond formation between Met and the 62GE eplet. This formation appears to draw the Met residue closer to the 62GE eplet, with a distance of 3.341Å from the 62GE eplet. The Lys at residue 66 is positioned as before, but this time proximal to the Met residue. Potentially the formation of the hydrogen bonds between Met and 62GE could account for the reduced ability of the 62GE specific, purified HLA-A2 antibody, to bind its target by drawing it closer to the Lys residue at position 66 and shielding its access to 62GE specific antibody. This seems unlikely as the majority of 62GE still appears to remain in an antibody accessible position, however to determine any change in accessibility more qualitatively, an assessment of solvent accessible residues was performed, which revealed no discernible variation in terms of antibody accessibility between both the Leu and Met containing peptides.

In an assessment of the Bw6 and Bw4 epitopes, and their ability to bind antibody, Kosmoliaptsis and colleagues (2011), determined the electrostatic potential of Bw4 and Bw6 epitopes upon various HLA-class I molecules and determined that 'changes of critical amino acids that abrogate antibody binding also induce distinct changes in epitope electrostatic potential'. These concepts were used to investigate the binding of the purified HLA-A2 antibody to the 62GE eplet.

A comparison of the electrostatic potential of the Gly and Glu residues, which form the 62GE eplet, with Leu and then Met present at position 2 of the peptide, revealed no variation within the electrostatic potential. However the electrostatic potential calculations performed by the Swiss-PdbViewer utilizes Coulomb calculations, which are reportedly less sensitive than the Poisson-Boltzmann calculations (Guex and Peitsch, 1997) performed by the DELPHI program used by Kosmoliaptsis *et al.*, (2011), and therefore may not be sensitive enough to measure any change. However the additional sensitivity of the Poisson-Boltzmann calculations is derived from their ability
to consider the influence of buried residues within the protein (Guex and Peitsch, 1997), which may be of a lesser significance here, since both the peptide bound by HLA-A2 and the 62GE eplet are present at the protein surface.

Recently, a measure of total free energy has been shown to influence not only the ability of an HLA specific antibody to bind, but also the subsequent ability of this antibody firstly to bind C1q, and secondly, to initiate the complement cascade (Duquesnoy *et al.*, 2013). It is interesting to note then that the total free energy calculated for the Gly and Glu amino acid residues of the 62GE eplet varies dependent upon whether Leu or Met is in position 2 of the peptide bound by the HLA-A2 molecule, with a reduction of total energy when Met is present in comparison to Leu. This could be a result of the formation of the hydrogen bonds when Met is present, which would require energy, and therefore less energy is available for antibody binding. Whether this could explain the reduction in the ability of anti-HLA-A2 antibody to bind is uncertain, and most likely results from a combination of different factors, including reduction in available total energy. An alternative hypothesis could also be developed from the Duquesnoy *et al.*, (2013) paper.

Duquesnoy describes the function of other epitopes, which are within a region of around 6-15Å of the epitope to which the antibody is specific. Clearly this would include much of the peptide, which would be expected to fall within a 6-15Å region of the 62GE eplet (figures 4.9 and 4.10). These epitopes within 6-15Å of the 62GE eplet are capable of providing variation within free energy, depending upon their composition and therefore may influence antibody binding and function. This has not been assessed within the structural modelling carried out here, but offers another explanation for the variation in HLA-A2 (62GE) antibody binding, observed when the peptide loaded onto HLA-A2 is altered within the T2 binding assay.

The impact of the variation in antibody binding as a result of different peptides being bound to the HLA molecule is potentially multifaceted, with implications for the detection of antibodies by routinely employed methodologies within H+I laboratories, as different peptides may be present in different manufacturers solid phase assay HLA antibody detection kits (Duquesnoy *et al.*, 2013), while in a clinical context different

minor histocompatibility antigens could change the ability of antibodies to bind to their target, such that the same antibody could have a different clinical relevance in different individuals.

In summary, chapter 4 has highlighted that peptides are not only capable of inducing alloreactivity through their influence upon the TCR, but also could affect humoral responses through their ability to affect antibody binding to the allograft. Current concepts concerning the role of peptides within the processes of T cell selection and the establishment of central tolerance, as well as the key role played by peptides in the TCR-pHLA interaction are an area of intense research. Peptides are also fundamental to the function of HLA molecules and are crucial to their formation within the HLA-Class I and Class II processing and presentation pathways. Thus, an appropriate response to pathogens while maintaining a tolerance of self, fundamentally involves peptides as well as HLA molecules and the TCR.

In the context of allotransplantation, the roles of peptides within allorecognition demonstrates a fundamental role for peptides, including mHAGs, within allorecognition. Of most interest in the context of this thesis, is the significant association of HLA mismatching on the outcome of allotransplantation, and the role of peptides derived from the HLA molecules themselves.

The experimental work in chapter 2, investigated the identification of peptides derived from HLA molecules, which could have an influence upon the alloresponse, as a consequence of their presentation by another HLA molecule. This was achieved by the creation of a comprehensive database of peptides predicted to bind to HLA-A*02. Due to the differential binding properties of HLA molecules themselves, limiting the database to HLA-A*02 was necessary. This produced a database of peptides predicted to bind to HLA-A*02 from each of the HLA class I amino acid sequences listed within the IMGT/HLA database.

This database was then utilized to identify peptides bound by HLA-A*02, with the HLA-A*02 molecules being obtained from the THP-1 monocytic cell line. Through the use of MS/MS sequencing and the database of peptides which were predicted to bind to HLA-A*02, two peptides, which were derived from the other HLA molecules expressed upon THP-1 cells, and were bound and presented by the HLA-A*02 molecule, were identified. These were peptides ALGFYPAEI and VMAPRTLIL, encoded for within the HLA type present on THP-1 cells (Battle *et al.*, 2012), specifically within HLA-B*15 and HLA-C*03 HLA molecules respectively.

The consequence of this in a transplant setting is that matching for donor and recipient HLA-A*02 antigens, while having a mismatch on the donor cells of B*15 and/or HLA-C*03 would allow for a recipient's HLA-A*02 restricted T cells, to bind the donor HLA-A*02 molecule, complexed with the ALGFYPAEI or VMAPRTLIL peptide, since the recipient's TCR would not have experienced the ALGFYPAEI or VMAPRTLIL peptide complexed with self HLA-A*02 during development in the thymus, thus it would have the potential to form a response.

Significantly HLA-B*15 and HLA-C*03 are not the only HLA molecules to encode ALGFYPAEI or VMAPRTLIL, the database of peptides generated within chapter 2 also shows that HLA-A*01, A*03, A*11, A*23, A*24, A*30; B*18, B*27, B*35, B*38, B*39, B*40, B*41, B*42, B*44, B*45, B*46, B*47, B*48, B*49, B*50, B*51, B*52, B*53, B*54, B*55, B*56, B*57 alleles encode for ALGFYPAEI, while HLA-C*01, C*04, C*05, C*06, C*08, C*12, C*14, C*16, C*17:02 alleles encode VMAPRTLIL. The significance of this is that mismatches of each of these molecules would be expected to generate the same HLA-A*02 and ALGFYPAEI or VMAPRTLIL bound peptide. However, if the recipient also possessed one of the other HLA molecules which encoded for the peptide, then this potential to generate an alloresponse, as a consequence of the peptide, would be null, as they would possess an HLA type which included the peptide, and thus T cells expressing TCR specific for this self peptide/HLA would have been eliminated in the thymus, as self reactive T cells.

These principles can be proposed analogous to Duquesnoy's system of determining acceptable mismatches, by the identification of epitopes thoughout an HLA type, (Duquesnoy, 2011a), whereby instead of comparing whether a donor and recipient share the same HLA molecules, comparison of whether the donor and recipient HLA molecules share the same epitopes is assessed via the HLAMatchmaker program, these epitopes are not neccessarily on the same HLA molecules. Using this logic to demonstrate the significance of the work initiated within chapter 2, an HLA molecule could be seen as a group of peptides capable of being bound by other HLA molecules, some of these peptides will be shared between HLA molecules and others not, allowing the identification of permissible peptide mismatches, and identifying potential alloreactive peptide mismatches.

Clearly the work undertaken in chapter 2 can only be seen as the first steps in this approach, and a significant amount of further work needs to be performed. In the first instance, peptides obtained from HLA-A2 expressed in conjunction with other HLA antigens needs assessing, allowing the database of HLA-A*02 encoded alleles, which can present peptides obtained from HLA molecules which were not expressed on THP-1 to be examined. Subsequent to this work the database needs expanding for the prediction of peptides which bind to HLA molecules other than HLA-A2.

To acheive this a significant amount of further work needs to be performed, however this is not as insurmountable as it first appears. Due to the knowledge that although HLA molecules are extensively polymorphic, the HLA molecules can be thought of as being highly polymorphic in specific areas, whilst conserved in others (figure 1.9). This has the effect of generating peptides which are of identical sequences from the non polymorphic areas, limiting the number of peptides which require analysis. Furthermore, many of the polymorphic sites are shared between some HLA alleles, indeed the ALGFYPAEI peptide identified within chapter 2 was encoded for by over 25 groups of HLA class I alleles.

The peptides derived from non-polymorphic areas should not however be dismissed as unable to generate alloresponses, as, if these conserved peptides are presented by a mismatched HLA molecule, which therefore the recipient has not experienced during the establishment of central tolerance, and this presentation produces novel epitopes as a consequence of variation in the binding of the peptide, due to different properties of the peptide binding groove; then these conserved peptides can also be thought of as having an alloreactive potential.

These concepts can be thought of as an extension of the multiple binary complex theory, in which, donor peptides which are derived from homologous intracellular proteins, which are also present within the recipient, have a different set of peptides presented from the same intracellular proteins, due to variation in the recipient and donor's HLA binding grooves (Bharat and Mohanakumar, 2007).

It is most likely that a combination of peptide related alloresponses are responsible for direct recognition, rather than the single concept outlined in the multiple binary complex theory. This combination would include the peptides generated as described by the multiple binary complex theory, with the addition of the presentation of peptides derived from mismatched HLA and presented by matched HLA, as described in chapter 2, and the presentation of the homologous peptides in a different manner to that experienced during central tolerance, due to variation in the peptide binding groove. Perhaps a more appropriate collective term for these processes is abating negative selection, in which the negative selection process of central tolerance is reduced in its amount, degree and intensity. In support of this more comprehensive description of the involvement of peptides in direct allorecognition is the obeservation that central tolerance can be re-established post transplant by the intrathyminc injection of peptides (Oluwole et al., 2001), and more recently that a chimeric state in renal transplant recipients by simultaneous HSCT has been shown to be capable of providing an environment suitable for renal allograft survival, without maintenance immunosuppression (Kawai et al., 2008). The proposed mechanism of tolerance following chimerism has been suggested to be the elimination of 'reactive cells within the thymus which are reactive to donor antigen' (Kawai et al., 2008). Essentially reestablishing central tolerance, or described another way, removing the impact of abated negative selection by re-establishing it with the presence of donor antigens.

In further work, the impact of the formation of HLA-A*02 molecules complexed with HLA derived peptides, to which a recipient does not encode any antigens for, should be examined in a functional setting. The presence of T cells, which are reactive to HLA-A*02 possessing these specific peptides could be assessed post transplant in peptide mismatched patients. For example, in a post transplant setting, where the recipient and donor both possess HLA-A*02 molecules, while the donor also expresses the VMAPRTLIL peptide encoded for by HLA-C*03 and the recipient does not possess another VMAPRTLIL encoding HLA allele, the patients' post transplant CD8⁺ cells could be stained with HLA tetramers specifically targeting HLA-A*02/ VMAPRTLIL complexes, allowing any CD8⁺ positive cells with a TCR reactive to the HLA-A*02/ VMAPRTLIL complexes to be identified. Once identified, these cells could then be interogated in terms of their function via intracellular cytokine staining and the cell surface markers

present. Such work could identify the presence of surface expression of CD69⁺, an activation marker on CD8⁺ T cells, while the cytokine profiles of these cells, may further elucidate the mechanisms of allograft damage. The examination of post transplant patients for the non-classical HLA-E molecules complexed with specific peptides using tetramers has already been performed within the literature (Allard *et al.,* 2012) validating this approach to some extent.

The leader peptide sequences of HLA are of particular interest, with only one of the comprehensive list of leader peptide sequences identified within chapter 2, demonstrated as being able to be bound to by HLA-A*02 however. This was confirmed both by binding studies using the T2 cell line, as well as it being identified amongst the peptides bound to the HLA-A*02 molecule encoded on the THP-1 cell line itself. The identification of the leader peptide VMAPRTLIL within chapter 2 initiated the work undertaken in chapter 3. As novel functions have previously been reported for leader peptides such as VMAPRTLIL, in that they are crucial for the formation of HLA-E and their function with NK cell receptors NKG2/CD94 (Petrie *et al.*, 2008).

Given that leader peptides, as shown within chapter 2, can be bound by HLA class I molecules (in this case HLA-A*02) and therefore be presented to CD8⁺ T cells, and that they also form a part of a crucial ligand for NK cell receptors. They therefore cross both the innate and adaptive immune responses and are an interesting target for investigating the role of peptide mismatching within the transplant setting.

The effect of mismatching of HLA class I derived leader peptides was performed within chapter 3 via the assessment of the clinical impact of their mismatches within a cohort of renal transplant patients. A search of the literature indicates this represents the first time a group of endogenously derived peptides had been assessed in such a manner, although the need for the assessment of such peptides in the setting of allotransplantation has been identified previously (D'Orsonga *et al.*, 2013). The assessment of HLA class I derived leader peptide sequence mismatches, demonstrated a striking relationship between a reduction in renal allograft function, as assessed by Δ creatinine, with an increase in the number of mismatches. This function appeared to be independent of HLA matching (Battle *et al.*, 2013). Scrutiny of the work within

chapter 3 reveals several areas for further work. Firstly, the cohort of patients analysed here was relatively small, this is of particular significance when data analysis focuses on the level of the leader peptide mismatches within specific HLA matched groups, such as the ODT matching level. A larger validating cohort of patients should now be assessed to validate this data and confirm the findings within chapter 3. By increasing the size of the cohort, the confounding influence which affected the work assessing the effect of leader peptide mismatches in NHSBT ODT level 3 matched groups may be limited.

Secondly, the exact mechanism by which the leader peptide mismatching is exerting this effect also needs investigating. In the first instance this work could be performed in conjunction with the additional work required from chapter 2. In that tetramer staining of post transplant recipient cells for potential HLA leader peptide binding targets, specifically HLA-E and mismatched HLA antigens could be performed, and if the presence of any cells responding to these specific antigens are identified, then they could be interrogated in terms of their function and cytokine profiles, as described for the further work outlined within chapter 2. Although the effect of presentation of leader peptides via HLA class I molecules directly to CD8⁺ cells will most likely generate alloresponses as described earlier, the evidence within the literature (Tamouza *et al.*, 2006; Danzer *et al.*, 2009; Hosseini *et al.*, 2013; Hoare *et al.*, 2008; Battle *et al.*, 2013) already supports the concept of a strong influence of HLA-E bound leader peptide mismatching upon the Δ creatinine levels described in chapter 3.

The literature reports the presence of HLA-E restricted effector memory cells in patients who are infected with the CMV AD169 virus, which encodes a homologous leader peptide sequence to maintain HLA-E surface expression, as part of an immunoevasion strategy (Mazzarino *et al.*, 2005). The effector memory cells being detected only in patients who possess different leader peptide sequences in their HLA type to the one CMV is mimicking (Mazzarino *et al.*, 2005), and can thus effectively target and kill the viral infection. This demonstrates the specificity of the mechanism by which leader peptides can exert allograft damage, in that instead of CMV introducing a leader peptide sequence to which a response is formed, the leader peptides are introduced via the allograft. Essentially the further work using HLA

tetramers, described above, is similar to that work carried out on CMV infection (Mazzarino *et al.*, 2005), except that responses to mismatched leader peptides on the allograft would be assessed, instead of mismatched CMV leader peptide immuneevasion strategies, in terms of their ability to generate responses.

Considering concepts which relate, instead of to HLA-E presentation to CD8⁺ cells, but to the involvement of HLA-E and innate immune responses to allografts. HLA-E interaction with CD94/NKG2 receptors, as described in chapter 3, has been shown to be affected by the affinity of leader peptides to HLA-E (Hoare *et al.,* 2008). This affinity alters the ability to be bound by HLA-E and has a direct effect upon the expression level of HLA-E (Vales-Gomez *et al.,* 1999), and therefore changes within peptides which have different binding affinities would be expected to alter surface expression of HLA-E, and thus alter the ability of HLA-E to interact with the CD94/NKG2 activating/inhibiting receptors.

It is interesting to note then that the data in chapter 3 demonstrates that Δ creatinine levels increase, when the leader peptide mismatches are amongst those leader peptides which are reported to have different affinities for HLA-E, such as HLA-B derived leader peptides, while in those reported as having the same affinity for HLA-E, such as HLA-A derived leader peptides (Hoare et al., 2008; Lee et al., 1998; Lemberg et al., 2001; Vales-Gomez et al., 1999), there appeared to be no change in Δ creatinine levels. This data strongly indicates that the innate responses generated by HLA-E have a role within the influence of HLA class I leader peptide derived mismatches and the performance of renal allografts, within the first 12 months post transplant (Battle et al., 2013). Again this work needs replicating with a much larger cohort of patients, however another intriguing observation in the literature, which indicates the affinity of leader peptide to HLA-E, may contribute significantly to the results described in chapter 3, is the association with the HLA-E*01:03 allele with reduced TRM post HSCT. The HLA-E*01:03 is expressed at a much higher level than its counterpart HLA-E*01:01, and the explanation for the reduced TRM with HLA-E*01:03, being the increased availability of HLA-E*01:03 to bind to inactivating CD94/NKG2 receptors (Hosseini et al., 2013). This data then does not directly involve leader peptides but demonstrates

that expression of HLA-E, which is a function of the leader peptide's ability to bind to HLA-E, has an influence upon HSCT outcome.

The work in chapter 3, again highlights the complex nature of peptides in the formation of alloresponses, and draws attention to a group of peptides, HLA class I derived leader peptides, as an interesting target for further work.

Chapter 4 focused upon another mechanism by which peptides could influence the response to allografts, specifically by looking at the role of peptides on the binding of HLA specific antibodies to their target epitope. After obtaining and purifying an HLA-A*02 specific antibody, analysis of the antibody's ability to bind to HLA-A*02 on the T2 cell line was shown to vary depending upon the peptide which was bound. Reports within the literature demonstrate that antibodies can be peptide specific (Hülsmeyer et al., 2004) so perhaps this finding is not surprising. However such a peptide specific antibody would have several implications in the setting of allotransplantation. Firstly many laboratories supporting transplant programs rely on commercially available kits to detect HLA antibodies, within potential transplant recipients, often going to transplant without a pre-transplant crossmatch where appropriate. The ability to detect any peptide specific HLA antibodies using these techniques is unknown, but given that these kits use recombinant HLA as the target antigens (Susal *et al.*, 2013), it is likely that the peptides, which are bound to the HLA groove are derived from proteins which are not representative of those expressed on the allograft. To some degree this would also be true in a crossmatch, as the T and B lymphocytes used in a crossmatch, although not expressing recombinant proteins, would not be expected to express the same proteins as upon a transplanted kidney or heart. However, the donor derived T and B lymphocytes used in crossmatching would be more likely to represent donor antigens than the recombinant HLA used within the often used luminex assays (Susal *et al.,* 2013).

No such peptide specific antibodies were identified within chapter 4, however the observation that changes within the peptide can influence specific antibody binding, resulting in a greater or lesser amount of antibody binding, may still be of importance in the detection of antibodies within patients awaiting allotransplantation, for example

a different peptide being bound to the HLA molecules within the test assay's HLA antigens, to those expressed upon the transplanted tissue in a recipient means that, an antibody has the potential to bind with different affinity in the test to within the transplanted tissue. Given that current concepts in the understanding of alloantibody reactivity now includes the observation that binding affinity, and available free energy of particular epitopes, can affect the ability of an antibody to bind, fix complement and activate the complement cascade (Duquesnoy *et al.*, 2013), then changes within the peptides could be expected to induce changes within the antibody functions.

Although the structural modelling undertaken in chapter 4 did not discern the functional impact of any observed changes, this work was able to demonstrate that peptides induced conformational variation within epitopes (Battle *et al.*, 2014), and also produced a modest variation within the free energy of the amino acids, which comprised an epitope proximal to the peptide binding groove, namely 62GE.

The work undertaken in chapter 4 then, allows a greater understanding of the potential impact of HLA bound peptides on the ability of HLA antibodies to bind their target, while chapter 3 identifies that HLA derived peptides, specifically the HLA class I derived leader peptides, have an impact upon renal allograft function in the first 12 months post transplant when mismatched. These investigations and findings however would not have been possible if considerable effort had not been undertaken within chapter 2, to establish a database of HLA class I derived peptides, which were capable of being bound by HLA-A*02 molecules.

The overall output from this thesis emphasises the potential role of peptides in the alloimmune response, with the concept of abated negative selection tentatively introduced as a holistic term, for the description of the effect of changing the peptidome, through the introduction of novel proteins through transplantation, and the variation in presentation of peptides introduced via transplantation. This knowledge gives new insights into the matching of HLA types in the context of renal transplantation.

References

Afzali B, Lechler RI and Hernandez-Fuentes MP (2007) Allorecognition and the alloresponse: Clinical Implications. Tissue Antigens 69:545-556.

Afzali B, Lombardi L and Lechler RI (2008) Pathways of major histocompatibility complex allorecognition. Current Opinion in Organ Transplantation 13: 438-444.

Al-Lamki RS, Bradley J and Pober JS (2008) Endothelial cells in allograft rejection. Transplantation 86: 1340-1348.

Allard M, Tonnerre P, Nedellec S, Oger R, Morice A, Guilloux Y, Houssaint E, Charreau B and Gervois N (2012) HLA-E restricted cross-recognition of allogenic endothelial cells by CMV associated CD8 Y cells: A potential risk factor following transplantation. 11: e50951.

Akerstrom B, Brodin T, Reis K and Bork L (1985) Protein G: A powerful tool for the binding and detection of monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies. Journal of Immunology 135: 2589-2592.

Ali JM, Bolton EM, Bradley JA and Pettigrew GJ (2013) Allorecognition pathways in transplant rejection and tolerance. Transplantation 96: 681-688.

Amir AL, Van Der Steen DM, Hagedoorn RS, Kester MGD, Van Bergen CAM, Drifhout J W, Ru AH, Falkenberg F, Van Veelan PA and Heemskerk (2011) Allo-HLA-reactive T cells inducing graft-versus-host disease are single peptide specific. Blood 118: 6733-6742.

Androutsos G, Diamantis A and Vladimirus L (2008) The first leg transplant for the treatment of cancer by the Saints Cosmas and Damian. Journal of the Balkan Union of Oncology 13: 297-304.

Bade-Doeding C, Deluca DS, Seltsam A, Blascyzk R and Eiz-Vesper B (2007) Amino acid 95 causes strong alteration of peptide position $P\Omega$ in HLA-B*41 variants. Immunogenetics 59: 253-259.

Barnard CN (1968) Human cardiac transplantation: An evaluation of the first two operations performed at the Groote Schurr hospital, Capetown. The American Journal of Cardiology 22: 584-596

Battle R, Poole K, Haywood-Small S, Clark B and Woodroofe MN (2012) Molecular characterisation of the monocytic cell line THP-1 demonstrates a discrepancy with the documented HLA type. International Journal of Cancer 132: 246-247.

Battle R, Turner D, Woodroofe N and Clark B (2014) Identified HLA class I epitopes can undergo conformational induced variation due to changes within HLA bound peptides. Immunology Letters 161: 57-58.

Battle R, Woodroofe N, Clench M and Clark B (2013) The relationship of HLA class I derived leader peptide mismatch and renal function within the first 12 months post renal transplant. Tissue Antigens 82: 291-292.

Baxter TK, Gagnon SJ, Davis-Harrison RL, Beck JC, Binz AK, Turner RV, Biddison WE and Baker BM (2004) Strategic mutations in the class I major histocompatibility complex HLA-A2 independently affect both peptide binding and T cell receptor recognition. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 28: 29175-29184.

Becker LE, Süsal C and Morath C (2013) Kidney transplantation across HLA and ABO antibody barriers. Current Opinion in Organ Transplantation 18: 445-454.

Benchou G and Thomson AW (2009) Direct versus indirect allorecognition pathways: on the right track. American Journal of Transplantation 9: 655-656.

Berman HM, Westbrook J, Feng Z, Gilliland G, Bhat TN, Weissig H, Shindyalov IN and Bourne PE (2000) The protein databank. Nucleic Acids research 28:235-242.

Bharat A and Mohanakumar T (2007) Allopeptides and the alloimmune response. Cellular Immunology 248: 31-43.

Birnbaum ME, Dong S and Garcia KC (2012) Diversity-oriented approaches for interrogating T-cell receptor repertoire, ligand recognition, and function. Immunological Reviews 250: 82-101. Bjorkman PJ, Saber MA, Samraoui B, Bennett WS and Strominger JL (1987) Structure of the human class I histocompatibility antigen, HLA-A2. Nature 329: 506-512

Bolton EM, Bradley AJ and Pettigrew GJ (2008) Indirect allorecognition: not simple but effective. Transplantation 85: 667-669.

Brady CS, Bartholomew JS, Burt DJ, Duggan-Keen MF, Glenville S, Telford N, Little AM, Davidson JA, Jimenez P, Ruiz-Cabello F, Garrido F and Stern P L (2000) Multiple mechanisms underlie HLA dysregulation in cervical cancer. Tissue Antigens 55:401-411.

Braud VM, Allan DSJ, Wilson D and McMichael AJ (1997) TAP- and tapasin-depended HLA-E surface expression correlates with the binding of an MHC class I leader peptide. Current Biology 8: 1-10.

Bremond A, Meynet O, Mahiddine K, Coito S, Tichet M, Scotlandi K, Breittmayer J-P, Gounon P, Gleeson PA, Bernard A and Bernard G. (2008) Regulation of HLA class I surface expression requires CD99 and P230/golgin-245 interaction. Blood 113:347-357.

Brosnan JT and Brosnan ME (2006) The sulphur containing amino acids- an overview. Journal of Nutrition 136: 1636S-1640S.

Brown K, Sacks SH and Wong W (2011) Coexpression of donor peptide/recipient MHC complex and intact donor MHC: evidence for a link between the direct and indirect pathways. American Journal of Transplantation 11: 826-831.

Bunce M, O'Neill CM, Barnardo MC, Krausa P, Browning MJ, Morris PJ and Welsh KI (1995) Phototyping: comprehensive DNA typing for HLA-A, B, C, DRB1, DRB3, DRB4, DRB5 and DQB1 by PCR with 144 primer mixes utilising sequence-specific primers (PCR-SSP). Tissue Antigens 46: 355-367.

Castellanos MR, Weinstein G and Hayes RL (2001) A rapid method to identify cytotoxic T-lymphocyte peptide epitopes from HLA-A2 (+) donors. Critical reviews in Oncology/Hematology 39:133-138.

Chang D and Kobashigawa J (2012) The use of calculated panel-reactive antibody and virtual crossmatch in heart transplantation. Current Opinion in Organ Transplantation 17: 423-426.

Chen W, Khilko S, Fecondo J, Margulies DH and McCluskey J (1994) Determinant selection of major histocompatibility complex class I restricted antigenic peptides is explained by class I pepetide affinity and is strongly influenced by nondominant anchor residues. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 180: 1471-1483.

Colf LA, Bankovich AJ, Hanick NA, Bowerman NA, Jones LL, Kranz DM and Garcia KC (2007) How a single T Cell receptor recognizes both self and foreign MHC. Cell 129: 135-146.

Corse E, Gottschalk RA and Allison JP (2011) Strength of TCR-Peptide/MHC interactions and in vivo T cell responses. Journal of Immunology 186: 5039-5045.

Costantino CM, Spooner E, Ploegh HL and Hafler DA (2012) Class II MHC self-antigen presentation in human B and T lymphocytes. PLOSone 7: e29805.

Cresswell P, Bangia N, Dick T and Diedrick G (1999) The nature of the MHC Class I loading complex. Immunological Reviews, 172: 21-28.

Crispim JCO, Saber LT, Duarte RA, Soares CP, Costa RS, Silva JS, Mendes-Junior CT and Donadi (2008) Impact of the non-classical HLA-E expression on kidney allograft outcome. Transplantation 86: 747.

Dalet A, Robbins PF, Stroobant V, Vigneron N, Li Y F, El-Gamil M, Hanada K-I, Yang JC, Rosenberg S A and Van den Eynde B J (2011) An antigenic peptide produced by reverse splicing and double asparagine deamidation. Proceedings of the Natural Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108: E323-31.

Danzer M, Helene P, Johannes P, Reinhard H, Hofer K, Stabentheiner S, Hackl C, Kasparur H, Konig J, Hanns H, Michaela B, Weiss R, Gabriel C and Krieger O (2009) Clinical significance of HLA-E*0103 homozygosity on survival after allogenic HSCT. Transplantation 88: 528-532

Defranco AL, Locksley RM and Robertson M (2007) Immunity: The immune response in infectious & inflammatory disease, 1st Edition, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

den Han JMM, Meadows LM, Wang W, Pool J, Blokland E, Bishop TL, Reinhardous C, Shabanowitz J, Offinga R, Hunt F and Goulmy E (1998) The minor histocompatibility

antigen HA-1: A diallelic gene with a single amino acid polymorphism. Science 279: 1054-1057.

D'Orsogna LJ, Nguyen THO, Class FHJ, Witt C and Mifsud NA (2013) Endogenouspeptide-dependent alloreactivity: new scientific insights and clinical applications. Tissue Antigens 81: 399-407.

Duquesnoy RJ (2006) A structurally Based Approach to Determine HLA Compatibility at the Humoral Immune Level. Human Immunology 67: 847-862.

Duquesnoy RJ (2011a) Antibody reactive epitope determination with HLAmatchmaker and its clinical applications. Tissue Antigens 77: 525-534.

Duquesnoy RJ (2011b) Humoral alloimmunity in transplantation: relevance of HLA epitope antigenicity and immunogenicity. Frontiers in Immunology 59: 1-6.

Duquesnoy RJ and Marrari M (2009) HLAMatchmaker-based definition of structural human leukocyte antigen epitopes detected by alloantibodies. Current Opinion in organ Transplantation 14: 403-409.

Duquesnoy RJ and Marrari M (2011) Detection of antibodies against HLA-C epitopes in patients with rejected kidney transplants. Transplant Immunology 24: 164-171.

Duquesnoy RJ, Marrari M, Jelenik L, Zeei A, Class FHJ and Mulder A (2013) Structural aspects of HLA class I epitopes reacting with human monoclonal antibodies in Igbinding, C1q binding and lymphocytotoxicity assays. Human Immunology 74: 1271-1279.

Duquesnoy RJ, Marrari M, Mulder A, Claas FHJ, Mostecki J and Balazs I (2012) Structural aspects of human leukocyte antigen class I epitopes detected by human monoclonal antibodies. Human Immunology 73: 267-277

Edelmann SL, Marconi P and Brocker T (2011) Peripheral T cell re-enter the thymus and interfere with central tolerance induction. Journal of Immunology 10: 5612-5619.

El-Awar N, Terasaki PI, Nguyen A, Sasaki N, Morales-Buenrostro LE, Saji H, Maruya E and Poli F (2009) Epitopes of human leukocyte antigen class I antibodies found in sera of normal healthy males and cord blood. Human Immunology 70: 844-853. Eleftheriadis T (2012) The existence of two types of proteasome, the constitutive and proteasome and the immunoproteasome, may serve as another layer of protection against autoimmunity. Medical Hypothesis 78: 138-141.

Elliott T and Williams A (2005) The optimization of peptide cargo bound to MHC class I molecules by peptide-loading complex. Immunology Reviews 207: 89-99.

Escobar H, Reyes-Vargas E, Jenson PE, Delgado JC and Crockett (2011) Utility of characteristic QTOF MS/MS fragmentation of MHC class I peptides. Journal of Proteome Research 10: 2494-2507.

Fagerbert T, Cerottini JC and Michielin O (2006) Structural prediction of peptides bound to MHC class I. Journal of Molecular Biology 356: 521-546

Falk K, Rötzschke, Stevanovic, Jung G and Rammensee HG (1991) Allele-specific motifs revealed by sequencing of self-peptides eluted from MHC molecules. Nature 351: 290-296.

Fehr T and Gaspert A (2012) Antibody-mediated kidney allograft rejection: therapeutic options and their experimental rationale. Transplant International 25: 623-632.

Felix NJ and Allen PM (2007) Specificity of T-cell alloreactivity. Nature Reviews Immunology 7: 942-952.

Felix NJ, Donermeyer DL, Horvath S, Walters JJ, Gross ML, Suri A and Allen PM (2007) Alloreactive T cells respond specifically to multiple peptide-MHC complexes. Nature Immunology 8: 388-396.

First MR (2003) Renal function as a predictor of long-term graft survival in renal transplant patients. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation 18: i3-i6.

Fuller AA, Trevithick JE, Rodney GE, Parham P, Fuller TC (1990) Topographic map of the HLA-A2 CREG epitopes using human alloantibody probes. Human Immunology 28: 284-305.

Garcia KC, Adams JJ, Feng D and Ely LK (2009) The molecular basis of TCR germline bias for MHC is surprisingly simple. Nature Immunology 10: 143-145.

Garcia KC, Degano M, Stanfield RL, Brunmark A, Jackson MR, Peterson PA, Teylon L and Wilson IA (1996) An $\alpha\beta$ T cell receptor structure at 2.5Å and its orientation to the TCR-MHC complex. Science 274: 209-219.

Gatfield J, Lammert E, Nickolaus P, Münz C, Rothenfusser S, Fisch P, Stevanovic S, Schild H, Rammensee HG and Arnold D (1998) Cell lines transfected with the TAP inhibitor ICP47 allow testing peptide binding to a variety of HLA class I molecules International Immunology 10: 1665-1672.

Girnita AL, Girnita DM and Zeevi A (2007) Role of anti-HLA antibodies in allograft rejection. Current Opinion in Organ Transplantation 12: 420-425.

Gonzalez-Galarza FF, Christmas S, Middleton D and Jones AR (2010) Allele frequency net: a database and online repository for immune gene frequencies in worldwide populations. Nucleic Acids Research 39: D913-919.

Goulmy E (2004) Minor histocompatibility antigens: allo target molecules for tumorspecific immunotherapy. Cancer Journal 10: 1-7.

Gras S, Burrows SR, Turner SJ, Sewell AK, McCluskey J and Rossjohn J (2012) A structural voyage toward an understanding of the MHC-I-restricted immune response: lessons learned and much to be learned. Immunolgical Reviews 250: 61-81.

Gricks CS, Rawlings E, Foroni L, Madrigal A and Amlot PL (2001) Somatically mutated regions of immunoglobulin on human B cell lymphomas code for peptides that bind to autologous major histocompatibility complex class I, providing a potential target for cytotoxic T cells. Cancer Research 61: 5145-5152.

Groth CG, Brent L B, Calne RY, Dausset JB, Good RA, Murray JE, Shumway NE, Schwartz RS, Starzl TE, Terasaki PI, Thomas ED and van Rood JJ (2000) Historic landmarks in clinical transplantation: conclusions from the consensus at the university of california, Los Angeles. World Journal of Surgery 24: 834-843.

Guex N and Peitsch MC (1997) SWISS-MODEL and Swiss-PdbViewer: An environment for comparative protein modeling. Electrophoresis 18: 2714-2723.

Haan JMM, Meadows LN, Wang W, Pool J, Blokland E, Bishop TL, Reinhardus C, Shabanowitz J, Offringa R, Hunt DF, Engelhard VH and Goulmy E (1998) The minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1: a diallelic gene with a single amino acid polymorphism. Science 279: 1054-1057.

Hankey KG, Drachenberg CB, Papadimitriou JC, Klassen DK, Philosophe B, Bartlett ST, Groh V, Spies T and Mann DL (2002) MIC expression in renal and pancreatic allografts. Transplantation 73: 304-306.

Hariharan S, McBride MA and Cohen EP (2003) Evolution of endpoints for renal transplant outcome. American Journal of Transplantation 3: 933-941

Harndahl M, Justesen S, Lamberth K, Røder G, Nielsen M and Buus (2009) Peptide bindijng to HLA class I molecules: homogenous, high throughput screening, and affinity assays. Journal of biomolecular screening 14: 173-180.

Havranek JJ and Harbury PB (1999) Tanford-Kirkwood electrostatics for protein modelling. PNAS 96: 11145-11150.

Heatley SL, peitra G, Lin J, Widjaja JML, Harpur CM, Lester S, Rossjohn J, Szer J, Schwarer A, Bradstock K, Bardy PG, Mingari MC, Moertta L, Sullivan LC and Brooks AG (2013) Polymorphism in human cytomegalovirus UL40 impacts on recognition of human leukocyte antgen-E (HLA-E) by natural killer cells. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 288: 8679-8690.

Heeger PS (2003) T-cell alloracognition and transplant rejection: A summary and update. American Journal of Transplantation 3: 525-533.

Heinhold A, Kuehl B, Brenner-Weiss G, Opelz G and Tran TH (2010) Sequential analysis by immunoprecipitation-MALDI-TOF: A novel method for detection and identification of alloantibody specificities. Human Immunology 71: 462-467.

Helmberg W (2012) Bioinformatic databases and resources in the public domain to aid HLA research. Tissue Antigens 80: 295-304

Hewitt SL, Chaumeil J and Skok JA (2010) Chromosome dynamics and the regulation of V(D)J recombination. Immunological Reviews 237: 43-54.

Hoare HL, Sullivan LC, Clements GS, Ely LK, Beddoe T, Henderson KN, Lin J, Reid HH, Brooks AG and Ross J (2008) Subtle changes in peptide conformation profoundly affect recognition of the non-classical MHC class I molecule HLA-E by the CD94/NKG2 natural killer cell receptors. Journal of Molecular Biology 377: 1297-1303.

Hoffmann E and Stroobant V (2007) Mass Spectrometry Principles and Applications, 3rd Edition, John Wiley and Sons, Chichester.

Hollingworth SA and Karplus PA (2010) A fresh look at the Ramachandran plot and the occurrence of standard structures in proteins. Biomolecular Concepts 1: 271-283.

Hoppes R, Ekkebus R, Schumacher TNM and Ovaa H (2010) Technologies for MHC class I immunoproteomics. Journal of proteomics 73: 1945-1953.

Horton R, Wilming L, Rand V, Lovering RC, Bruford EA, Kohdiyar VK, Lush MJ, Povey S, Talbot Jr CC, Wright MW, Wain HM, Trowsdale J, Ziegler A and Beck S (2004) Gene map of the extended human MHC. Nature Reviews Genetics 5: 889-899.

Hosseini E, Schwarer AP, Jalali A and Ghasemzadeh (2013) The impact of HLA-E polymorphisms on relapse following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Leukemia Research 37: 516-519.

Howell WM, Carter V and Clark B (2010) The HLA system: immunobiology, HLA typing, antibody screening and crossmatching techniques. Journal of Clinical Pathology 63: 387-390.

Huang J, Zarnitsyna VI, Liu B, Edwards LJ, Jang N, Evavold BD and Zhu C (2010) The kinetics of two dimensional TCR and pMHC interactions determine T-cell responsiveness. Nature 464: 932-936.

Hülsmeyer M, Chames P, Hillig RC, Stanfield RL, Held G, Coulie PG, Alings C, Wille G, Saenger W, Uchanska-Ziegler B, Hoogenboom HR and Ziegler A (2004) A major histocompatibility complex peptide-restricted antibody and T cell receptor molecules recognise their target by distinct binding modes: Crystal structure of human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-A1 MAGE -A1 in complex with FAB-HYB3. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 280: 2972-2980.

Janeway, CA. Travers, P. Walport, M. (1999) Immunobiology, 4th Edition, Churchill Livingston, Edinburgh, p510.

Kawai T, Cosimi AB, Spitzer TR, Tolkoff-Rubi N, Suthanthiran M, Saidman SL, Shaffer J, Preffer FI, Ding R, Sharma V, Fishman J A, Bimalangshu D, Ko DSC, Hertl M, Goes NB, Wong W, Williams WW, Colvin RB, Sykes M and Sachs DH (2008) HLA-Mismatched renal transplantation without maintenance immunosuppression. The New England Journal of Medicine 358: 353-361.

Kim JI, O'Connor MR, Duff PE, Zhao G, Lee KM, Eliades P, Deng S, Yeh H, Caton A and Markmann JF (2011) Generation of adaptive regulatory T cells by alloantigen for some but not all transplant tolerance protocols. Transplantation 91: 707-713.

Kosmoliaptsis V, Bradley JA, Sharples LD, Chaudhry A, Key T, Goodman RS and Taylor C J (2008) Predicting the mmunogenicity of Human Leukocyte Antigen class I alloantigens using structural epitope analysis determined by HLAMatchmaker. Transplantation 85: 1817-1825.

Kosmoliaptsis V, Dafforn TR, Chaudhry AN, Halsall DJ, Bradley JA and Taylor CJ (2011) High-resolution, three-dimensional modelling of human leukocyte antigen class I structure & surface electrostatic potential reveal the molecular basis for alloantibody binding epitopes. Human Immunology 72: 1049-1059.

Lakis FG (2003) Where is the Alloimmune Response Initiated? American Journal of Transplantation 3: 241-242.

Lampen MH, Hassan C, Sluijter M, Geluk A, Dijkman K, Tjon JM, de Ru AH, van der Burg SH, van Veelan PA and van Hall (2013) Alternative peptide repertoire of HLA-E reveals a binding motif that is strikingly similar to HLA-A2. Molecular Immunology 53: 126-131.

Laux G and Opelz G (2004) Immunological relevance of GREG matching in renal transplantation. Transplantation 78: 442-446

Leddon SA and Sant AJ (2010) Generation of MHC class II-peptide ligands for CD4 T cell allorecognition of MHC class II molecules. Current Opinion in Organ. Transplantation 15: 505-511.

Lee HG, Lim JS, Lee KY, Choi YK, Choe IS, Chung TW and Kim K (1997) Peptide specific CTL induction in HBV seropositive PBMC by stimulation with peptides in vitro: novel epitopes identified from chronic carriers. Virus Research 50: 185-194.

Lee N, Goodlett DR, Ishitani A, Marquardt H and Geraghty DE (1998) HLA-E surface expression depends on binding of TAP-dependent peptides derived from certain class I signal sequences. Journal of Immunology 160: 4951-4960.

Lemberg MK, Bland FA. Weihofen A, Braud VM and Martoglio B (2001) Intramembrane proteolysis of signal peptides: an essential step in the generation of HLA-E epitopes. Journal of Immunology 167: 6441-6446.

Liao WWP and Arthur JW (2011) Predicting peptide binding to Major Histocompatibility Complex. Autoimmunity Reviews 10: 469-473.

Little A-M, Scott I, Pesoa S, Marsh SGE, Arguello R, Cox ST, Ramon D, Vullo C and Madrigal (2001) HLA class I diversity in Kolla Amerindians. Journal of Immunology 62: 170-179.

Liu CY, Chen Z, Burrows SR, Purrell AW, McCluskey J, Rossjohn J and Gras S (2012) The energetic basis underpinning T-cell receptor recognition of a superbulged peptide bound to a major histocompatibility complex molecule. Journal of Biological Chemistry 287: 12267-12276

Long AS, Rieck M, Tatum M, Bollyky PL, Wu RP, Muller I, Ho J-C, Shilling HG and Buckner JH (2011) Low dose antigen promotes induction of FoxP3 in human CD4+ T cells. Journal of Immunology 187:3511-3520.

Long EO and Jacobson S (1989) Pathways of viral antigen processing and presentation to CTL defined by the mode of virus entry. Immunology Today 10: 45-48.

Lövgren T, Baumgaertner P, Wieckowski S, Devevre E, Guillaume P, Luescher I, Rufer N and Speiser DE (2012) Enhanced cytotoxicity and decreased CD8 dependence of human cancer-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes after vaccination with low peptide dose. Cancer Immunology 61: 817-826.

Marfo K, Lu A and Akalin E (2011) Desensitization protocols and their outcome. Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 6: 922-936.

Marrari M, Mostecki J, Mulder A, Claas F, Balazs I and Duquesnoy R J (2010) Human monoclonal antibody reactivity with human leukocyte antigen class I epitopes defined by pairs of mismatched eplets and self-eplets. Transplantation 90: 1468-1472. Mazzarino P, Peitra G, Vacca P, Falco M, Colau D, Coulie P, Moretta L and Mingari C (2005) Identification of effector-memory CMV-specific T lymphocytes that kill CMVinfected target cells in an HLA-E-restricted fashion. European Journal of Immunology 35: 3240-3247.

Mckenna RM and Takemoto SK (2000) Improving HLA matching for kidney transplantation by use of CREGS. The Lancet 355: 1842-1843

Medawar PB (1945) A second study of the behaviour and fate of skin homografts in rabbits. A report to the war wounds committee of the medical research council. Journal of Anatomy 79: 157-176

Milner E, Gutter-Kapon L, Bassani-Strenbrg M, Barnea E, Beer I and Admon A (2013) The effect of proteasome inhibition on the generation of the human leukocyte antigen peptidome. Molecular and Cellular Proteomics 12: 1853-1864.

Mirshahidi S, Ferris LC and Sadegh-Nasseri S (2004) The magnitude of TCR engagement is a critical predictor of T cell anergy or activation. Journal of Immunology 172: 5346-5355.

Molhoj M and Degan FD (2004) Leader sequences are not signal peptides. Nature Biotecnology 22: 1502.

Morris GP, Peggy PN and Allen PM (2010) Alloreactivity is Limited by the Endogenous peptide Repertoire. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108: 3695-3700.

Mulder A, Eijsink C, Kester MG, Franke ME, Kardol MJ, Heemskerk MH, van Kooten C, Verreck FA, Drijfhout JW, Koning F, Doxiadis II and Claas F (2005) Impact of peptides on the recognition of HLA class I molecules by human HLA molecules. Journal of Immunology 175: 5950-5975

Murray J E, Merrill JP, Dammin GJ, Dealy JB, Guy WA and Harrison JH (1962) Kidney transplantation in modified patients. Annals of Surgery 156: 337-355.

Nankivell BJ and Alexander SI (2010) Rejection of the kidney allograft. New England Journal of Medicine 363: 1451-1462.

Neefjes J, Jongsma MLM, Paul P and Bakke O (2011) Towards a systems understanding of MHC class I and Class II antigen presentation. Nature Reviews Immunology 11: 823-836.

Neipp M, Karavul B, Jackobs S, Vilsendorf AM, Richter N, Becker T, Schwartz A and Klempnauer J (2006) Quality of life adult transplant recipients more than 15 Years after kidney transplantation. Transplantation 81: 1640-1644.

Nicholls S, Piper KP, Mohammed F, Dafforn TR, Tenzer S, Salim M, Mahendra P, Craddock C, Schild H, Cobbold M, Engelhard VH, Moss PAH and Willcox BE (2009) Secondary anchor polymorphism in the HA-1 minor histocompatibility antigen critically affects MHC stability and TCR recognition. PNAS 106:3889-3894.

Olsson KS, Ritter B and Raha-Choudhury R (2009) HLA-A3 B14 and the origin of the haemachromotosis C282Y mutation: founder effects and recombination events during 12 generations in a Scandinavian family unit. European Journal of Haematology 84: 145-153.

Oluwole OO, Depaz HA, Gopinathan R, Ali A, Garrovillo, Jin M-X, Hardy MA and Oluwole SF (2001) Indirect allorecognition in acquired thymic tolerance induction of donor-specific permanent acceptance of rat islets by adoptive transfer of allopeptidepulsed host myeloid and thymic dentric cells. Diabetes 50: 1546-1552.

Opelz G (1992) Strength of HLA-A, HLA-B, and HLA-DR mismatches in relation to shortand long-term kidney graft survival. Collaborative transplant study. Transplant International 5: S621-624.

Opeltz G (1997) Impact of HLA compatibility on survival of kidney transplants from unrelated live donors. Transplantation 64: 1473-1475.

Opelz G, Döhler B, Ruhenstroth A, Cinca S, Unterrainer C, Stricker L, Scherer S, Gombos P, Süsal C, Daniel V, Tran H (2013) The collaborative transplant study registry. Transplant reviews 27: 43-45.

Patel R and Terasaki PI (1969) Significance of the positive crossmatch test in kidney transplantation. New England Journal of Medicine 280: 735-739.

Paul WE (2013) Fundamental immunology, 7th Edition, Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, Philadelphia.

Peace-Brewer AL, Tussey LG, Matsui M, Li G, Quinn DG and Frelinger JA (1996) A point mutation in HLA-A*0201 results in failure to bind the TAP complex and to present virus-derived peptides to CTL. Immunity 4: 505-514.

Petra H, Eva H, Irena B, Petra H and Ondrej V (2013) Molecular profiling of acute and chronic rejections of renal allografts. Clinical and developmental Immunology Epub ahead of print. Doi10.1155/2013509259.

Petrie EJ, Clements GS, Lin S, Sullivan LC, Johnson D, Huyton T, Herouz A, Hoare HL, Beddoe T, Reid HH, Wilce MCJ, Brooks AG and Rossjohn J (2008) CD94-NKG2A recognition of human leukocyte antigen (HLA)- E bound to an HLA class I leader sequence. Journal of Experimental Medicine 205: 725-735

Pilate N and Wekerle T (2010) Mechanistic and therapeutic role of regulatory T cells in tolerance through mixed chimerism. Current Opinion in Organ transplantation 15: 725-730.

Pinilla-Ibraz J, May RJ, Korontsvit T, Gomez M, Kappel B, Zakhaleva V, Zhang R H and Scheinberg D A (2006) Improved human T-cell responses against synthetic HLA-A*0201 analog peptides derived from the WT1 oncoprotein. Leukemia 20: 2025-2033.

Rammensee H, Bachmann J, Emmerich N P, Bachor O A and Stevanovic S (1999) SYFPEITHI: database for MHC ligans and peptide motifs. Immunogenetics 50: 213-219.

Rao X, Hoof I, Isabel A, Costa A I C A F, Baarle D and Kesmir (2011) HLA class I allele promiscuity revisited. Immunogenetics 63: 691-701.

Relts E A, Vos J C, Gromme M and Neefjes J (2000) The major substrates for TAP in vivo are derived from newly synthesized proteins. Nature 404:774-778.

Resse M, Paolillo R, Casamassimi A, Cavalca F, Fiorito C, Maiello C and Napoli C (2013) Anti-HLA-A, B, DR, DQB1 and DQA1 antibodies reactive epitope determination with HLAmatchmaker in multipare awaiting list for heart transplant. Human Immunology 74: 937-941. Robinson J, Halliwell JA, McWilliam H, Lopez R, Parham P and Marsh SGE (2013) The IMGT/HLA database. Nucleic Acids Research 41: 1222-1227.

Robinson J, Waller MJ, Parham P, Groot ND, Bontrop R, Kennedy LJ, Stoehr P and Marsh SGE (2003) IMGT/HLA and IMGT/MHC: sequence databases for the study of the major histocompatibility complex. Nucleic Acids Research 31: 311-314.

Rodney GE, Neylan JF, Whelchel JD, Revels KW, Bray RA (1994) Epitope specificity of HLA class I alloantibodies. Frequency analysis of antibodies to private versus public specificities in potential transplant recipients. Human Immunology 39: 272-280.

Roelen D, Doxiadis IIN and Class FHJ (2012) Detection of clinical relevance of donor specific HLA antibodies: a matter of debate. Transplant International 25: 604-610.

Romagnani C, Pietra G, Falco M, Mazzarino P, Moretta L and Mingari M C (2004) HLA-E-restricted recognition of human cytomegalovirus by a subset of cytolytic T lymphocytes. Human Immunology 65: 437-445.

Roopeen D, Choi E Y, Brown A (2002) The immunogenomics of minor histocompatibility antigens. Immunoloical reviews 195: 86-94.

Ruxton GD (2006) The unequal variance *t*-test is an underused alternative to student's *t*-test and the mann-whitney *U* test. Behavioral Ecology 14: 688-690.

Sahoo S, Kang S, Supran S, Saloman R, Wolfe H and Freeman R (2000) Tumor Necrosis Factor genetic polymorphisms correlate with infections after renal transplantation. Transplantation 69: 880-884.

Salter RD, Howell, DN and Cresswell P (1985) Genes regulating HLA class I antigen expression in T-B lymphoblast hybrids. Immunogenetics 21: 235-246.

Sanchez-Zapardiel E, Castro-Panete MJ, Castillio-Rama M, Morales P, Lora-Pablos D, Valero-Hervas D, Ruiz-Garcia R, Apaza J, Talayero P, Andres A, Morales JM and Paz-Artal E (2013) Harmful effect of preformed anti-MICA antibodies on renal allograft evolution in early post transplantation period. Transplantation 96: 1-9. Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Shimizu J, Yamazaki S, Sakihama T, Itoh M, Kuniyasu Y, Nomura T, Toda M and Takahashi T (2001) Immunologic tolerance maintained by CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T cells: their common role in controlling autoimmunity, tumor immunity, and transplantation tolerance. Immunological reviews. 182 :18-32.

Schubert U, Anton LC, Gibbs J, Norbury CC, Yewdell JW and Bennink JR (2000) Rapid degradation of a large fraction of newly synthesized proteins by proteasomes. Nature 404: 770-774.

Smith C, Miles JJ and Khanna R (2012) Advances in direct T-cell alloreactivity: function, avidity, biophysics and structure. American Journal of Transplantation 12:15-26.

Speir JA, Stevens J, Joly E, Butcher GW, Wilson IA (2001) Two different highly exposed bulged structures for an unusually long peptide to rat MHC class I RT1-Aa. Immunity 14: 81-92

Spencer CT, Gilchuk P, Dragovic SM and Joyce S (2010) Minor histocompatibility antigens: presentation principles, recognition logic and the potential for a healing hand. Current Opinion in Organ Transplantation 15: 512-525.

Spurgin LG and Richardson DS (2010) How pathogens drive genetic diversity: MHC, mechanism and misunderstandings. Proceedings of the Royal Society of Biological Sciences 277: 979-988.

Starzl TE and Demetris AJ (1998) Transplantation tolerance, microchimerism, and the two-way paradigm.

Steen H and Mann M (2004) The ABC's (and XYC's) of peptide sequencing. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 5: 699-711.

Stuber G, Dillner J, Modrow S, Wolf H, Szekely L, Klein G and Klein E (1995) HLA-A0201 and HLA-B7 binding peptides in EBV encoded EBNA-1, EBNA-2 and BZLF-1 proteins detected in the MHC class I stabilization assay. Low proportion of binding motifs for several HLA class I alleles in EBNA-1. International Immunology 7: 653-663.

Stuber G, Leder GH, Storkus WJ, Lotze MT, Modrow S, Székely L, Wolf H, Klein E, Kärre K and Klein G (1994) Identification of wild-type and mutant p53 peptides binding to HLA-A2 assessed by a peptide loading-deficient cell line assay and a novel major

histocompatibility complex class I peptide binding assay. European Journal of Immunology 24: 765-768.

Susal C, Opelz G and Morath C (2013) The role and value of luminex-detected HLA antibodies before and after kidney transplantation. Transfusion Medicine and Hemotherapy 40: 190-195.

Tait B, Süsal C, gebel HM, Nickerson PW, Zachary AA, Claas FHJ, Reed EF, Bray RA, Campbell P, Chapman JR, Coates PT, Colvin RB, Cozzi E, Doxiadis IIN, Fuggle SV, Gill J, Glotz D, Lachmann N, Mohanakumar T, Suciu-Foca N, Sumitran-Holgersson S, Tanabe K, Taylor CJ, Tyan DB, Webster A, Zeevi A and Opelz G (2013) Consensus guidelines on the testing and clinical management issues associated with HLA and non-HLA antibodies in transplantation. Transplantation 95: 19-47.

Tamouza R, Busson M, Rocha V, Fortier C, Haddad Y, Brun M, Boukouaci W, Bleux H, Socie G, Krishnamoorthy R, Toubert A, Gluckman E and Charron D (2006) Homozygous status for HLA-E*0103 confers protection from acute graft-versus-host disease and transplant-related mortality in HLA-matched sibling hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Transplantation 82: 1436-1440.

Thorsby E (2009) A short history of HLA. Tissue Antigens 74: 101-116

Tomasec P, Veronique MB, Rickards C, Powell MB, McSharry BP, Gadola S, Cerundolo V, Borysiewicz LK, McMichael A and Wilkinson GWG (2000) Surface expression of HLA-E, an inhibitor of natural killer cells, enhanced by human cytomegalovirus gpUL40. Science 287 :1031-1032.

Trayssac M, Negre-Salvavyre A and Thomsen M (2012) Mechanisms of human smooth muscle cell proliferation and transplant vasculopathy induced by HLA class I antibodies: *In vitro* and *in vivo* studies. Human Immunology 73: 1253-1260

Tsuchiya S, Yamabe M, Yamaguchi Y, Kobayashi Y, Konno T and Tada K (1980) Establishment and characterisation of a human acute monocytic leukemia cell line (THP-1). International Journal of Cancer 26: 171-176.

Vales-Gomez M, Reyburn HT, Erskine RA, Lopez-Botet M and Strominger JL (1999) Kinetics and peptide dependency of the binding of the inhibitory NK receptor CD94/NKG2-A and the activating receptor CD94/NKG2-C to HLA-E. European Molecular Biology Organization 18: 4250-4260.

Wang W, Man S, Gulden PH, Hunt DF and Engelhard VH (1998) Class I restricted alloreactive cytotoxic lymphocytes recognise a complex array of specific MHC associated peptide. The Journal of Immunology 160: 1091-1097.

Wearsch PA and Cresswell P (2008) The quality control of MHC class I peptide loading. Current opinion in cell biology 20: 624-631.

Wolters P J and Chapman H A (2000) Importance of lysosomal cysteine proteases in lung disease.Respiratory Research 1: 170-177.

Wood KJ and Sakaguchi S (2003) Regulatory T cells in transplantation tolerance. Nature Reviews Immunology 3: 199-209.

Woolridge L, Ekeruche-Makinde J, van den Berg HA, Skowera A, Miles JJ, Tan RJ, Dolton G, Clement M, Llewellyn-Lacey S, Price DA, Peakman M and Sewell AK (2012) A single autoimmune T cell receptor recognises more than a million different peptides. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 287: 1168-1177.

Xian CL and Raghavan M (2010) Structure and function of major histocompatibility complex class I antigens. Current Opinion in Organ Transplantation 15: 499-504.

Yanover C and Bradley P (2011) Large scale characterization of peptide-MHC binding landscapes with structural simulations. 108 (17): 6981-6986.

Zhang GL, Deluca DS, Keskin DB, Chitkuskev L, Zlateva T, Lund O, Reinherz EL and Brusic V (2011) MULTIPRED2: A computational system for large-scale identification of peptides predicted to bind HLA supertypes and alleles. Journal of Immunological Methods 374: 53-61.

Zhang L, Chen Y, Wong H-S, Zhou S, Mamitsuka H and Zhu S (2012) TEPITOPE for peptide binding prediction covering 700 HLA-DR molecules. PLoS ONE 7(2) e30483.

Ziegler A, Muller CA, Bockmann RA and Uchanska-Zieger B (2008) Low-affinity peptides and T-cell selection. Trends in Immunology 30: 53-60

Zingernagal R and Doherty P (1974) Restriction of *in vitro J* cell mediated cytotoxicity in lymphocytic choriomeningitis with syngenic or semiallogeneic system. Nature 248: 701-702

Zhu B, Zhengtang C, Cheng X, Lin Z, Guo J, Jia *I*, Zou L, Wang *I*, Hu Y, Wang D and Wu Y (2003) Identification of HLA-A*0201-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitope from TRAG-3 antigen. Clinical Cancer Research 9: 1850-1857

Web references. The full URL to the website used is listed here

The impact of HLA mismatches (mm) upon renal allograft survival over a 20 year period. http://www.ctstransplant.org/servlet/ArchiveServlet?group=K-21101-0214&archivemode=false&ts=1400939174138

NCBI website, the source of crystallized HLA molecular models data. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/protein

2014 British Society of Histocompatibility and Immunogenetics (BSHI) and British Transplant Society (BTS) joint guidelines for the detection and characterisation of clinically relevant antibodies in allotransplantation http://www.bshi.org.uk/BSHI BTS Ab Guidelines Revision June 2014.pdf

Antigen frequencies in the UK solid organ donor population http://www.odt.nhs.uk/transplantation/histocompatibilitv-andimmunogenetics/handi-information/

The Swiss-PdbViewer

http://spdbv.vital-it.ch/download/binaries/SPDBV 4.10 PC.zip



1

ł,

Sheffield Hallam University

SHARPENS YOUR THINKING

24 November 2011

To Whom It May Concern

SPONSOR'S SELF DECLARATION

Research Project: Development of immuno-proteomic approaches for assessing transplants

Academic Supervisor:	Nicola Woodroofe
Student Researcher:	Richard Battle
Institute:	Sheffield Hallam University

Sheffield Hallam University will act as the sponsor for the above research project, and take on the responsibilities of the sponsor as set out in the Department of Health Research Governance Framework for Health and Social Care.

Sheffield Hallam University's standard public liability and professional indemnity cover will automatically apply for non-clinical trials.

Yours faithfully

Mr Lloyd Snellgrove Head of Regional Development The Enterprise Centre Sheffield Hallam University

For correspondence: Mr Brian Littlejohn, Research Funding Coordinator Direct Line: 0114 225 4050 Fax: 0114 225 3524 Email: b.littlejohn@shu.ac.uk

Enterprise Centro

Sheffield Hatlam University City Campus Howard Street Sheffield S1 1WB UK Telephone +44 (0)114 225 5000 Fax +44 (0)114 225 3524 E-mail business@shu.ac.uk/business



This project is part-funded by the European Regional Development Fund

Tracking No: 710134522

Cell Line Authentication Report

Customer: Richard Battle

Sheffield Hallam University, Biomedical Research Centre





Cell line profile has good characteristics THP-1

T2

Suggest investigation of the provenance of these cell lines.

Cell line profile does not match the available reference profile.

LGC Standards Cell line authentication

3 Issue Date: 25/01/2012

Health



NRES Committee Yorkshire & The Humber - Leeds Central Yorkshire and Humber REC Office First Floor, Millside Mill Pond Lane Meanwood Leeds LS6 4RA

Telephone: 0113 3050127 Facsimile: 0113 8556191

04 January 2012

Mr Richard Battle Biomedical Research Centre Sheffield Hallam University Howard Street, Sheffield S1 1WB

Dear Mr Battle

Study title:	Development of immuno-proteomic approaches to the
	assessment of tissue compatibility for transplantation:
	Redefining the matching paradigm.
REC reference:	11/YH/0452
Protocol number	NIHR DRF Fellowship DRF

The Research Ethics Committee reviewed the above application at the meeting held on 16 December 2011. Thank you for attending to discuss the study.

Ethical opinion

The Committee asked you why the samples will be stored in a linked anonymised form. You stated that the date and time will be detailed on the sample and consent form to demonstrate that different samples will be used during the study. Members agreed that the only the sample should contain information to identify separate samples. The Committee recommended against using the date and time on the consent form as this could potentially identify participants.

The members of the Committee present gave a favourable ethical opinion of the above research on the basis described in the application form, protocol and supporting documentation, subject to the conditions specified below.

Ethical review of research sites

NHS Sites

The favourable opinion applies to all NHS sites taking part in the study, subject to management permission being obtained from the NHS/HSC R&D office prior to the start of the study (see "Conditions of the favourable opinion" below).

Conditions of the favourable opinion

The favourable opinion is subject to the following conditions being met prior to the start of the study.

A Research Ethics Committee established by the Health Research Authority

The Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS

NHS Trust

Ref Mcaet Acci

03/02/2012

Research & Development

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 34 Hyde Terrace Leeds LS2 9LN

Mr Richard Battle

Tel: 0113 392 2878 Fax: 0113 392 6397

r&d@ieedsth.nhs.uk www.leedsth.nhs.uk

Transplant Immunology St James' Leeds University Hospital 76 Victoria Road EccleshIII Bradford St. James's University Hospital BD22DQ

Dear Mr Richard Battle

Re: NHS Permission at LTHT for: Development of immuno-proteomic approaches to the assessment of tissue compatibility for transplantation: Redefining the matching paradigm. LTHT R&D Number: IM10/9622 (72228/WY) REC: 11/YH/0452

I confirm that *NHS Permission for research* has been granted for this project at The Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (LTHT). NHS Permission is granted based on the information provided in the documents listed below. All amendments (including changes to the research team) must be submitted in accordance with guidance in IRAS. Any change to the status of the project must be notified to the R&D Department.

Permission is granted on the understanding that the study is conducted in accordance with the *Research Governance Framework for Health and Social Care*, ICH GCP (if applicable) and NHS Trust policies and procedures available at http://www.leedsth.nhs.uk/sites/research and development/.

This permission is granted only on the understanding that you comply with the requirements of the *Framework* as listed in the attached sheet "Conditions of Approval".

If you have any queries about this approval please do not hesitate to contact the R&D Department on telephone 0113 392 2878.

Chairman M ke Collar: Chief Executive Maggie Boyle

The Leeds Teaching Hospitals incorporating:

Chapel Allerton Hospital Leeds Dental Institute Seacroft Hospital St James's University Hospital The General Infirmary at Leeds Wharfedale Hospital

*u?*o



NRES Committee Yorkshire & The Humber - Leeds Central Yorkshire and Humber REC Office First Floor, Millside Mill Pond Lane Meanwood Leeds LS6 4RA

Telephone: 0113 3050127 Facsimile: 0113 85561S1

18 January 2012

Mr Richard Battle Biomedical Research Centre Sheffield Hallam University Howard Street, Sheffield S1 1WB

Dear Mr Battle

Full title of study:	Development of immuno-proteomic approaches to the	
	assessment of tissue compatibility for transplantation:	
	Redefining the matching paradigm.	
REC reference number:	11/YH/0452	
Protocol number:	NIHR DRF Fellowship DRF	

Thank you for your letter of 16 January 2012. I can confirm the REC has received the documents listed below as evidence of compliance with the approval conditions detailed in our letter dated 16 December 2011. Please note these documents are for information only and have not been reviewed by the committee.

Documents received

The documents received were as follows:

Document	Version	Date
Participant Consent Form	2.0	22 November 2011
Participant Information Sheet	2	22 November 2011

You should ensure that the sponsor has a copy of the final documentation for the study. It is the sponsor's responsibility to ensure that the documentation is made available to **R&D** offices at all participating sites

11/YH/0452

Please quote this number on all correspondence

Yours sincerely

Mrs Nicola Mallender-Ward Committee Co-ordinator

E-mail: nicola mallender-ward@nhs.net

A Research Ethics Committee established by the Health Research Authority
Immunology Letters 161 (2014) 57-58

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Immunology Letters

I|S[\li|<

journal homepage: www.elsevier com/locite/immlet

.

Letter to the Editor

Identified HLA class I epitopes can undergo conformational induced variation due to changes 'o ' within HLA bound peptides

HLA specific antibodies have a significant impart upon renal allotransplantation. Preformed alloantibodies prevent or complicate transplants between otherwise compatible donors and recipients 11 land *de novo* post transplant antibodies are associated with poorer overall allograft survival [2]. The identification of such antibodies and their subsequent characterisation in terms of their specific target, has been the focus of much investigation since the association of preformed HLA antibodies and hyperacute rejection was first established over 40 years ago 13 1

Current concepts in identifying and characterising HLA specific antibodies no longer focus upon broad definitions of antigenic targets, such as anti-HLA-AI, A2, A3 *etc.*, but instead attempt to define the specific epitope target of the HLA antibody upon each HLA molecule [4.5]. This process has further developed the concepts of cross-reactive epitope groups (CREG), whereby antibodies demonstrate reactivity against differing HLA antigens which possess the same structural motifs or epitopes. Several researchers have precisely identified the specific epitopes present upon HLA class I and class II molecules against which reactivity is directed [4.5]. This allows the expected profile of antigenic reactivity of an HLA antibody elicited by exposure to an individual antigen, to be predicted with high confidence, and explains why limited exposure can sometimes result in extensive sensitisation.

Most recently this concept has been taken further, showing that the electrostatic potential of epitopes ||>| and their available free energy, required to stabilise antigen-antibody complexes, has a fundamental role in the consequences of antibody binding, in terms of the ability to bind Cl q and subsequently activate the complement cascade |7|. A further complexity is introduced by the variable nature of the peptide bound within the groove of the HLA molecule. In some cases these peptides and are believed capable of canerating their own epitopes 17|.

Our group is particularly interested in the role of HLA bound peptides in the generation of the alloresponse, be it cellular or humoral. In experimentation to examine how changing the bound

Fig. t. The interaction of the 62GE epitope and the amino acid at peptide i/2. (A) The 62CE epiet in pink and LEU in red. the distance between these at their closest point is shown (in yellow) as being 4.081 A (B) 62GE is shown in pink and MET is shown in red. the distance between the two is shown in yellow (3.341 A). Green dotted lines indicate the formation of hydrogen bounds. The solid green line represents a LYS at position 66 of the o-chain in both (A and B). (for interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

http;//dxdoi or*/10.1016/l-imlet.2014 04.016 0165 2478/0 2014 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

peplide would affect the ability of a HLA specific antibody to bind to an otherwise identical HLA target, we observed the variation reported by other investigators [8]. However rather than the concepts previously postulated for this observation, namely crucial contact sites being present upon the peptide |7|, we believe, through structural modelling in silico, that changes within the nature of the HLA bound peptide directly influences epitopes which are present upon the HLA molecules themselves, via conformational induced epitope variation. We utilised the protein databank (PdB) [9] and the PdB-Swissviewer (10) to analyse the introduction of specific amino acid substitutions upon peptides bound within the HLA molecule, and assessed the impact of these substitutions upon previously defined epitopes proximal to the peptide, in terms of electrostatic potential, total energy and any visible conformational change. We identified that the common HLA-A*02:01 encoded epitope 62GE, formed additional hydrogen bonds with the peptide when the amino acid within peptide position P2 was changed from LEU to MET, in a HLA-A2 molecule bound with the HA-1 peptide. The position of the 62GE epitope relative to the P2 peptide amino acid was altered as a result of this substitution; the distance being 4.018 Afor 62GEand LEU (Fig. 1A), but 3.341 Awhen MET was in position P2 (Fig. IB). Furthermore, the total available energy for binding was reduced in the 62GE epitope. The energy loss was spread across both amino acids within 62GE, with a change of -14.632 to -15.409 total energy for GLY, and -28.414 to -30.522 total energy for GLU. How these changes functionally relate to the ability of antibody to bind to the 62GE epitope requires further elucidation in terms of the effect upon strength of binding, the ability to bind Clq and to activate the complement cascade. However our observation 16,7) does demonstrate that changes within the bound peptide are capable of altering structural epitopes of HLA which have been demonstrated as key components of antibody binding 14-7)

References

- [1] Bagiasco SM Lothary AA Rarusen LC, Arend I.J, Carier-Monroe N, Alachkar N et al. I inif course of pathologic changes in k dney allografts of positive crossmatin HLA-incompatible transplant recipients. Transplantation 2013 fHpub ahead of print].
- [2] Wiebe C. Pochinco D, Blydt-Hansen TD, Ho J. Birk PE Kjtptnski M. el al. Class Il epilope matching a stiategy to minimise de-novo donor specific antibody development and improve outcomes. Am JTransplant 2013;13:3114 22.
- [3) Patel R Terasaki P. The significance of the positive crossmatrh test in kidney transplantation N Engl j Med 1969 280:735-9.

- [4] Duljuesnoy KI, Marrari M. IILAMatchmaker-jased defnitinn of structural human leukocyte antigen epitopes detected by alloanlibudies. Curr Opin Organ fransol 2009; 14:41)3-9.
- (5) El-Awar NR, Akaia T, Ierasakt R, Nonyen A Human leukocyte antigen class I epitopes: update to 10) total epitopes, including the Clocus. Transplantation 2007;84:532-40.
- [6] Kosmoliaptsis V, Dafforn TR Chauchry AN, Halsail 1, J. Bradley AI, Taylor CJ High resolution-three dimensional modelling of human leukocyte antigen dass I structure and surface electicostatic potential reveals the molecular basis for alloantibody binding epitopes. Hum Immunol 2011;72: 1049-59.
- [7] Duquesnoy RJ Martai M, Jelenik U 2eevi A, Gass FHJ, Muldei A Structural aspects of IIIA cass I epitopes reacting with human monoclonal antibod les in ig-binding, Clq binding and lympliccylotoxicity assays. Hum Immunol 2013;74:1271 9.
- [8] Hillsmeyer M, Thames P, Hillig RC, Stanfield fL, Held C, Coulie PC, et al. A major histocompatibility complex peptide-restdcted antibody and T cell receptormolecules recognise their target by distinct bmdmg modes: crystal structure of human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-A1 MACE-A1 in complex with FABHYB3. J Eld Chem 2004;280:2972 80.
- [9] Beiman MM. Westbrook j, Feng L Gilliland Bhat IN, Weissig H et al. The protein databank. Nucleic Acids Res 2000;28:235-42.
- (10) Guex N PeitschMC. SW5S MODF.I and Swiss-FdbViewei; an environment fix comparative protein modeling. Electrophoresis 1997;18:2714-23.

R. Battle'

D. Turner Scottish National Blood transfusion Service, Histocompatibility and Immunogenetics, Royal Infirm aiy of Edinburgh, United Kingdom

N. Woodroofe

Biomedical Research Centre, Sheffield Hallam University, United Kingdom

B. Clark

Transplant Immunology, StJames University Hospital, United Kingdom

■Corresponding author at Scottish National Blood Transfusion Service, Histocompatibility and Immunogenetics, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh, 51 Little France Crescent, Edinburgh EH16 4SA, United Kingdom. Tel.:+44 0131 2427526. *E-m ail address:* richdrd.batfle#nhs.net (R. Battle)

> 2 April 2014 Available online 6 May 2014



Tissue Antigens ISSN 0001*2815

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

The relationship of HLA-class I derived leader peptide mismatch and renal function within the first 12 months post-renal transplant

R. Battle1-2, N. Woodroofe2, M. Clench2 & B. Clark1

1 Transplant Immunology. St James University Hospital. Leeds. UK

2 Biomedical Research Centre. Sheffield Hallam University, Sheffield, UK

Key words: endogenous peptides; human leukocyte antigen class-1 leadei peptides: kidney transplantation

In a recent review article, D'Orsogna et al. describe the latest insights and clinical implications of endogenouspeptide-dependent alloreactivily (1). Arguing that T-ccll allorecognition is highly likely to be endogenous peptide specific, and that, non-T-cell lineage lymphocyte populations, such as natural killer (NK) and B cells, could also be reliant on peptide binding and presentation in the formation of alloresponses. The authors slate that 'definition of specific endogenous peptide targets for allorecognition should be a major focus for transplantation research'.

We concur with the authors regarding the importance of endogenous peptides in the formation of a variety of alloresponses, and have been assessing the clinical impact of a group of endogenous peptides in the context of allograft function post-renal transplantation.

Specifically wc have been assessing the impact of leader peptide sequences of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class I molecules. These are relatively conserved regions of the HLA class 1 a-chain which tire cleaved from the molecule at an early timcpoint within HLA class 1 molecule assembly, and arc consequently present at a high intracellular abundance. Wc and others (2) have shown that HLA class I-derived leader sequences can themselves be presented by HLA class I molecules, and would thus provide a target for CD8+ T lymphocytes. Additionally, HLA class I-derived leader sequences have been shown to be crucial for the formation of the CD94/NKG2 activating/inhibiting receptors ligand, HLA-E (3, 4). These leader peptides, then, arc capable of providing an innate and adaptive antigenic determinant which may form a target for alloresponses.

In additional evidence for the immunological importance of HLA class I-dcrivcd leader peptides in alloresponses; several cytomegalovirus (CMV) strains have been shown to employ an immuno-evasion strategy by encoding a HLA class I-derived leader peptide homologue ("5). Furthermore cross-recognition by CD8+ T cells, responding to a homologue encoding CMV strain, to HLA-E complexed with the HLA class I-dcrived leader sequence has been observed in an allorecognition selling (6).

Given the remarkable antigenic potential of these peptides, wc sought to investigate if mismatches of HLA class I-derived leader sequences between donor and recipient renal transplant pairs influenced renal allograft performance within the first 12 months post-transplant. Our srudy cohort comprised 139 consecutive renal transplant recipients. Mean age 41.8 (±17.81 SD), sex 54F/84M, 50 had anti-HLA-IgG of which three were donor specific antibodies, 77 kidneys were from donation following brain stem death, 20 cardiac death and 42 were from live donors. National Health Service Blood and Transplant, Organ Donation and Transplantation (NHSBT ODT) matching levels were 11.5% level 1, 28.8% level 2, 40.3% level 3 and 19.4% level 4. Mean creatinine levels post-transplant were

	A creatinine (from 3 to 12 months) post transplant and relationship to leader peptide mismatch	
30		
20		
	0 Leader MM (n45)	
fi -10		
	1 Leader MM (n54)	Floure 4. The relationship of human laukanute
-20	■ 2 Leader MM (n33)	antigen (HLA) class Iderived leader sequence
	3 Leader MM (1>8)	mismatch and A creatinine post transplant
		Confidence intervals of 95% are shown.

h 2013 John Wiley & Sons A/S Publmlied by John Wiley (Son* Ltd Tastm Antigens, ?0t3. 82. 791 292



Figure 2 Relationship of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class I-derived leader sequence mismatch upon creatione within NHSBT ODT matching groups, confidence intervals of 95% aro shown.

135 mmol/1 (\pm 60.9SD) at 3 months and 131 mmol/1 (\pm 54.4 SD) at 12 months. To determine the HLA class 1-derived leader sequence matching between donor and recipient pairs, we utilised the HLA/IGMT database to identify the encoded amino acid sequence of the leader sequence; found at position 3–11 of the class I a-chain amino acid residues (4), for all listed class I alleles (n > 6000). We then created a key allowing a patient, or donor HLA type, to be searched to reveal their HLA class I-derived leader sequence. In total we identified 11 HLA class I-derived leader sequences from the HLA/IMGT database. We then compared the level of leader mismatch to Δ creatinine calculated from 3 to 12 months with outputs as shown in Figure 1.

This identified a striking relationship of leader peptide mm with Δ creatinine, and a statistically significant association for 0 leader mm vs 3 leader mm patients (P = <0.05). Furthermore, as shown in Figure 2 this influence was seen within patients and donors grouped according to NHSBT ODT HLA matching levels, indicating that our observations were not merely a function of coincidental HLA mismatching. We believe that this is the first example of the effect of multiple endogenous peptide mismatches upon renal allograft functional outcome in a clinical setting, and that it provides some of the requirements for the definition of endogenous peptides highlighted by D'Orsogna and colleagues. Work is ongoing to further elucidate and characterise the role of leader peptides as targets of alloreactive responses.

Conflict of Interest

There are no conflicts of interest.

Correspondence

Richard Battle

Biomedical Research Centre

Sheffield Hallam University Sheffield, UK Tcl: +0 113 206 4579 Fax: +0 113 206 4579 e-mail: rkbattle@my.shu.ac.uk

doi: 10.1111/tan.12191

References

- D'Orsogna LJ, Nguyen THO, Class FHJ, Witt C, Mifsud NA. Endogenous-peptide-dependent alloreactivity: new scientific insights and clinical applications. *Tissue Antigens* 2013: 81: 399-407.
- Lampen MH, Hassan C, Sluijter M et al. Alternative peptide repertoire of HLA-E reveals a binding motif that is strikingly similar to HLA-A2. Mol Immunol 2013; 53: 126-31.
- Hoare HL, Sullivan LC, Clements GS et al. Subtle changes in peptide conformation profoundly affect recognition of the non-classical MHC class I molecule HLA-E by the CD94/NKG2 natural killer cell receptors. J Mol Biol 2008: 377: 1297-303.
- Braud VM, Allan DSJ, Wilson D, McMichael AJ. TAP- and tapasin-depended HLA-E surface expression correlates with the binding of an MHC class I leader peptide. *Curr Biol* 1997; 8: 1-10.
- Heatley SL, Peitra G, Lin J et al. Polymorphism in human cytomegalovirus UL40 impacts on recognition of human leukocyte antgen-É (HLA-E) by natural killer cells. J Bio Chem 2013: 288: 8679-90.
- Allard M, Tonnerre P, Nedellec S et al. HLA-E restricted cross-recognition of allogenic endothelial cells by CMV associated CD8 Y cells: a potential risk factor following transplantation. *PLoS One* 2012; 11: e50951.

© 2013 John Wiley & Sans A/S. Published by John Wiley & Sans Ltd Tissue Antigens, 2013, 82, 291–292



Molecular characterisation of the monocytic cell line THP-1 demonstrates a discrepancy with the documented HLA type

Richard Battle^{1,2}, Katherine Poole², Sarah Haywood-Small¹, Brendan Clark² and M. Nicola Woodroofe¹.

¹Biomedical Research Centre, Clty Campus, Sheffield Hallam University, Sheffield, England, United Kingdom ²Department of Transplant Immunology, St James's University Hospital, Leeds, England, United Kingdom

Dear Editor,

The use of the acute monocytic leukemia cell line, THP-1, has been well documented since its establishment was reported more than 30 years ago in the IJC.¹ Since then, the THP-1 cell line has been used in countless research papers and is now a widely recognized resource as a model of monocyte cells within the immunology and oncology research communities.

Routinely applied good cell culture practice of THP-1, as well as all other cell lines, requires quality assurance of the cell line, including assessment of relevant phenotypes and genotypes, state of differentiation and the assessment of any possible crosscontamination.² In line with these requirements, our recent use of the THP-1 cell line revealed an inconsistency with the reported Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA) type which may have potential consequences for some researchers. Initially THP-1 was recovered from our bank of frozen cell lines and cultured in RPMI 1640 medium (5% Fetal Calf Serum (FCS), 200 mM 1-Glut, 100 µg/ml Pen/Strep) before HLA typing for HLA class I A and B, and the HLA class II DR and DQ antigens, via commercially available serological typing trays. These serological typing trays represent the contemporary equivalent of the assay used to determine the HLA type of THP-1 when the cell line was established.¹ The results of these assays conclusively identified HLA-A2. "Weak" reactions against other class I antigens and crossreactivity, particularly between HLA-B5 and B15 antisera, confounded the identification of a full HLA-A and B type. The HLA class II antigens were entirely inconclusive.

Since the THP-1 cell line was established in 1980, there have been marked advances within the detection methodologies used to determine HLA types, most notably the development of molecular biology-based techniques, such as the polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Therefore, to determine a conclusive HLA type for the THP-1 cell line, an "in-house" PCR using sequence specific primers (PCR-SSP) was performed for HLA-A*, B*, C*, DRB1*, DRB3*, DRB4*, DRB5* and DQB14 genes. In addition, an ABO group was determined using a similar method. Both of these in-house genotyping systems are based on methods which have been previously published.^{3:4}

Using this assay, we identified the following HLA type for THP-1. HLA-A*02; B*15; C*03; DRB1*01, DRB1*15; DRB5*01/02; DQB1*05 and DQB1*06 (and ABO blood group genotype BB). The reported HLA type for THP-1 is HLA-A2, A9, B5, DRw1 and DRw2. (The HLA nomenclature system used here corresponds to the contemporary system at the time THP-1 was established in 1980).¹

Clearly the HLA class I type did not correspond to the reported HLA type for THP-1, differing at the HLA class I A and B loci (to our knowledge HLA-C* has not previously been reported for THP-1).

The HLA class II type corresponded to the original HLA type of HLA-DRw1 and DRw2, being DRB1*01 and DRB1*15. The expressed product of the HLA-DRB1*15 allele represents a split of the DR2 antigen and demonstrates the increased resolving capabilities of the PCR-SSP assay in comparison to the serological technique. (again to our knowledge HLA-DQB1* has not previously been reported). In contrast to the reported type, THP-1 appeared to be homozygous at the HLA-A, B and C loci by PCR-SSP.

Alterations in the HLA class I phenotype of malignant cells is a frequent event during cancer progression, allowing tumor cells to evade the immune system. Indeed, loss of one major histocompatibility complex class I haplotype in human melanoma cells has been shown not only to allow evasion of immunosurveillance⁵ but also to increase their intrinsic oncogenic potential.⁶ The mechanisms which lead to HLA class I alterations can occur at any step required for HLA synthesis. Most commonly, the alteration represents a structural defect or a regulatory defect on the transcriptional level.⁵ Such alterations would not interfere with the PCR-SSP method used here, although a rarer deletion event upon chromosome 6 would be undetectable.

In addition the "missing" class I HLA antigens from the original report show strong crossreactivity with the confirmed HLA type, and most likely account for this discrepancy, indeed our serological assay also demonstrated crossreactivity at the HLA-B5 and B15 antigens, which were proved erroneous by the PCR-SSP.

Interestingly, the HLA-B*15 identified within the haplotype HLA-A*02; B*15; C*03, is unusual in itself, corresponding to the serological equivalent of B75 (15). The PCR-SSP was capable of resolving the B*15 allele to B*15:08 or B*15:11.

A search on the Allele* Frequencies in World Populations website⁷ for each of these alleles revealed their frequency within specific populations. Of the two alleles B¹5:11 appeared to be the more common, as, although extremely rare within the majority of populations, it is seen in the Asian Pacific Islander population.⁸ The HLA-B*15:11 allele sponder cells would produce false negative results and therewould therefore correlate with the reported ethnic origin of fore should be avoided. the THP-1 cell line.1

In order to confirm these findings and eliminate the possibility that our frozen THP-1 cells were incorrectly identified as such, a frozen vial of THP-1 cells was ordered fromthe American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), ATCC Number TIB-202TM. The ATCC THP-1 cell line depositor was the author of the original paper identifying the development of the cell line.¹ The ATCC-supplied THP-1 cells were HLA typed as described above, by both serology and PCR-SSP.

The determination of the ATCC-supplied THP-1 HLA type confirmed our original findings from our frozen stock supply, for both scrological and molecular assays. The THP-1 HLA type therefore is not, HLA-A2, A9; B5; DRw1 and DRw2 as reported. The correct type being, HLA-A*02; B*15; C*03; DRB1*01, DRB1*15; DRB5*01/02; DQB1*05, DQB1*06.

This discrepancy is not extraordinary when considering the assay systems originally used to determine the THP-1 HLA type. Indeed the error rate for HLA-B antigen assignment by serology has previously been demonstrated to be as high as 22.5% when compared to DNA based typing.⁹ Greater precision has also been shown for PCR-SSP HLA typing in comparison to serological typing for both HLA-A¹⁰ and HLA-DR.11

Further HLA typing to determine which HLA-B*15 allele/ s were present on THP-1 was carried out using commercial high resolution HLA-A and B typing kits. The results of these tests confirmed the presence of HLA-B*15:11, as the frequency data had suggested. The HLA-B*15:11 allele has also previously been documented to be in association with C*03:03, as it is here in THP-1.

In conclusion, we present here a revised HLA type for THP-1 using molecular-based typing methods, this type being HLA-A*02; B*15; C*03; DRB1*01, DRB1*15; DRB5*01/ 02; DQB1*05, DQB1*06. The presence of the HLA-B*15:11 allele was also confirmed within this type.

The homozygosity of the HLA class I antigens could perhaps represent a mechanism by which the leukemic cells evaded detection within the individual from whom the THP-1 cell line was established, following a deletion event.⁵ This tumour escape mechanism may have possibly arisen from the sclective pressure of a patient-specific graft-versus-leukaemia reaction,¹² although it is unknown if the patient received a haematopoietic stem cell transplant prior to THP-1 being developed from their leukemic cells.¹ However, this cannot be investigated further due to the lack of normal autologous leukocytes.

It should be noted that the revised type presented here confirms the utility of THP-1 cells in coculture assays with HLA-A*02-expressing responder cells, as described recently in this journal.¹³ However, due to HLA restriction, the use of THP-1 cells in coculture with HLA-B*05-expressing re-

Yours sincerely. **Richard Battle** Katherine Poole Sarah Haywood-Small Brendan Clark M. Nicola Woodroofe

References

- Tsuchiya S, Yamabe M, Yamaguchi Y, et al. Establishment and characterisation of a human acute monocytic leukemia cell line (THP-1). Int J Cancer 1980;26:171-6.
- Z. Hartung T. Balla M. Bardouille C. et al. Good cell culture practice, ECVAM good cell culture practice taskforce report 1. Altern Lab Anim 2002;30:407-14. Bunce M, O'Neill CM, Barnardo MC, et al. Phototyping: comprehensive DNA
- typing for HLA-A, B C, DRBI, DRB3, DRB4, DRB5 and DQB1 by PCR with 144 primer mixes utilizing sequence-specific primers (PCR-SSP). Tissue Antigens 1995;46:355-67.
- Downing J, Darke C. A modified PCR-SSP method for identification of ABO 4 blood group antigens. Eur J Immunogenet 2003;30:295-8.
- Mendez R, Rodriguez T, Campo AD, et al. Characterization of HLA class I altered phenotypes in a panel of human melanoma cell lines. Cancer Inununol nmunotherapy 2008;57;719-29.
- Garrido C, Paco L, Romero J, et al. MHC class I molecules act as tumor suppressor genes regulating the cell cycle gene expression, invasion and intrinsic tumorigenicity of melanoma cells. Carcinogenesis 2012;33:687-93.
- Gonzalez-Galarza FF, Christmas S, Middleton D, et al. Allele frequency net: a database and online repository for Immune gene frequencies in worldwide populations. Nucleic Acids Res 2011;39:D913-D919.
- **R**. Maiers M, Gragent L, Klitz W. High-resolution HLA alleles and haplotypes in the United States population. Hum Immunol 2008;68:779-88.
- Bozon MV, Deleado JC, Selvakumar A, et al. Error rate for HLA-B antigen 9. assignment by serology: implications for proficiency testing and utilization of DNA-based typing methods. Tissue Antigens 1997;50:387-97.
- Bozon MY, Delgado IC, Turbay D, et al. Comparison of HLA-A antigen 10. typing by serology with two polymerase chain reaction based DNA ty
- methods: implications for proficiency testing. Tissue Antigens 1996;47:512-8. Woszcrek G, Borowiec M, Gorska M, et al. Comparison of serological and 11. molecular (PCR-SSP) techniques of HLA-DR typing in clinical laboratory routine. Ann Transplant 1997;2:39-42.
- 12. Vago L, Perna SK, Zanussi M, et al. Loss of mismatched HLA in leukemia after stem cell transplantation.' N Engl J Med 2009;361:478-88.
- 13. Abrahamsen IW, Kjellevoll S, Grere-Isdahl M, et al. T cells raised against allogenic HLA-A2/CD20 kill primary follicular lymphoma and acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. Int J Cancer 2011;30:1821-32.

Key words: THP-1, HLA, revised HLA type, PCR SSP This work was produced by Richard Battle under the terms of a Doctoral Research Fellowship issued by the Secretary of State for Health.

This report is independent research arising from a Doctoral Research Fellowship supported by the National Institute for Health Research. The views expressed in this publication are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS, the National Institute for Health Research or the Department of Health.

DOI: 10.1002/iic.27661

History: Received 28 Nov 2011; Accepted 10 May 2012; Online 6 Jun 2012

Correspondence to: Richard Battle, Biomedical Research Centre, City Campus, Room 756, Howard Street, Sheffield Hallam University, Sheffield SI 1WB, England, United Kingdom, Tel: +44-114-225-3024, Fax: +44-114-225-3064, E-mail: rkbattle@my.shu.ac.uk

Int. J. Cancer: 132, 246-247 (2013) @ 2012 UICC